NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Trigeminal Control of Ingestive Behaviors Revealed in Prrxl1 Knockout Mice and Interrogation of Topography in the Rodent Trigeminal Pathways Using Naturalistic Volumetric Tactile Behaviors

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Neuroscience

By

Admir Resulaj

EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

March 2022

© Copyright by Admir Resulaj 2022

All Rights Reserved

Abstract

All animals purposefully navigate feature-rich environments: while exploring, in search of vital resources of food and water, finding mates, and patrolling and marking habitats. During these complex behaviors, continuous analogue input information from peripheral sensory organs guides discrete and digital sequential motor output; accordingly, each action is informed, modulated, or initiated by perceptions of incoming sensory input. In turn, each action can alter the sensory stream itself, by controlling the arrangement of the sensor with the space it is sampling. This entanglement of sensory and motor spaces, creating loops and evolutionary adaptive interactions, is a fundamental function that nervous systems exquisitely display. Uncovering generalizable principles and computational processes of these interactions through neurophysiological, genetic, and behavioral studies, is one of the contemporary challenges of Neuroscience research.

However, tools and paradigms to study naturalistic complex behaviors are still lacking, with much of decades long research having been established in reductionist experiments. Even though in restricted laboratory settings, these prior crucial findings have shown remarkable adaptability and rich structures for both animal behavior and neural representations of sensory space. Two major achievements in our quest to understand nervous systems have been the uncovering of sensory and motor maps, represented in hierarchical stages of ascending neural pathways, and the discovery of higher order representations of spatial arrangement of the body in space. Mounting evidence has shown the dependance of these representations on environment context and learning, suggesting different neural computational modes when animals are engaged in more demanding and complex naturalistic behaviors. These types of experiments remain to be performed and are increasingly becoming technologically viable. The genetically tractable and behaviorally amenable rodents have been and continue to be the model of choice for behavioral and sensorimotor research. One of the aims of the work presented here is to introduce behavioral paradigms and tools to investigate complex naturalistic sensorimotor behaviors in rodents.

In particular, the rodent trigeminal modality, with its whisker system, has been uniquely useful for studying active sensing. Rodents, like mice and rats, actively sweep their vibrissae arrays and employ them in an array of ethologically important sensorimotor behaviors. These include social behavior, prey capture, purposeful haptic environment interactions, and goal-oriented exploratory behaviors, all complex behaviors that display coordination of body kinematics with the active sensor movements, besides displaying body kinematics continuously guided by whisking input. Thus, working as analogue active sensors, arranged in arrays on each side of the animal's snout, whiskers provide a rapid and modifiable mechanosensation of the proximal haptic world.

Because the topographic arrangement of whiskers on the face is mirrored in somatotopically organized nuclei in neural space, along multiple parallel ascending pathways and along the entire sensory axis from brainstem to cortex, the trigeminal system is also well suited to studying parallelization of sensory streams and functional roles for organization of sensory input into ordered and hierarchical maps. Previous and current work has been largely focused on neural representations of stimulus space in anesthetized or restrained animals, and characterization of behavioral parameters in restrained setups or trained paradigms.

In contrast, the work described here focuses on the role of trigeminal sensory information in freely moving animals, and how genetic disruption of topographical sensory organization along selective trigeminal pathways impacts natural and complex sensorimotor behaviors. We show this first in ingestive orosensory behaviors, building on pioneering earlier deafferentation studies. We confirm a crucial role for trigeminal input in eating and drinking. Our results show that trigeminal sensation modulates ingestive motor output at fast timescales. We expand these results and quantify efficiency and precision deficits across ingestive behaviors and across timescales, from milliseconds to months. This work suggests that ordered assembly of trigeminal sensory information, specifically along one of the trigeminal pathways, is critical for the rapid and precise modulation of motor circuits driving eating and drinking action sequences.

We next make use of the same genetic mouse model, in addition to wildtype animals, to lay the groundwork for investigating the role of sensory organization in naturalistic and complex volumetric

sensorimotor behaviors, focusing on whisking behaviors. This work describes an array of behavioral paradigms, a novel and flexible behavioral setup and methodology for conducting haptic exploratory behaviors where all degrees of movements are available to the animal, in full three-dimensional space. In these experiments, environment context and untrained self-initiated sensorimotor interactions can be studied. We illustrate some results on whisking kinematics and show and discuss advances on tracking whisking and animal behavior.

In summary, taken together, we hope that the work presented here will advance our understanding of the functional importance of topographic organization along specific somatosensory pathways. We also expect that the methodology and work described, and the data collected, will provide a rich repository for future studies and enable investigation of crucial sensorimotor questions. We encourage the field to push the envelope and increase the proportion of studies that focus on naturalistic complex, multimodal behaviors. Immediate future results can focus on how head and body parts orientation and movements during our volumetric haptic exploration datasets, are coordinated with the active sensing movements of whiskers. We hope that coupling of active sensory and motor spaces can be investigated, models and hypotheses can be tested, and that exciting new tools and paradigms can build on our work to investigate questions of neural and behavioral computations, including latent learning.

The rodent trigeminal system and whisking behaviors have already shown the rich complexities and adaptabilities in both behavior and neural spaces. Cracking open and modelling their complex behavioral processes and sensorimotor loops is one of the next main big and exciting challenges for Neuroscience. Our understanding of neural systems, their function, cognition, and intelligence is dependent on these advancements.

Acknowledgements

This work was made possible by funding source NIH R01NS091439 to Mitra J. Z. Hartmann.

This thesis is a journey. An almost seven years long journey I did not take alone. Even though this quest for the perfect shrubbery and the appropriate path towards it took me in unexpected, often solitary trackways into the enchanted forest of Neuroscience, at each step and each turn there were friends, colleagues, family and advisors watching and encouraging me to continue steadfast. In this regard, this may seem like a typical quest that many a graduate students embark, filled with uncertainty, often not quantifiable, with unexpected shifting tracks and routes that have changing lengths. But it was my specific journey, and, in this section, I would like to acknowledge and give thanks to all that made it happen and were there to support me and this work.

First, I would like to especially thank my advisor, Dr. Mitra J. Z. Hartmann. Mitra has given me the freedom to be independent in research from day one. Freedom to build experimental setups, try risky projects, and manage many undergraduates in collecting a large amount of non-trivial animal behavioral data. Importantly I had freedom to independently think critically on all aspects of our projects and form my own interpretations and analyses before we had a chance to put our results to the test. Thank you for allowing me to struggle independently on the projects and knowing when to guide me to see through the weeds and details that is so easy to get lost into. Thank you for arranging resources and always asking if I needed more to push the research forward. Thank you for sharing my passion in animal behavior and curiosity about the known and unknown unknowns. Most importantly, thank you for being a compassionate advisor and understanding the research and personal struggles each student goes through, a feeling I am certain is shared by all students in the lab. Without Mitra's guidance, support, and understanding, this thesis would not have finished.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank my thesis committee, Dr. Indira M. Raman, Dr. Gregory W. Schwartz, and Dr. Matthew C. Tresch, who were instrumental in pivoting my thesis projects and research to manageable and publishable results. Their generous support and guidance have helped shape this

work through discussions, criticisms and emphasis on refining and focusing the effort on the research components that matter most. I have greatly appreciated and benefited from your feedback, criticism and words of encouragement, especially when it was time to hear that I was tackling too much and needed to laser focus on the immediate results I had. I was very lucky to have your patient and on point guidance and benefited from a committee that, in my eyes, any graduate student would envy. In this way, you have made me a better scientist and prouder of the work I present.

As any other questing science traveler, Neuroscientists too are very much molded by the contextual environment around us. I acknowledge I am, at least a big part of me, an outcome of this environment. This journey of experiments, discussions and distillations of ideas and results would not be the same without the context of the Hartmann lab (SeNSE lab). The mesh of disciplines, ways of thinking, tools at disposal and social interactions at the lab, have directly and indirectly impacted both my research and personal growth. To my other Neuroscientist travelers, Dr. Nicholas Bush, Dr. Chris Breese, and soon Drs. to be Schnaude Dorizan and Nadina Zweifel: thank you for being there to listen and help whenever needed and for sharing your passion in science. Thank you for answering questions, providing mentorship, and teaching me new techniques. This journey was made easier thanks to your friendship and words of encouragement, which provided fuel to keep the research flame going.

To all the other Hartmann lab students, especially my overlapping cohort of PhD students: Hannah Emnett, Thomas Janssen, Yifu Luo, Yan Yu, Hayley Belli, and Anne En-Tzu Yang (and to all the other too numerous to list, and likely to miss naming all, masters and undergraduate students that took part in the lab projects): I constantly learned from you, with each quality presentation, passionate and rigorous research and each feedback and criticism you provided on my own work and presentations. This rich, diverse and multi-disciplinary environment has forced me to look and explain research not only from a biological and neuroscience perspective, but also from a mechanical or biomedical engineering view, taking a step back and providing a bigger picture while answering questions of why we do our research and why we use the tools at our disposal. I am certain that I have passively absorbed some of the

knowledge and methods to research that you all have demonstrated. Thank you for creating this learning and engaging environment and making me a more wholesome scientist and educator.

To quest without an inventory and tools at disposal is a fool's errand. Building your tools as you conduct experiments is no easy feat. Part of my thesis describes novel tools and behavioral paradigms. I am not sure I would have succeeded if it wasn't for a talented and hard-working Research Engineer in the lab, Kevin Kleczka. Kevin has provided constant support and an enthusiastic sounding board for ideas. Ideas on how to build setups, ideas on shaping software used for experiments and ideas on analyses of our datasets. Together we have refined and taken these ideas from concept phase to reality. He has truly been a close collaborator and I acknowledge and am very thankful for his valued expertise.

I would also like to acknowledge and am very grateful to an army of undergraduate students who were very helpful in collecting some of the behavioral datasets, and crucially equally helpful in maintaining a healthy animal colony in our in-house satellite facility. I setup this facility in order to enable a series of experiments, all of which would have been close to impossible to conduct without the part-time help of stellar animal trainers and disguised animal whisperers who could spare an hour or day out of their demanding undergraduate schedules. I can only praise with outmost gratitude their compassion to animals, thorough and precise examination of animal health, and attention and dedication while conducting behavioral sessions. Thank you, Nadia Khan, Allison O'Donnell, Olivia Asmar, Olivia Cong, Sanjana Sharma, William Zeng, Kevin Zhang, and Gretchen Vogt. Also, many thanks to Clinical Veterinarian Rebecca Erickson at Northwestern University for frequent visits and clinical care for our animal colony.

In particular, I would like to praise Jeannette Wu, who spent multiple academic quarters helping with our little furry animal colony and conducting behavioral research. As a collaborator, she helped analyze hard to annotate behavioral data and her dedication, energy and passion to research allowed her to pursue a master's in biomedical engineering. Thank you, Jeannette, for investing your time and collaborating with me on the projects. It has been a pleasure to work together.

Acknowledgements also need to go to my outside collaborators from Hunter College at CUNY, the legendary somatosensory behaviorist Dr. H. Phillip Zeigler, and Dr. Paul Feinstein whose genetic wizardry enabled re-creation of the mouse line I used in my thesis work. Phil never ceases to amaze me with his sharing of both crucial and sometimes well-hidden results from decades of research and advice about science and life in general. Thank you also to Sergio Bernal-Garcia in Phil's lab for many useful discussions and for helping to transfer the animals to our laboratory from Hunter.

My Neuroscience travels started and were sparked by work in the olfactory sensory laboratory of Dr. Dmitry Rinberg. Dima was my first neuroscience mentor, and it was experience while in his lab that allowed me to kindle the passion for Neuroscience research. Thank you, Dima, for giving me a very flexible and stimulating opportunity while in your lab; from attending conferences, building experiments, building software and hardware tools, building laboratory spaces, conducting experiments, presenting results and more importantly openly and frequently discussing these results and Neuroscience topics in general. For my young self at the time, it was these frequent colloquial discussions with Dima and other collaborators or students/postdocs in his lab (Dr. Matthew C. Smear, Dr. Thomas Bozza, Dr. Roman Shusterman, Dr. Ezequiel M. Arneodo, Dr. Christopher Wilson, Dr. Edmund Chong to name just a few among many others), that really opened the curiosity and drive to start my Neuroscience quest. You all built up my courage, confidence, and passion for Neuroscience.

To my Neuroscientist sibling, Arbora Resulaj, who keeps setting the bar higher. Thank you for introducing me to the circuits of the brain and for pushing me to pursue what I found fascinating right from the start. And for showing me you can do awesome research if you are persistent and diligent. You're the best sister and friend and work the hardest I know in science. All I can say is take a break, but I know you won't. Thank you for instilling that drive and showing by example that if you pursue your dream, it will eventually come true. To my other best sister, Anjeza Resulaj, who is the most normal of us. You're also an inspiration, although we don't say it enough. You took a different path and did it your way, much faster than us. And you are the most successful for what you do. Thanks for being always cheerful and attentive. And always encouraging more fun and a balanced life.

To my parents, Sali and Eglantina Resulaj, who constantly believe in me and whom I owe all. Thank you for sacrificing everything so us kids can have an education and pursue anything we wanted. Thank you for always advising and being there for us. Your support throughout graduate school, during hard times when I couldn't travel and visit, and your constant cheering for me to finish my degree is what supplemented my strength and motivation. You have shown me throughout time that you can always create a positive and purposeful life, even when you changed countries, changed careers, and took on different life projects. I borrowed my positive outlook and perseverance from you.

Lastly, thank you to my partner, Tuula Pera, for being there from day one. From New York to Chicago. From good days to bad days. During long lab hours, weekend work, pandemics, social upheavals and during emotional crises. You have been a constant stone pillar to lean on. Without your support, encouragement, advice, and love, I would never have succeeded in this quest. Your patience and your constant reminder of what's important and how to tackle it, in times of me feeling lost and losing perspective, was instrumental in finishing the work. You push me to be better at everything.

I will conclude with a special acknowledgement to the subjects that were part of my projects and results. When describing the thesis work, I will summarize to others that I studied the brain and behavior. But it is not correct to leave it at just that and not acknowledge the subjects. I studied their brains and their behaviors. Each mouse and rat that partook in experiments has shown that individual data matters. That behavior is contextual, and a big part of that context is the individual. Learning occurs and variance is an important descriptor. The undergraduates that helped with some of the behavioral experiments were able to closely associate defined traits to individuals, and these traits were shared among many observers. One day we might gain a better handle at the hidden latent variables of behavior as an organism's neural circuits dynamically process flowing information. Until then, I can describe their behavior with traits that I know and observe in humans. I can say that the subjects in my experiments were playful, inquisitive, adaptive and skillful. And without whom this work would not have been possible.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	15
1.1 SENSING TO MOVE AND MOVING TO SENSE: A FUNDAMENTAL DUALITY OF NERVOUS SYSTEMS	15
1.2 TACTILE SENSING WITH VIBRISSAE IN RODENTS AS AN EXEMPLARY MODEL FOR ACTIVE SENSING	18
1.3 NEURAL SENSORY MAPS AND THEIR ROLE IN SENSORY PROCESSING	21
1.4 PARALLEL PATHWAYS OF THE RODENT ASCENDING TRIGEMINAL SYSTEM	23
1.5 SOMATOTOPY IN THE VIBRISSAE-BARREL NEURAXIS	26
1.6 NEURAL RESPONSES ALONG PARALLEL PATHWAYS OF TRIGEMINAL SYSTEM	29
1.7 RODENT BEHAVIORAL REPERTOIRE MAKES ACTIVE USE OF WHISKING AND TACTILE SENSING	32
1.8 TRIGEMINAL AFFERENCE AND ITS ROLE IN INGESTIVE BEHAVIORS	
1.9 CONTRIBUTIONS OF THIS THESIS AND EXPERIMENTS	
MOUSE IS ASSOCIATED WITH A LEMNISCAL-BIASED OROSENSORY DEAFFERENTATION	N 40
2.1 Abstract	40
2.2 INTRODUCTION	40
2.3 Methods	43
2.3.1 Animals	43
2.3.2 Experiments on drinking behavior	
2.3.2.1 Measurement of licking behavior	44
2.3.2.2 Analysis of licking	45
2.3.3 Experiments on feeding behavior	46
2.3.3.1 Monitoring food intake	46
2.3.3.2 Assessing feeding behavior	47
2.4 RESULTS	48
2.4.1 The Prrxl1 mutation: General description	
2.4.2 KO mice consume less hard food and maintain lower body weights than WT mice	

	2.4.3 Prrxl1-/- mice are less efficient and less precise in their eating behavior	50
		52
	2.4.4 KO animals exhibit less consistent and less persistent licking behavior than WT animals	55
	2.4.5 Relation between eating and drinking behaviors	57
	2.4.6 WT and KO mice differ significantly in the time course of licking and ability to modulate lic	king
	rate	58
2.	5 DISCUSSION	61
	2.5.1 Trigeminal central pathways and the control of feeding behavior in rodents	61
	2.5.2 Trigeminal modulation of oromotor sequences operates across several timescales	62
	2.5.3 A hypothesized selective role for the lemniscal pathway modulating ongoing ingestive beh	navior
		64
21	6 SUPPORTING INFORMATION	67
СНА	APTER 3: WHISKING-HEAD COORDINATION IN NATURALISTIC VOLUMETRIC BEHAVIOR	S
AND	BEHAVIORAL INTERROGATION OF TRIGEMINAL SENSORY DISORGANIZATION IN THE	
LEM	INISCAL PATHWAY	69
3.	1 INTRODUCTION	69
3. ⁻ 3.:	1 Introduction	69 73
3. ⁻ 3.:	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73
3. ⁻ 3.:	1 INTRODUCTION 2 METHODS 3.2.1 Animals 3.2.2 Experimental setup	69 73 73 73
3. 3.2	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 73 73
3. 3.2	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 73 76 77
3.	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 73 76 77
3.	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 73 76 77 77
3.	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 76 76 77 77 78 78
3.:	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 76 76 77 78 78 79
3.:	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 76 77 77 78 78 79 79
3.:	1 INTRODUCTION	69 73 73 76 76 77 77 78 78 79 79 80

3.3 PRELIMINARY RESULTS FROM TRACKING METHODOLOGY	81
3.4 DISCUSSION	
3.4.1 Untethering behavior: The need for naturalistic freely moving experime	nts in mice84
3.4.2 Tracking whiskers: advances in methods and feasibility for full array ex	periments87
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	92
4.1 MODELING BEHAVIOR AND CAPTURING KINEMATICS IN ALL THREE DIMENSIONS	92
4.2 PARALLELIZATION OF SENSORY STREAMS: WHAT VS. WHERE VS. WHEN?	95
REFERENCES	

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 2.1 An example of measurements of sensor contact/detaches and procedure for computing
histograms
Figure 2.2 Prrxl1 deletion results in genetic ablation of somatotopy selectively along the lemniscal
pathway
Figure 2.3 Body weights and daily food intake of WT and KO mice51
Figure 2.4 Consumption of a piece of sugared cereal as a function of time
Figure 2.5 Knockout animals are less persistent and less consistent in their drinking behavior
Figure 2.6 A comparison of food consumption and the number of licking trials
Figure 2.7 Time course of licking in WT (black and gray) and KO (red and pink) mice60
Figure 3.1 Ascending parallel somatosensory pathways72
Figure 3.2 Experimental setup. Components and layout74
Figure 3.3 Stereo vision capturing of volumetric haptic behavior75
Figure 3.4 Automatic tracking of facial features and whisking kinematics
Figure 3.5 Reconstruction of head kinematics in 3D reveals complex turns in volumetric space
Figure 3.6 Contact-free whisking kinematics appear to be largely intact in Prrxl1-/- mice
Supplementary Figure 2.1 Licking contacts and detaches (CDs) shown for different smoothing windows 67
Table 2.1 Acquisition and consumption of a piece of sugared cereal quantified for WT and Prrxl1- / - animals 53

Chapter 1 : Introduction

1.1 <u>Sensing to move and moving to sense: a fundamental duality of nervous</u> systems

Since the escape from primordial soups(Haldane, 1929; Tirard, 2010, 2017; Wolos et al., 2020), animals and genes have adapted for complex and fast movements (Bennett, 1991; He & Deem, 2010; Lu et al., 2012; Meyer et al., 2021), sensing at bigger ranges (Long & Gordon, 2004; Maclver et al., 2017) and making use of adaptive strategies in complex environmental features (Mugan & Maclver, 2020; Stephens, 2007; Yoo et al., 2020). Purposeful movements are guided by specific needs like hunger, finding prey, finding mates, or avoiding predators, all while navigating locally feature-rich and globally patchy environments (Hayden et al., 2011; Thompson & Fedak, 2001).

Sensory systems aid in moment-to-moment guiding of sequences of motion that subserve these needs. Examples include navigation by phototaxis in insects (Paulk et al., 2013), chemotaxis by animals with very small neural repertoires (Bargmann & Horvitz, 1991; Hilliard et al., 2002; Troemel, 1999), whisker guided wall following and burrow navigation by rodents (Sofroniew et al., 2014; Vincent, 1912), and visually-guided flight or capture of prey (Altshuler & Srinivasan, 2018; Land, 1973; Orger et al., 2008). Primate visual systems can rapidly extract meaning of behaviorally relevant features from a visual scene. Monkeys and humans respond to a briefly flashed photograph and decide if it has either food or an animal in as little as 160-200ms (Fabre-Thorpe et al., 1998; Thorpe et al., 1996). Freely moving rats sample and discriminate between a rough and smooth surface with only one to three touches of whiskers in 100-300ms (Von Heimendahl et al., 2007).

Movement in turn, causes a spatiotemporal modification in the coupling between the sensory organ and environment, inducing changes in features of a stimuli being sensed. As animals move, the physical energies facing the sensing organ inherently fluctuate, even when the world is stationary. Sensory systems and their first neural relays are placed in the periphery of an animal. The flow of information projected onto that neural space, as the sensed energy is transduced, is thus constantly updated with movement.

In vision, optical flow of visual features is actively used to detect higher order representations, such as stimulus speed, size, orientation, or heading speed (Orban et al., 1992; Rogers & Koenderink, 1986; Segawa et al., 2012; Warren et al., 1988). These primary feature detectors can be found as early as the retina (Enroth-Cugell & Robson, 1966; Fisher et al., 2015; Poggio & Reichardt, 1976). Small saccadic eye movements actively change gaze location in high visual acuity tasks and enhance spatial detail (Ko et al., 2010; Rucci et al., 2007).

Tracking of plumes of odorants by many animals, including mammals (Liu et al., 2020; Porter et al., 2007; Thesen et al., 1993), is another example of a behavior during which continuous sampling of a stream of information is followed by neural processing of this information, which in turn changes the next sequence of movements. The orientation and movement of the head plays a key role in this behavior, as it constrains access to the olfactory plume. Finding prey, avoiding predators, navigating the olfactory landscape, are all ethologically important sensorimotor behaviors that require following gradients of stimuli. Sensory systems performing active sampling have adapted to employ fast and efficient neural computations that are necessary for enacting quick planned changes in muscle activation sequences.

Fast neural computations of energy sources, like sound, are actively used for localization by many animals. Owls are one such model organism, used for their ability to perform three-dimensional auditory guided prey capture behaviors (Konishi, 1973). Head is positioned according to binaural signal integration, which has revealed neural representations and maps for both timing and amplitude coding schemes. These mechanisms are thought to be actively used in determining distance and angle of emitting sources (Knudsen & Konishi, 1979; Konishi, 1973). This computation occurs as early as the brainstem (Carr & Konishi, 1990), an example of neural computations that are fast and require only a couple of neural processing levels (Grothe et al., 2010). Some rodents, like bats, navigate complex volumetric 3D terrains (Finkelstein et al., 2016) by sensing their own emitted auditory source, a behavior termed echolocation. This active control of the timing and direction of the energy, helps create a spatial

map of features in the environment, including finding signatures of small prey in the reflected sensory stream (Fujioka et al., 2016).

As the flow of sensory information is continuously sampled, features that don't match the statistics of the recent encounter history or that fall outside the expected distributions can be detected. These can be as simple as unexpected branches of trees creating visual edges as the head or body turns during running. Surfaces that are different in texture or compliance from the local terrain such as cracks in the pavement, or emergence of a new odorant gradient, are all examples of high contrast changes as an animal locomotes. These high contrast changes provide a salient signal that can quickly be filtered and recognized by the underlying neural substrates, and which can be coupled to very quick reflex arcs or more complicated movement responses.

Motor systems also lie in the periphery of the organisms with muscles and their motor command neurons orchestrating the synchrony of movement syllables. In the case of reflex arcs, they are inherently tied to the sensory stream and the response can be as quick as a few milliseconds, with the entire circuit consisting of as few as two neurons as in the case of the stretch reflex (Liddell & Sherrington, 1924). As motor systems respond, the animal's position in space and thus its sensory panorama has shifted.

The new environment state informs the next steps of movement. In this mode, an organism undergoes a feedback chain of sampling environment energies and reacting to perceptual changes as they sense. How the body moves, and where the sensor is positioned, affects the next available packet of sensory information. So, while the environment informs what is sensed, moving the sensors into available stimuli space to extract more information from vantage points, is a way to change the environment space that can be sampled. Blind humans move their hands along edges of objects, haptically sampling the features that are more informative of shape and change in curvature (Lederman & Klatzky, 1987; Tramper & Flanders, 2013). Rodents actively move their vibrissae (whiskers) and modulate their amplitudes and frequencies upon encountering a texture or shape (Carvell & Simons, 1990; Grant et al., 2009; Sachdev et al., 2003). As objects have varied compliance, modulating whisking could be a mechanism for extracting more information during mechanosensory exploration (Birdwell et al., 2007).

This form of actively modulating the sensor with incoming afferent input is called active sensing. The sensor moves, often in concert with the body, or emits the energy in order to sense. Bats echolocating are an example of active sensing for three-dimensional navigation (Finkelstein et al., 2015), as is whisking behavior in rodents (Prescott et al., 2011). One is an example of distance sensing and forming a representational map of the environment, while the other is an example of haptic sensing of proximal space.

Coupling of sensing and movement forms a functional duality in neural systems. Animals sense to move and they move to sense. Sensory neurons process incoming stimuli, and the processed output informs motor programs and motor neuron populations sequence of firing. Muscle group activations changes the body kinematics, repositioning the sensor and refining and configuring the next epoch of information sampling and subsequent movements.

Purposeful exploration and navigation of an environment is a prime example behavior that employs tightly coupled sensorimotor function. Active tactile sensing is a very useful modality to study this interaction (Chiel et al., 2009; Kleinfeld et al., 2006; Nelson & Maclver, 2006; Schroeder et al., 2010). It is then not surprising that the rodent whisking behavior has been one of the main Neuroscience models of choice for studying active sensing for well over a century (Vincent, 1912).

<u>1.2 Tactile sensing with vibrissae in rodents as an exemplary model for active</u> sensing

"For a large number of problems there will be some animal of choice, or a few such animals, on which it can be most conveniently studied." (Krogh, 1929) Kogh's principle is embodied in studying active sensing via whisking behaviors of rodents (Bosman et al., 2011; Mitchinson et al., 2011). The modern-day investigational approaches include genetic dissection of neural circuits and the principle can be extended as "... there will be some animal of choice and genes of choice..." ("Krogh's principle for a new era," 2003). Ability to express effector and reporter proteins has given rise to a rich repertoire of optogenetic and chemogenetic tools (Wiegert et al., 2017). Other functional perturbations include gene deletions (knockouts) or gene mutations. This is especially useful when the genes in question affect the assembly

of neurons in an area of interest, specific neural circuits (connectivity), specific neural pathways (projections), or specific cell types. Genetic perturbations and circuit dissections via genetic tools are being used to revisit many open questions in the rodent vibrissa system.

All mammals besides humans and egg-laying mammals (monotremes) have vibrissae (Chernova, 2006; Muchlinski, 2010). A small set of mammals, such as shrews (Munz et al., 2010), gerbils, rats, mice, chinchillas and porcupines (Woolsey et al., 1975), actively move the vibrissae. Rodents protract and retract their vibrissae in a rostro-caudal fashion creating 'whisking' sweeps. These hair-like structures are embedded in neatly arranged follicles in the mystacial pad of the animals, symmetrical on both sides of the face (Ebara et al., 2002; Rice et al., 1986). This gross arrangement in rows and column fashion is preserved throughout the mammalian order, but the detailed organization varies between species (Brecht et al., 1997; Woolsey et al., 1975). This topography is observed in both animals that actively move their whiskers and ones that have evolutionary lost or never gained this ability.

There are no sensors along the shaft of these hairs that protrude out of the face. Instead, all sensing happens within the follicle complex by a number of different mechanoreceptor types (Ebara et al., 2002; Patrizi & Munger, 1966). The specific energies they sample and diversity of responses in these mechanoreceptor types to stimuli features, is an active area of ongoing investigation with models of full three-dimensional mechanical variables best capturing the response space (Bush et al., 2016). The tactile sensitivity of vibrissae has been shown to be comparable to primate fingertips (Carvell & Simons, 1990). The first neurons of the system, residing in the trigeminal ganglion, get their input from one of these receptor types (Zucker & Welker, 1969).

Each whisker follicle is connected to several muscle types. Coupling to one adjacent follicle via an intrinsic sling muscle serves as the main protraction mechanism for individual vibrissae, while extrinsic muscles connected to larger portions of the mystacial pad elicit whole array movement (Dörfl, 1985). There is row-wise actuation of whiskers as extrinsic muscles connect to an entire row, and this actuation happens on all rows at once (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003; Hill et al., 2008; Simony et al., 2010), suggesting a coarse control of whisking via multiphase neuromuscular activity. Exploratory contactless whisking in air

tends to be in bouts, with each bout having different characteristics such as different frequency (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003), a simple observation that makes whisking not only a good active sensing model, but also a great model for patterned dynamic motor activity.

Other muscle groups exist that connect to columns or selective rows (Haidarliu et al., 2010; Sarko et al., 2011). The synergistic activation of several of these muscle groups results in the oscillatory typical whisking of 8-12 Hz in rats (Bermejo et al., 2005). The specific patterns of activation and their timing can result in the finer subwhisking timescale of control, such as touch-induced whisking 'pumps' (Deutsch et al., 2012; Wallach et al., 2020), or fanning of whisker array spread (Grant et al., 2009; Haidarliu et al., 2010).

It is well established by now that whisker movements are finely controlled and not just an oscillatory process guided by a central pattern generator (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003; Gao et al., 2003; Moore et al., 2013; Welker, 1964). Rodents can whisk asymmetrically, asynchronously and rapidly modulate both frequency and amplitude of whisking (Towal & Hartmann, 2006; Towal & Hartmann, 2008). Upon touch, reflexive like behaviors, such as rapid retraction, but then followed by maintenance of gentle protractions and palpations against objects are observed (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003; Carvell & Simons, 1995; Harvey et al., 2001). When perched from a platform and sensing a gap, high amplitude whisking and maintenance of this high amplitude protraction angle seems to facilitate extensions of object and edge sensing (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003). This behavior is observed as rodents run through a maze (Arkley et al., 2014), keeping their whiskers protracted forward, presumably to decrease the reaction time from sensing to action. Contact durations between sequential whisks when sensing a surface are modifiable (Grant et al., 2009) and the nose and head plays a coordinating role (Hobbs et al., 2016), with whisking control resembling haptic grasps. All these behaviors make rodents an excellent model for studying active sensation.

The sensorimotor coupling in rodent active whisking behaviors naturally extends to the neural space. Whisker primary somatosensory (wS1) and whisker motor cortex (wM1) are positioned adjacent to each other with dense reciprocal connectivity (Porter & White, 1983; White & DeAmicis, 1977). Recent evidence points to functionally integrated sensorimotor signals as early as wS1, with wM1 innervating almost all layers and directly connecting to inhibitory and excitatory neurons (Kinnischtzke et al., 2014), redefining the classically named somatosensory cortex as a sensorimotor cortex (Ferezou et al., 2007). Even as early as brainstem, only three neurons comprise the shortest sensorimotor loop (Matthews et al., 2015), with the sensory afferent signal from the trigeminal ganglion relaying onto a spinal trigeminal nucleus and then onto facial nucleus motor neurons innervating the mystacial pad.

1.3 Neural sensory maps and their role in sensory processing

Vibrissae innervating trigeminal sensory neurons are pseudounipolar cells that reside in the trigeminal ganglion (Vg). Each neuron connects to only one whisker (Kerr & Lysak, 1964; Lichtenstein et al., 1990) and there is some evidence for only one mechanoreceptor type innervation from each neuron (Furuta et al., 2020; Severson et al., 2017; Waite & Jacquin, 1992). About 150-200 neurons in the rodent connect to about 7 mechanoreceptor types (Boada, 2013; Ebara et al., 2002; Rice et al., 1993). The relatively small input size makes the whisker system tractable for investigating sensory computations and modeling sensory organization from whisker follicle to cortex.

Vg neurons project diffusely throughout the sensory brainstem trigeminal complex, each innervating all nuclei simultaneously. Innervated structures include the principal trigeminal nucleus (PrV) and the spinal trigeminal nuclei (interpolaris - SpVi, oralis - SpVo, and caudalis - SpVc) (Clarke & Bowsher, 1962; Hayashi, 1980; Torvik, 1956). These bifurcations provide a unique model to study likely functionally distinct roles in branching common input, for both post-synaptic computations and pre-synaptic processing by parallel branches of the same neurons.

In contrast, other sensory modalities such as olfaction, vision and audition, have an explicit neural space separation at the source of the sensory stream. Olfactory sensory neurons also preferentially connect to only one receptor type out of a pool of about 1000 (Buck & Axel, 1991; Zhang & Firestein, 2002). But, while scattered and distributed throughout the olfactory

epithelium, same receptor type neurons coalesce their axonal terminals onto individual neuropils in the olfactory bulb, segregating that input space into separate neural processing units called glomeruli (Mombaerts et al., 1996; Soucy et al., 2009). Moreover, this separation is genetic, with each sensory neuron expressing only one olfactory receptor gene (Mombaerts, 2004) and thus receptor type. Each receptor type has affinity to a set of odorant molecules (Nagayama et al., 2014). Instead of input parallelization onto all the first processing centers displayed by the trigeminal nerve, olfaction displays an input partition.

This segregation of sensory input stream at the source, is also seen in audition and vision. Hair cells are neatly arranged along a frequency gradient on the basilar membrane creating a tonotopic map (Fettiplace & Fuchs, 1999). Rod and cone photoreceptors connect to second order bipolar cells in a columnar manner, imbuing output retinal ganglion cells with retinotopy (Roska & Werblin, 2001) which is relayed all the way to cortex (Dräger, 1975; Tusa et al., 1978). About a dozen bipolar cell types organize in diverse synaptic and microcircuit motifs (Demb & Singer, 2015; Grunert & Martin, 2020; Wassle et al., 2009), with retinal ganglion cells integrating weighted input from these parallelized streams in non-linear fashion (Duan et al., 2014; Jacoby & Schwartz, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2012). The retina itself functions like the collection of trigeminal sensory brainstem nuclei, with at least 20-30 functionally distinct output channels provided by the reported retinal ganglion cell types (Demb & Singer, 2015). This spatiofunctional organization includes temporal components with some evidence for segregated computations in different terminals/branches of the same neuron (Asari & Meister, 2012).

Early organization of sensory systems into functional units forms sensory maps. Advantages of mapped input spaces include gain control, reduction in wiring connectivity, and facilitation of local circuit lateral interactions. These topographic arrangements can enable quick filtering and

decorrelation of input at the starting stages of sensory processing (Arevian et al., 2008). Multiple maps can coexist within the same structure as can be argued for the retina output.

The genetic signals that form these maps and the consequence of perturbing these signals are a clinical important set of questions to study because they can aid in correcting functional loss when the circuits are altered through genetic mutation or disease. More generally, understanding how sensory systems are self-assembled into neural maps and how these maps impact neural computations and acuity of perception is a quintessential pre-cursor of enabling construction of in-silico replacements.

Neural sensory maps are a substrate that can enable fast neural computations and fast sensorimotor behaviors. Active sensing systems necessitate a fast sensorimotor loop. Active sensing behaviors can then be studied for testing predictions when an ordered sensory space is neurally mismapped or the map features have changed. Quantification of neural and behavioral consequences when sensory maps are lost or perturbed can lay theoretical groundwork for testing and modeling neural computations in early sensory pathways, from small circuits to hierarchical networks.

1.4 Parallel pathways of the rodent ascending trigeminal system

Ascending rodent somatosensory pathways have been anatomically studied with multiple techniques, continuously for decades (Dörfl, 1985; Jacquin et al., 2015; M. F. Jacquin et al., 1990; Ramon y Cajal & Azoulay, 1955). The mechanosensory input from the rodent vibrissae array funnels into a tractable small set of neurons in the trigeminal ganglion (Vg). While it immediately parallelizes into several sensory processing stages, its sensory map is conserved by virtue of identity at the level of Vg. Each neuron connects to one whisker and provides a spatial labeled line (Kerr & Lysak, 1964; Lichtenstein et al., 1990). The identity of Vg neuron

predicts the spatial location of sensory input and constraints the region of space proximal to the anima's snout where contact must have occurred.

The second order sensory neurons reside in multiple nuclei along the trigeminal brainstem complex. The biggest of them, the principal trigeminal nucleus (PrV), originates the lemniscal pathway. Its projection cells travel contralaterally through the medial lemniscal bundles to target dorsal medial Ventral Posteriomedial Thalamus (VPMdm) (Erzurumlu et al., 1980; Hayashi, 1980). This ascending sensory stream is then relayed from thalamus to primary somatosensory cortex (S1) granular zone, input layer IV (Deschenes et al., 2005).

Two other named somatosensory streams have also been identified. The paralemniscal pathway ascends from the rostral portion of the interpolaris nucleus of Spinal V, SpVir. It targets the posteromedial complex of the thalamus (PoM), from which multiple collateral branches terminate in S1 dysgranular zone input layer IV and layer 5a (Kim & Ebner, 1999), S2 (Carvell & Simons, 1987), and whisker motor cortex wM1 (Deschenes et al., 2005). A third recently named pathway, extralemniscal, is a smaller parallel stream that starts at the caudal portion of the interpolaris (SpVic) and terminates in the ventrolateral VPM (VPMvI), continuing to both S2 and layer Vb of S1 (El-Boustani et al., 2020; Pierret et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2006). The specific functional roles for these parallel pathways, if any exclusive function exists, have yet to be uncovered.

From sensory cortex there is heavy top-down innervation into all the spinal trigeminal nuclei. Both S1 and S2 project diffusively throughout (M. F. Jacquin et al., 1990; Killackey et al., 1989; Smith et al., 2015; Wise & Jones, 1977). These projections actively modulate neural responses in vivo (Chakrabarti & Schwarz, 2018; Furuta et al., 2010), gating input at the level of the brainstem. Because the ascending parallel pathways directly innervate higher sensory cortices (S2) and motor cortex (M1), they are a good example of how sensory streams mix with motor circuits in neocortex, creating multi-direction functional loops (Ebbesen et al., 2017; Matyas et al., 2010).

Lateral connectivity, intra- and longer range intercortical, can provide attention signals, sharpen tuning curves, and provide feedforward and feedback inhibition for recurrent connections and activity maintenance. This lateral connectivity exists in all levels of the ascending stream (Minnery et al., 2003; Timofeeva et al., 2003), starting at brainstem trigeminal nuclei (Li et al., 1997). There, the most caudal nuclei project to the rostral principal nucleus (PrV) (Mark F. Jacquin et al., 1990), sharpening responses of individual neurons to single whiskers (Timofeeva et al., 2004). Thus, the parallel ascending pathways together with feedback and lateral connectivity provide the neural substrates to segregate and sharpen the sensory stream at the first synaptic levels of the somatosensory stream.

There also exist pathways from trigeminal nuclei to the facial motor nucleus that controls whisker pad muscles, but also a recently discovered, faster disynaptic excitatory sensory-motor loop that gets input directly from the sensory afferents (Matthews et al., 2015). Unlike PrV, SpVi contains GABAergic and glycinergic projections which innervate the facial motor nucleus (Li et al., 1997) and can provide modulation of these brainstem-based reflex arcs. Spatial (Cohen et al., 2008) or motor areas innervated by SpVi projections suggest a possible role for localization and premotor function of the paralemniscal pathway.

Like other sensory systems, the trigeminal pathways are organized and temporally guided by developmental genes. Two such genes reported in the literature are the transcription factors Prrxl1 (also known as Drg11 in rat genomic nomenclature) and Lmxb1 (Ding et al., 2003; Jacquin et al., 2008; Xiang et al., 2010). They have been shown to be required for development of normal PrV and normal axon bundle targeting for both the trigeminal system and mechanosensory afferents in the spinal cord (Chen et al., 2001; Ding et al., 2003). Genetic

perturbations along a specific pathway and their disruption of axonal projection patterns can be used to study both function of that pathway and function of sensory maps organization in general. Behavioral consequences of such genetic perturbation are the first step in assigning functional roles to the neural computations and sensory topography along a defined sensory stream.

1.5 Somatotopy in the vibrissae-barrel neuraxis

A hallmark of somatosensory systems is spatial arrangement into somatotopic maps in neural tissue. Neighboring body areas send afferents to neighboring sensory processing areas. This extends to the overall map of the body surface for all somatosensory submodalities: mechanoreception, nociception, and thermoreception. Such explicit spatial organization, where the entire body surface is topographically organized in neural space, was coined the homunculus by Penfield & Boldrey (Penfield & Boldrey, 1937); it illustrates a humanoid figure representing arrangement of skin surface topographically mapped onto the brain and scaled by the amount of brain tissue devoted to each surface.

The homunculus appearance, with big lips and huuge hands, is a consequence of the simple fact that the neural space devoted to a patch of body surface is not a simple linear transformation. Rather, it correlates with the importance (acuity of perception and behavioral relevance) and number of afferent fibers from a body part (Krubitzer, 2007). The hands and the face are highly innervated by mechanoreceptors and occupy a relatively larger area in their respective sensory cortical locations. This cortical expansion of highest sensitive areas is then depicted in a homunculus with much bigger hands, fingers and face relative to other less sensitive body parts like the torso. In rodents, one of the largest expansions of cortical representations are the whisker responsive regions, signifying the ethological significance of the whisker mechanosensory system.

Mechanosensory afferent fibers from the skin give rise to two large ascending streams. The body stream gets its input from the entire skin surface, relaying through topographically arranged ganglia along the spinal cord (the dorsal root ganglia) (Grant, 1993; Keynes & Stern, 1984; McGlone & Reilly, 2010). In contrast, facial mechanosensory input relays through the trigeminal ganglion (Zucker & Welker, 1969) via the Vth and largest cranial nerve.

Facial topography in rodents is especially conspicuous for the arrangement of whiskers on the mystacial pad (Belford & Killackey, 1979; Erzurumlu et al., 2010). Same whisker responsive sensory neurons are clustered together, and populations of neurons tuned to nearby whiskers topographically pool into adjacent cylindrical neural clusters. These neuropil-like clusters, each receiving predominant input from unique whiskers, were coined barrels in somatosensory cortex (Woolsey & Van der Loos, 1970), barreloids in thalamus (Van Der Loos, 1976), and barrelettes (Ma & Woolsey, 1984) in brainstem sensory nuclei.

Whisker responsive primary somatosensory cortex (wS1) input layer IV became henceforth known as the barrel cortex. It displays a matrix of barrels corresponding in one-to-one fashion to the rows and columns on the rodent mystacial pad. Each barrel pools input topographically directly from thalamus barreloids. Across all cortical layers, several thousand cortical neurons form a columnar organization around a barrel, creating a processing module of feedforward, lateral and feedback influences from upper cortices, including motor cortex (Jensen & Killackey, 1987; Lefort et al., 2009; Welker et al., 1988). A barrel column in wS1 reciprocally connects to a column in wM1 (Ferezou et al., 2007) with preferential layer targeting (Aronoff et al., 2010).

The septa region between barrels is the site of spatial integration of feedback and feedforward signals (Alloway et al., 2004; Furuta et al., 2009; Kim & Ebner, 1999). The vibrissa motor cortex, S1, and S2 are linked by corticocortical connections (Chakrabarti et al., 2008; Chakraibarti & Alloway, 2006; Fabri & Burton, 1991), forming dynamical loops of information processing and

providing the neural substrate for topographic integration of spatiotemporal features sensed by whiskers.

Barrel cortex somatotopy follows through from lower topographic arrangements in trigeminal sensory brainstem and thalamus. Lesions of PrV result in the somatotopic map abolished upstream (Killackey & Fleming, 1985). The functional role of somatotopic maps in behavior remains to be elucidated. Knowing which sensory features are filtered, extracted, and perceived in each of the processing stages is crucial for developing models of neural module computations along the whisker-barrel neuroaxis.

One way to study the role of barrel-like structure somatotopy (often referred to as patterning in the literature) is to genetically perturb genes like Prrxl1 and Lmxb1, which are associated with these patterns' formation. Knocking out Prrxl1 produces a lemniscal pathway whisker somatotopy ablation, from PrV to S1 (Ding et al., 2003; Jacquin et al., 2008). Crucially, somatotopy in the extralemniscal nucleus is preserved, dissociating these two parallel pathways. Studying the behavioral and neurophysiological deficits of these animal models and comparing them with wildtype animals is a way to associate functional roles with somatotopic arrangement along the lemniscal pathway, in addition to testing the role of the pathway itself.

Behaviors that can uncover functional roles include whisking kinematics characterization, texture or shape discrimination, and localization. With hypothesized separate functions of parallel pathways, such as a discriminative 'what' function for the lemniscal stream and a localizing 'where' function for the paralemniscal stream (Diamond et al., 2008), testing naturalistic task performance in these mice can suggest behavioral relevance for characterized neural responses over decades of research.

1.6 Neural responses along parallel pathways of trigeminal system

Quantification of behavioral parameters and task performance would ultimately need to be related to neural representations, tying the action space and perceptual models to neural space and computations along a trigeminal pathway. The trigeminal nerve, with its three branches, gets input from different orofacial regions. The whisker innervating nerve, the infraorbital nerve, is the most neurophysiologically characterized branch, with responses faithfully following stimulation of individual whiskers. About 150-200 primary sensory neurons are connected to each follicle (Boada, 2013; Ebara et al., 2002; Rice et al., 1993) and they respond to an individual whisker deflection (Gibson & Welker, 1983a; Zucker & Welker, 1969) with high fidelity and rates of firing.

There is certainly a division into cell types within these ~200 primary sensory neurons and ample diversity of neural responses as each neuron connects to only one receptor type (Furuta et al., 2020; Kerr & Lysak, 1964; Severson et al., 2017). The characterization of these Vg neurons has been traditionally focused on relating firing rates to whisker kinematics variables, whisker mechanical variables or properties such as adaptability of responses to ramp and hold stimuli, almost exclusively in anesthetized or head-fixed preparations (Lichtenstein et al., 1990; Shoykhet et al., 2000). Experiments that capture whisker motion and estimate mechanical variables have shown that forces and moments at the whisker follicle base are better predictors of neural responses (Bush et al., 2016; Campagner et al., 2016), with full three-dimensional mechanics characterization performing better (Bush et al., 2021).

Classification of neural responses, and by extension their neurons, traditionally employed quantifying the adaptability to stimulus onset and offset. In this coding scheme, rapidly adapting (RA) sensory neurons are connected to RA mechanoreceptors. This coding scheme was inherited by cutaneous skin mechanoreceptor classification (Johnson, 2001), where responses

of afferent fibers connected to RA receptors are phasic and rapidly change in amplitude after stimulus onset or offset. In contrast, slowly adapting neurons maintain their firing rate after stimulus presentation. Interestingly, even earlier studies pointed out that rat whisker responsive Vg neurons cover a continuum of adaptability and they do not form a simple dichotomy (Gibson & Welker, 1983b). Moreover, both RA and SA classified neurons reach the same high firing rates when contacting an object (Leiser & Moxon, 2007), with response modulated by angle and direction of deflection (Khatri et al., 2009). More naturalistic and variable stimuli also show a continuum of responses, with adaptability and angular tuning tiling the response space (Bush et al., 2021). These diverse neural responses observed at the first station of the trigeminal system encapsulate the entire tactile sensory information that the branching ascending somatosensory pathways ought to filter, compute and relay.

Centrally, at the first sensory processing centers of the trigeminal brainstem complex, the neural responses differ between nuclei. In addition to characterization along stimulus and adaptability dimensions onto which Vg neurons are typically projected, other higher order features such as receptive field (number of whiskers that evoke a response) are used to classify brainstem sensory neurons. While Vg forwards information in parallel fashion to all sensory nuclei at once (PrV, SpVi, SpVo, and SpVc), each nucleus can differentially filter, integrate and encode its output stream. The exact functional roles for each nucleus response types are yet to be uncovered, primarily due to a lack of awake behaving data in these challenging to record structures.

Most recordings in the whisker responsive nuclei (PrV and SpVi) are in anesthetized preparations. Electrophysiological experiments have shown key differences between these nuclei and their projecting neurons. VPM projecting PrV neurons have a narrow receptive field, primarily responding to individual whisker deflections, with weaker multiwhisker responses to an

adjacent whisker. PrV neurons display direction tuning and have tonic responses to a ramp and hold stimulus (Minnery et al., 2003). These properties are largely mirrored in the next thalamic processing stage, with lateral inhibition further transforming the signal (Minnery et al., 2003; Timofeeva et al., 2003). Multiwhisker observed responses in PrV and VPM are thought to be a property of brainstem internuclear connections from SpVi to PrV (Timofeeva et al., 2004).

In contrast, SpVi neurons have large dendritic arborizations and display multi-whisker receptive fields which are organized in a row-wise elliptical shape (Jacquin et al., 1989). The rostral portion of SpVi lacks somatotopic organization into barrelettes and projects to Pom, where most neurons respond to whisker motion regardless of whether contact with an object occurs (Yu et al., 2006). This response is phasic, unlike the VPM responses, and largely occurring at the initial stages of protraction. Based on these anesthetized responses, it has been proposed that the paralemniscal pathway encodes sensor motion. Whereas the finer tuning, touch responses, and somatotopy imbue the lemniscal pathway with the components needed for object identity. But, lemniscal pathway was also reported to contain phasic information (Yu et al., 2006).

More recent awake recordings in head-fixed rats confirmed during contactless whisking in air that neurons along the lemniscal pathway can indeed encode and be modulated by rhythmic whisking on a cycle-by-cycle basis (Moore et al., 2015), as observed in anesthetized state (Yu et al., 2006). This suggests that not only touch, but also self-motion signals can travel through the same lemniscal pathway. This finding is not contrary to the proposed functional role of the lemniscal pathway for object discrimination. In order to localize and subsequently identify a tactile feature, knowledge of whisker self-motion is needed. That this information may also travel through the same pathway is consistent with the proposed role of the pathway. Yet, whether the lemniscal system does indeed support object identification or discrimination, has yet to be shown in behavior experiments or in awake recordings with tactile stimuli. VPM population coding of more complicated whisker motion, mimicking contact with textured surfaces by stimulation with a piezoelectric device, has been shown possible in anesthetized rats (Bale et al., 2015). The ability of ascending pathways to encode both touch and self-motion is perhaps not surprising as tagged Merkel cell-associated Vg neurons have recently been shown to do precisely that (Severson et al., 2017).

The feedforward sensory streams are under influence by top-down and modulatory signals. There are promiscuous descending inputs from cortical structures all along the trigeminal spinal column (M. F. Jacquin et al., 1990; Killackey et al., 1989; Smith et al., 2015; Wise & Jones, 1977) and these projections actively modulate neural responses in vivo (Chakrabarti & Schwarz, 2018; Furuta et al., 2010), gating input at the level of the brainstem. Cholinergic modulatory signals also innervate the brainstem trigeminal complex (Timofeeva et al., 2005).

Neurons in barrel cortex have recently been shown to not only represent touch (Crochet & Petersen, 2006; Hires et al., 2015), but also kinematic parameters like whisker motion, with the output of barrel cortex containing distinct populations for motion and whisker protraction angle (Cheung et al., 2020). Higher order features like surface angle are both discriminable by mice and decodable from neural populations, with tuning curves enhanced by training on a discrimination task (Kim et al., 2020). Tuning for whisker protraction phase is also prominent in S1 neurons while mice are actively whisking on surface textures (Isett & Feldman, 2020). All these recent results on higher order tactile feature discriminations and neural representations in primary somatosensory cortex build on the finding that object detection tasks do not require barrel cortex (Hong et al., 2018).

1.7 Rodent behavioral repertoire makes active use of whisking and tactile sensing

In nature, rodents move quickly through feature-rich environments. These include dense vegetations, man-made habitats and underground tunnels. As they climb, cross open spaces or

burrow they have to actively and rapidly sense any objects and features in their proximal space so that they may modify their path and avoid danger. The whisking mechanosensory stream provides an analogue signal that can aid quick reflexes without much processing needed. At the most basic function, these touch 'edge' detectors can guide wall following and provide the earliest alarm of unexpected encounters in blind spots.

In the laboratory, rodent whisking behavior has mainly been characterized in head-fixed preparations due to the challenge of recording whiskers optically as they rapidly move through space. Immobilization of the animal's head has restricted characterization of whisking kinematics in a planar two-dimensional (2D) space. Some setups have pushed the experimental boundaries, with whisking touch shown to aid active localization of walls in a head-fixed virtual reality system (Sofroniew et al., 2014). Vertical poles and edges of different orientation have been used to probe localization and discrimination function through go-nogo and 2 alternative force choice (2AFC) paradigms (Brown et al., 2021; Pammer et al., 2013).

However, the earliest studies of whisking behavior are in freely moving animals. Since the first introductions of rodents as model organisms, an array of associated behavioral paradigms has been developed, which exploits sensory-motor coupling of active whisking in moving rodents. Studies of higher cognitive functions, such as localization (Vincent, 1912), have used whisking animals as the model of choice. One example behavior includes platform localization and gap crossing (Hutson & Masterton, 1986). In this task a rodent would try to perch from an elevated location and find an edge across empty space to perform a platform jump. Experiments are typically conducted in the dark so vision input may be limited.

The ability of rodents to form a representation of the environment as they navigate in two dimensional flat surfaces has been behaviorally demonstrated in maze navigation experiments (Tolman, 1948) and neural correlates for spatial location and head direction found and

characterized in several brain areas (Hafting et al., 2005; O'Keefe & Dostrovsky, 1971; Taube et al., 1990). But, the behavior of rodents is inherently embedded in a three-dimensional world, and this is especially important for rodents which climb, burrow and pitch their heads as they navigate.

As rodents interact with the environment, evidence of the spatial arrangement of objects is accumulated. This prior and environmental-context can aid in solving tasks faster (Schroeder & Ritt, 2016). There is laboratory evidence that whisking patterns during navigation are adaptable (Arkley et al., 2014), but this comes from maze-like 2D experiments that restrict the movement repertoire and degrees of freedom. Multisensory experiments and integration of multimodal sensory streams is an open area for research. Whisker touch and olfaction are the main modalities through which rodents obtain information from their proximal environment (Diamond et al., 2008) and often in the laboratory it is impossible to eliminate the olfactory cues in an experiment.

Other sensory streams play an active role as rodents explore proximal tactile features such as edges of floors, walls, shapes and textures of objects. This active process is usually in conjunction with movement of the head (Hartmann, 2001). How the vestibular inputs integrate with whisking inputs to guide environment interaction (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Towal & Hartmann, 2006) is not presently known. It is of interest to test whether head turns gate or predict subwhisking scale features, such as touch-induced pumps (Deutsch et al., 2012).

A relationship between head movements and whisking patterns, specifically asymmetric modulation of whisking has been observed and described in exploratory and goal-oriented behaviors (Towal & Hartmann, 2006). This asymmetric control of whisking can happen during object detection and in the same whisk cycle as the initial contact (Mitchinson et al., 2007). It

has been suggested that whisker and head movements are actively controlled to increase the likelihood of environmental contacts.

There is whisking gating and sequencing of behavior by central pattern generators in the rodent brainstem, namely breathing, sniffing, and vocalization. These orosensory rhythms have been characterized and shown to have specific phase relationships (Kleinfeld et al., 2014). Orofacial motor actions are chained and coupled together (Kleinfeld et al., 2014; Kumikova et al., 2017).

Naturalistic behaviors of whisking in the laboratory have shown exquisite control of whiskers by rats (Towal & Hartmann, 2006; Towal & Hartmann, 2008) which display a rich repertoire of patterns of whisking. Upon touch whiskers retract and palpate at lower amplitudes (Carvell & Simons, 1995; Harvey et al., 2001). Head-fixed mice performing an orientation discrimination task requires a full array to learn, but once learned discriminability is then possible with a single whisker (Brown et al., 2021).

One of the bigger challenges in the study of naturalistic whisking behavior is tracking individual whiskers, especially when a partial or whole array of 35 whiskers is intact. The fine, tapered vibrissae are hard to focus on, often with a portion of the tip indistinguishable from background pixels in a video frame. This challenge is increased for freely moving behaviors, where the animal head can rapidly turn or move out of field or depth of view.

Machine vision techniques have been used to track whiskers in head-fixed preparations (Clack et al., 2012) (e.g. Whisk Janelia). These solutions, while very useful when optimized, do not generalize and require specific experimental conditions. Newer solutions, based on training deep convolutional artificial neural networks, promise to make both the labeling and training aspects of experimental video data generalizable and accessible to more researchers (Mathis et al., 2018). This has especially high utility for high-speed video data, needed for the fast-moving

vibrissae. In the near future, the challenging task of vibrissae segmentation and identification, even in the face of overlapping whiskers, promises to be solved with refinement of these deep generalizing and probabilistic modeling of spatial feature segmentations (Pereira et al., 2020).

1.8 Trigeminal afference and its role in ingestive behaviors

The study of somatosensation is not restricted to whisking touch. A primal function of tactile sensing is to aid the vital sensorimotor functions of eating and drinking. Ingestive behavior and its modulation by trigeminal afference has been studied by a few deafferentation experiments in rats (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983; Zeigler, Semba, Egger, et al., 1984). These experiments established the necessity of trigeminal afference in gating and maintaining normal eating patterns. Deafferented rats could not drink or eat for prolonged periods post-op and gradually increased intake and food responsiveness, but never returned to pre-op conditions, unlike rats that underwent sham operations.

This aphagia and adipsia phenotype (Zeigler, Semba, Egger, et al., 1984) was accompanied by a lack of bruxism and consequential malocclusions. The sensory driven initiation of bruxism is another indication that reflexive oral and perioral tactile input aids the gating of motor sequences like grinding of teeth. Their maintenance also likely requires a persistent tactile sensory stream and its sensation. Recording from facial motor nerve while stimulating the perioral upper lip area and the intraoral areas of the roof of the mouth has shown a reflex arc from tactile sensing to motor output (Zeigler, Semba, & Jacquin, 1984). There exist direct projections from trigeminal nuclei to the facial motor nucleus that controls facial muscles like the whisker pad, but also a recently discovered, faster, disynaptic excitatory sensory-motor loop that gets input directly from the sensory afferents (Matthews et al., 2015).

The deafferented model has limitations in providing any mechanistic explanation to trigeminal modulation of ingestive behaviors. It affects all the ascending parallel pathways, and it is an
irreversible preparation. The rats eventually learn to eat, possibly by employing compensatory pathways and relying on other modalities for sensory input. Adaptation of behavior, such as higher utilization of paws and inserting snout in the food source or sipping tube was reported in the deafferentation studies.

Recent genetic perturbations and mouse models that have trigeminal deficits in specific pathways have been employed to try to uncover the mechanisms of trigeminal control of ingestive behaviors. One such gene deletion, Prrxl1 (also known as Drg11 in the rat nomenclature) causes cell loss in all trigeminal sensory nuclei and trigeminal ganglion (Jacquin et al., 2008). Its deletion selectively affects somatotopy along the lemniscal pathway (Ding et al., 2003), with barreletes present at the start of the extralemniscal pathway, but genetically ablated throughout the lemniscal pathway. This Prrxl1^{-/-} mutant has been implicated in ingestive behavior deficits (Bakalar et al., 2015), suggesting a possible role for trigeminal afference organization in precise control of ingestive action sequences.

The phenotype of Prrxl1 knockouts resembles that of the deafferented rats (Bakalar et al., 2015). The mice lack bruxism and develop malocclusions (Monteiro et al., 2014). However, this mouse line is very hard to maintain, and animals die prematurely, presumably due to feeding difficulties at ages prior to weaning. While they were maintained on a liquid diet, it was shown that their weights and feeding patterns were lower than controls, implicating the trigeminal system, especially lemniscal pathway in body weight and food responsiveness (Bakalar et al., 2015). A detailed temporal analysis of chronic feeding behavior and higher temporal resolution of drinking and feeding data lacks on this useful knockout line and we describe these experiments in chapter 2.

1.9 Contributions of this thesis and experiments

This thesis describes work with freely moving mice engaged in naturalistic exploratory behaviors. A genetically perturbed mouse line is used, the Prrxl1^{-/-} model, together with littermate controls. As detailed in the previous sections of the introduction, this model displays sensory disorganization along the lemniscal pathway as evidenced by lack of barrel-like structures.

In chapter 2 we describe a series of experiments comparing ingestive behavior between the lemniscal somatotopy deficient PrrxI1^{-/-} mouse model and littermate controls. We confirm previous deafferentation results implicating trigeminal modulation of ingestive behavior. We replicate these studies in the mouse model and extend the findings to show active trigeminal modulation in a fast orosensory behavior. We show a trigeminal mediated ingestive deficit across timescales, from milliseconds to months. The results presented suggest trigeminal sensation actively modulates ingestive action sequences, and this modulation is likely lemniscal mediated. This mouse model with genetic ablation of somatotopic organization is shown to have utility in investigating sensorimotor behaviors, with the future aim of uncovering functional role for somatotopy along the lemniscal pathway.

In chapter 3 we describe an experimental setup for naturalistic volumetric haptic exploratory behaviors. We detail a series of behavioral paradigms using this setup and describe a dataset that uses the Prrxl1^{-/-} model with the aim of uncovering behavioral consequences of somatotopy ablation from the lemniscal pathway. We show feasibility of this setup and associated paradigms by presenting preliminary tracking of head and whisker kinematics. Analysis of the collected large dataset is ongoing and will be presented at future publications. This dataset includes wildtype animals and can be used to answer questions of volumetric haptic exploration, search strategies and whisking pattern behaviors under influence of head velocities in all

directions, including pitch. Detection, localization, gap crossing, platform jumping and aperture discrimination behavioral paradigms are employed and described.

The thesis concludes with a short discussion on modeling naturalistic behaviors, functional role of parallel somatosensory pathways and multi-modal sensorimotor interactions.

Chapter 2 : Impaired trigeminal control of ingestive behavior in the PrrxI1- / - mouse is associated with a lemniscal-biased orosensory deafferentation

2.1 Abstract

Although peripheral deafferentation studies have demonstrated a critical role for trigeminal afference in modulating the orosensorimotor control of eating and drinking, the central trigeminal pathways mediating that control, as well as the timescale of control, remain to be elucidated. In rodents, three ascending somatosensory pathways process and relay orofacial mechanosensory input: the lemniscal, paralemniscal, and extralemniscal. Two of these pathways (the lemniscal and extralemniscal) exhibit highly structured topographic representations of the orofacial sensory surface, as exemplified by the oneto-one somatotopic mapping between vibrissae on the animals' face and barrelettes in brainstem, barreloids in thalamus, and barrels in cortex. Here we use the Prrxl1 knockout mouse model (also known as the DRG11 knockout) to investigate ingestive behavior deficits that may be associated with disruption of the lemniscal pathway. The Prrxl1 deletion disrupts somatotopic patterning and axonal projections throughout the lemniscal pathway but spares patterning in the extralemniscal nucleus. Our data reveal an imprecise and inefficient ingestive phenotype. Analysis of drinking behavior reveals deficits on timescales of milliseconds to seconds, while analysis of eating behavior reveals deficits over an even broader range of timescales. Food acquisition and consummatory rate data showed deficits on the timescale of seconds, and body weight data suggested deficits on the scale of long-term appetitive control. We suggest that ordered assembly of trigeminal sensory information along the lemniscal pathway is critical for the rapid and precise modulation of motor circuits driving eating and drinking action sequences.

2.2 Introduction

In rodents, sensory information from the orofacial region is critical for the moment-to-moment control of two effector systems centrally involved in ingestive behavior: the whiskers and the mouth. Active sensing by the whiskers is important for appetitive behaviors, including the localization and identification of food and water sources. Inputs from the perioral, oral and intraoral regions modulate consummatory behaviors, including the grasping, manipulation, and licking movements involved in eating and drinking.

Both sets of orofacial inputs are conveyed to the brain by the trigeminal (V) nerve, whose cell bodies reside in the V ganglion (Vg) and branch to innervate the entire brainstem trigeminal complex, including the principal and spinal trigeminal nuclei (PrV and SpV, respectively). PrV originates the lemniscal pathway, which relays through the dorsomedial portion of the ventral posteromedial thalamus (VPMdI) to terminate in layer IV of primary somatosensory cortex (S1). SpV originates two pathways: the paralemniscal, which starts in SpVir, continues to the posteromedial complex of the thalamus (PoM), and terminates in secondary somatosensory cortex (S2), vibrissal motor cortex, and layer Va of S1; and the extralemniscal, which starts in SpVic, passes through the ventrolateral regions of (VPMvI) and continues to S2 and layer Vb of S1 (El-Boustani et al., 2020; Pierret et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2006).

Cytochrome oxidase (CO) staining reveals that several of these regions (PrV, SpVic, VPM, and S1) contain distinct topographic maps reflecting the peripheral arrangement of whiskers on the face: "barrelettes" in the brainstem, "barreloids" in thalamus, and "barrels" in cortex. However, the functional role of this somatotopic patterning, if any, remains unclear (Kaas, 1997). Moreover, whatever the contribution of the whiskers to the appetitive component of ingestive behavior, they appear to make little or no contribution to intake and body weight regulation. In rats maintained under normal lab conditions, section of the infraorbital branch of the trigeminal nerve – which innervates the whiskers – has negligible effects upon these variables (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983).

In contrast, trigeminal oral, perioral, and intraoral inputs are critical for the sensory control of eating and drinking in rodents. Deafferentation of these regions of the face is followed by a syndrome of ingestive behavior deficits including aphagia, adipsia, incisor overgrowth, impairments in the sensorimotor control of eating and drinking, and a reduction of food- or water- reinforced operant behavior. Recovered animals show a prolonged and significantly reduced responsiveness to food and water, with recovery clearly modulated by the tactile properties of the food. The reduced responsiveness is accompanied by a reduction in the level of body weight regulation to about 80% of ad lib intake (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983).

However, because peripheral deafferentation abolishes sensory input equally to all three trigeminal central pathways (lemniscal, paralemniscal, and extralemniscal), it is of limited utility in identifying the specific trigeminal central pathway(s) associated with the ingestive impairments. One possible approach to more selectively dissociate those pathways is to use the *Prrxl1*^{-/-} "knockout" (KO) model, also known as the DRG11 KO (Chen et al., 2001; Ding et al., 2003). In this mutant somatotopic patterning is normal in SpVic, the start of the extralemniscal pathway, as well as the spinal caudalis nucleus (SpVc). It is selectively absent along the entire trigeminal lemniscal pathway from PrV to cortex. However, the *Prrxl1*^{-/-} "utation also reduces the number of primary sensory neurons in the Vg by 40-50%, a loss that affects the entire trigeminal brainstem complex. The effect is most pronounced in the PrV lemniscal nucleus, with ~50% neural loss, compared to only ~25% loss in the para- and extra- lemniscal nuclei of SpVi (Ding et al., 2003; Jacquin et al., 2008). In this respect, the *Prrxl1*^{-/-} mutation resembles a lemniscally-biased orosensory deafferentation. We emphasize that the deficits cannot be said to be lemniscal specific: in addition to an overall reduction in trigeminal neurons there may be other biophysical and circuitry anomalies within and outside the lemniscal system. Nevertheless, it is clear that the patterning is most disrupted along the lemniscal pathway, hence our use of the term "lemniscal-biased".

The *Prrxl1^{-/-}* animal exhibits many of the deficits seen in the (recovered) peripherally deafferented rat. These include reduced eating efficiency, a reduced body weight, difficulty consuming hard food, and marked incisor overgrowth (Bakalar et al., 2015; Monteiro et al., 2016; Monteiro et al., 2014), reflecting the absence of the normal pattern of bruxism seen in rats with intact orosensory input from the incisors (Wang et al., 2007). The present study was designed to examine the ingestive behavior of this mutant at both a high temporal resolution and over extended timespans, so as to obtain baseline behavioral measures for future studies. We discuss the likelihood that the observed deficits are associated with a disruption in afference specifically along the lemniscal pathway.

2.3 Methods

All methods were approved in advance by the institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) of Northwestern University.

2.3.1 Animals

A *PrrxI*^{+/-} (129/B6 background) mouse was backcrossed three generations to CD1 strain. Subjects were adult wild-type (WT, *PrrxI*1^{+ / +}) and mutant *PrrxI*1^{- / -} (KO) Both female and male mice littermates were used (WT 3 female, 5 male; KO 5 female, 3 male). Range of ages, in months, for both groups was similar (WT 2.3-7.6 starting, 13.6-22.6 ending; KO 4.6-7.6 starting, 12.9-21.1 ending). The *PrrxI*1^{- / -} mice, also known as the DRG11 line in the literature (Chen et al., 2001; Ding et al., 2003; Jacquin et al., 2008), were generated in the Feinstein lab at Hunter College (Bakalar et al., 2015).

Eight WT and eight KO mice were transferred to Northwestern University from Hunter College to participate in experiments on both drinking and feeding behaviors. Mice were at least nine weeks old at the time of transfer to Northwestern and 3-20 months old during data collection. Transferred animals were housed in a reverse light cycle room, 10hr dark:14hr light, with their dark cycle starting after 8am CST. Mice from same litter were co-housed (paired) in a cage for social enrichment.

Prrxl1^{- / -} animals are fragile and require special care to survive to adulthood (Monteiro et al., 2014). Animals were maintained on a standard lab chow diet, supplemented as needed with Bioserv[™] Nutra-Gel Diet[™], a special soft gel formula that provides supplements of both food and water. Because the *Prrxl1*^{-/-} phenotype includes malocclusions, mice were assessed carefully at least three times weekly for signs of incisor overgrowth and the teeth were clipped when necessary. If mice displayed significant signs of distress (hunched posture, ruffled fur, low mobility, significant weight drop) they were temporarily removed from the experiment and given Nutra-Gel until their health was restored. Throughout the period of data gathering, body weights, animal appearances, animal locomotion, and total food eaten was recorded daily.

2.3.2 Experiments on drinking behavior

2.3.2.1 Measurement of licking behavior

Mice were water deprived to a regime of 1 mL per diem, and water ingested during testing was supplemented to provide that daily amount. Testing did not start until at least seven consecutive days of water deprivation and at least 16hrs separated each daily session. All testing was done under IR illumination, with experimenters outside the room. At the start of a session the mouse was placed in a rectangular transparent acrylic elevated enclosure, 8"L×2"W×4"H, with entry/exit access only at one end.

Trials were self-initiated by the mouse leaving the enclosure and seeking the water reward. The session was terminated if the mouse either failed to leave the enclosure or did not begin licking within 15 consecutive minutes. At the start of a session a miniature (hypodermic) stainless steel water tube, coupled to a touch sensor, was positioned 1-4 inches from the entrance of the enclosure using a remotely controlled robotic arm. It was placed such that a mouse could reach the tube with their mouth but not jump on the apparatus. In order to receive a reward, the mouse had to position its head in front of the lick tube, and lick the tube. Immediately after the first lick was detected, a single water droplet (calibrated to 3 – 5 μ L) was delivered. Only one droplet was delivered per trial. All mice continued to lick for some duration after droplet delivery. Between each reward, an inter-reward interval of at least 5 seconds was imposed.

The mice were free either to lick continuously during a trial and wait until the next trial or go back to the enclosure and, after some time, initiate another trial. Mice licked approximately 10 - 30 times for each reward dispensed. The robot arm holding the water dispensing system was not moved during a trial. To ensure that the mice explored the space and to avoid simply training mice on a repetitive set of movements, the tube's position was changed every 5-10 minutes.

Water delivery was controlled by a solenoid valve and custom Arduino program and triggered on a hardware interrupt with millisecond precision. Contact data were collected with an Arduino, and timestamps of event changes recorded. Experimenters monitored this behavior in real-time through a

video feed to verify drinking behavior.

Licking behavior was measured using a capacitive touch sensor (Sparkfun AT42QT1010). The sensor reported state changes and each interaction with the sensor is termed a "Contact-Detach switch" (CD), reflecting either onset or offset of touching the reward tube. Therefore, the present study does not specify lick onsets or offsets, but simply the occurrence of an interaction with the sensor, thus capturing the timepoints of the behavioral transitions. Fig. 2.1A is a raster plot showing all such interactions with the sensor for one mouse on one day.

2.3.2.2 Analysis of licking

The procedure for creating histograms from rasters of licking behavior is depicted in Fig. 2.1B. For each mouse on each day, CD (contact/detach) rasters were summed and then smoothed with a moving window of 51 msec (25 msec on either side of a central value). The value of 51 msec was chosen as a compromise: we aimed to avoid magnifying the variability between trials and between animals, while also not time-averaging over so long a duration that all temporal structure vanished. All histograms were normalized so the area under the curve was 1. Results for values of 11, 51, 81, 101, 201, and 1001 msec are shown in Supplementary Fig. 2.S1.



Figure 2.1 An example of measurements of sensor contact/detaches and procedure for computing histograms.

(A) An example of a raster plot of contacts and detaches (CDs) from one mouse during one session.
 (B) To create histograms quantifying licking behavior, rasters such as that shown in (A) were summed (black trace) and then smoothed with a window of 51 msec (light gray trace, overlaid). The trials are aligned on first lick, so the large value at zero is related to the number of trials.

2.3.3 Experiments on feeding behavior

2.3.3.1 Monitoring food intake

Body weight and total food consumed each day (Chow pellets, Nutra-Gel) were recorded for each animal by subtracting the amount remaining from the amount provided the previous day. To ensure that mice with malocclusions had equal access to hard food, 2-6 pellets of different sizes were dispensed each day both on the cage floor and on the wire lid top.

As described in earlier studies (Monteiro et al., 2016; Monteiro et al., 2014), *Prrxl1^{-/-}* animals occasionally displayed health complications, such as severe malocclusions, transient *alopecia* (particularly in overgroomed caudodorsal areas), poor locomotion, hunched posture and ruffled fur, and transient weight

drops (presumably associated with insufficient consumption of hard food). During these periods, we supplemented the animals with 2-8g of soft food and/or removed them from water restriction and/or provided higher *per diem* water amounts until the symptoms resolved. All the data used in our analyses comes from animals assessed as healthy on the day of data collection.

To control for these variations in diet, the results presented in Fig. 3 include only days when animals were not receiving soft food for at least two days and were not water deprived for at least five consecutive days. Two pairs of WT animals and two pairs of KO animals were from the same litter and co-housed throughout for social enrichment. For these pair-housed individuals, we report the mean consumption per animal, that is, total amount consumed per cage divided by two. Mice were between 2 and 23 months old during the 17 months of food consumption behavior recordings.

2.3.3.2 Assessing feeding behavior

To assess feeding behavior in frame-by-frame (30 fps) video analysis (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.4), a mouse was placed in a 8"L×2"W×4"H acrylic tunnel-shaped enclosure with one open side. The enclosure was elevated one foot above the tabletop so that as the mouse perched on the edge of the enclosure it whisked into empty space, unless an object or reward was deliberately placed within the search space. During periods of exploration the trainer placed a "treat" (a single piece of flavored, sugared cereal (Froot Loop[™]) on a platform or on a tube connected to a robotic arm and then left the room. The mouse had to notice the cereal piece and reach from the tunnel to obtain the cereal. Sometimes the mouse jumped over to the platform to obtain the cereal piece, and then immediately returned to the enclosure with it. Other times the mouse stretched to the platform and grabbed the cereal without leaving the enclosure. Mice always retreated well back into the enclosure to manipulate and consume the cereal piece. A detailed analysis of these "treat trials" was carried out.

Trials in which the mouse successfully obtained the cereal piece and began eating were deemed successful. In some trials, the mouse did not interact with the cereal at all, and on other trials, the mouse's only interaction was to knock the cereal piece off the platform. There were also trials in which the mouse fell out of the enclosure while reaching for the cereal and in which the mouse abandoned its

attempt to obtain the cereal. The numbers of all trial result types were annotated and presented separately.

For each successful trial, we manually scored the times when: 1) the mouse first interacted with the cereal piece; 2) the mouse had the cereal piece in its paws and began eating; 3) the mouse took breaks from eating; and 4) the mouse stopped eating. In the duration between timepoint (2) and time point (4), we recorded the fraction of the cereal piece, rounded to the nearest 25%, every 20 seconds.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 The Prrxl1 mutation: General description

Fig. 2.2 outlines the nature of the *Prrxl1*^{- / -} mutation as it affects topographic trigeminal sensory arrangement into somatotopy, throughout the ascending pathways. In the WT mouse, distinct somatotopy is observed in the lemniscal pathway (PrV, VPM, and S1), as well as in SpVic and SpVc. For the *Prrxl1*^{- / -} deletion, somatotopy is eliminated in PrV, VPM, and SI cortex but remains intact in SpVic and SpVc. Somatotopy in the dorsal column nucleus-based lemniscal and cortical pathway were also found to be unaffected, thus the deficits in the trigeminal system associated with *Prrxl1*^{- / -} deletion are PrV-specific (Ding et al., 2003).

Prrxl1^{- / -} animals were distinguished by a hunched posture and ungroomed fur, which made them recognizable even to untrained observers. These traits were not present on all mutant animals, and only intermittently present even for those mutants that did display them. Consistent with previous reports, we also observed that the KO animals sometimes had *alopecia* or skin lesions, which appeared intermittently and resolved over time. A smaller subset of KO animals tended to vocalize frequently (within the range audible by humans) during handling.



Figure 2.2 Prrxl1 deletion results in genetic ablation of somatotopy selectively along the lemniscal pathway.

Somatotopic patterning and feedforward projections of the lemniscal (Lemn., orange) paralemniscal (Para., green), and extralemniscal (Ext., blue) pathways in WT and *Prrxl1^{-/-}* mice. In *Prrxl1^{-/-}* mice, topographic arrangement into somatotopy is spared in SpVic and SpVc but abolished in PrV, VPM, and SI cortex - throughout the lemniscal pathway. Shaded regions mark nuclei with somatotopy present in wildtype animals. Barrel-like somatotopic patterns redrawn from (Durham & Woolsey, 1984; Meyer et al., 2013; Petersen, 2019).

2.4.2 KO mice consume less hard food and maintain lower body weights than WT

mice

It was sometimes necessary to provide soft food to the KO animals to maintain their body weight and resolve transient health complications (*Methods*). To assess the animals' ability to consume hard food pellets we selected periods when they had had *ad lib* access to water for at least 5 days and had received no soft food for the previous 2 days.

Fig. 2.3 summarizes body weight and hard food consumption for WT and KO mice for these periods (sexes and ages in *Methods*). KO mice weighed significantly less than WT mice throughout the time course of 16 months that animals were housed in our facility (Fig. 2.3A WT 42.52±7.07, Prrxl1KO 28.41±3.95; mean ± std). All but one WT mouse maintained consistently higher weight than all the KO mice (individual distributions plotted on right inset of Fig. 2.3A).

Because the weight data suggested that KO animals were eating less food, we next quantified the

amount of hard food consumed on each day (Fig. 2.3B). The weight of the hard pellets present in the cage on a given day was subtracted from the weight of the food placed in the cage on the previous day. On average, WT mice consumed slightly more hard food (WT 4.66 ± 1.03 grams, KO 3.41 ± 0.32 grams; mean \pm std, p=0.006 two-sided T-test). 6 out of 8 KO mice ate less, on average, than the WT mouse with the lowest average consumption. However, the distributions for KO and WT animals overlap substantially, a puzzling result given the large discrepancy in body weights. One possible explanation is that KO mice may exhibit inefficient eating behavior, such that when they bite the hard food pellets, a portion is lost on the cage floor as small fragments that could not be measured in the present experiment. An inefficient "sloppy eater" phenotype was previously observed in *Prrx/1*^{-/-} animals that were reared and maintained on a liquid diet (Bakalar et al., 2015).

Although animals with lower body weight tended to consume less food, there was no clear relationship between these variables when plotted across animals (Fig. 2.3C). *Prrxl1*^{-/-} animals both weigh less and eat less on average compared to WT, but this weight and food consumption relationship is not linear. Similarly, for the WT animals, for example male WT, no clear relationship exists between the variables. Interestingly, however, both groups exhibit much less variability in the weight maintained, despite large swings in daily food consumed, suggesting a homeostatic regulation of energy expenditure.

We next sought to quantify the eating efficiency of both KO and WT animals for sweet hard food (sugared cereal), which is strongly preferred by the mice.



Figure 2.3 Body weights and daily food intake of WT and KO mice. Data are shown for days of unrestricted access to hard food and water with at least 5 preceding consecutive *ad lib* water days. (A) Comparison of weights for WT and KO mice over a 17 month period. Wildtype mice (left panel, blue hues) consistently maintain higher body weights than KO mice

(right panel, red hues). Data are colored by sex in this and all subsequent panels. Only one WT animal overlaps with the KO population (individual distributions as inset on far right. WT=blue/right, KO=red/left) (B) On average, KO mice (red distributions, right side) consumed less hard food than wildtype mice (blue distributions, left side): WT 4.66±1.03 g, PrrxI1KO 3.41± 0.32 g; mean ± std, p=0.006, two-sided T-test. Six out of eight KO animals have means equal to or lower than the lowest WT. Interquartile ranges are plotted as dark bars. Population distributions plotted as inset on the far right using the same color scheme. (C) Relationship between weight and food consumed. Means and interquartile ranges are shown for both variables. None of the subgroup (e.g., male WT, dark blue) display a clear relationship between the variables. For all animals, weight is maintained within a tight range for the measured conditions (horizontal solid IQR lines), whereas food consumption varies considerably daily (vertical dotted IQR lines).

2.4.3 Prrxl1-/- mice are less efficient and less precise in their eating behavior

To measure eating efficiency, mice were presented with a single piece of sugared cereal, in a dark room, with the experimenter absent and their localization and consumption behaviors quantified. A schematic of the setup is shown in Figure 2.4A. Mice had to perch from a housing enclosure, localize the cereal placed on an elevated platform with a gap between the enclosure and the platform, and grasp the cereal with their mouth. Fig. 2.4B shows individual example video frames of the recorded behavior. Table 2.1 summarizes our findings on the behavioral variables.

The oral grasping behavior of KO mice was infrequent and inefficient compared to wildtype animals. KO animals interacted with the cereal on only 50% of the trials, compared to 75% for WT animals. On those trials in which the animals did interact with the food, all but one of WT animals (7/8; 88%) successfully grasped the cereal on nearly all (17/20; 85%) trials. In contrast, less than half of the animals (3/8; 38%) were successful in grasping. In addition, those KO animals that were successful in grasping, were successful on less than half of the trials (7/15; 47%). The remaining 5/8 KO animals either did not interact with the food (2/5 animals) or did not successfully grasp it (3/5) to start an eating session. KO mice often bumped into the cereal and knocked it off the stage or abandoned attempts to eat.

No difference between the genotypes was found in the time it took the animal to find the food, because this "discovery duration" depended on what the mouse happened to be doing at the time of its presentation. If the mouse was already at the edge of the tunnel, then it found the cereal rapidly (within 1 - 2 seconds), whereas if it was turned away from the tunnel entrance then it took much longer to find the cereal (several minutes). Similarly, no differences were observed in the number of approaches that WT

and KO mice made towards the food (usually 1-3 approaches for both genotypes). Approaches were scored as times when the mice moved with their head or body oriented towards the food, whether or not they continued to interact with the food.

We next analyzed the minute-by-minute ingestion behavior for all 7 KO trials and 15/17 WT trials with successful cereal grasping (Fig. 2.4C). Note, this analysis necessarily involves a small number of trials, since the mutants were so unsuccessful in obtaining the "treat". Two of the WT trials (mouse 7) were not analyzed because the animal knocked the cereal piece off the platform after it had started eating. Two of the three KO mice that obtained and consumed the cereal displayed eating durations more than twice as long as any of the WT mice. One of the KO mice was unable to finish more than half of the cereal, in all four trials. Only one of the three KO mouse was successful in rapidly eating the entire cereal in the two trials where they tried. In contrast, all WT mice showed fast and efficient eating behavior: on only 2/17 trials did a WT mouse stop eating the cereal part ways. KO mice eating trials, 13/15 WT trials) was substantially lower than that of WT animals (Table 2.1, last row).

In summary, a detailed comparison of the ingestive behavior of WT and KO mice, at sub-second temporal resolution, indicates that *Prrxl1*- /- mice tend to be less efficient in oral grasping of food and modulating oromotor sequences for eating.

Behavior	Wildtype animals	Prrxl1-/- animals
No interaction with cereal piece trials	7/27 trials	15/30 trials
Interaction with cereal piece trials	20/27 trials	15/30 trials
Knocked down cereal piece	1/20 trials	5/15 trials
Abandoned cereal after attempting	1/20 trials	2/15 trials
Fell while trying to obtain cereal	1/20 trials	1/15 trials
Successfully obtained cereal piece	17/20 trials	7/15 trials
Average eating rate (g/minute)	Median : 0.063	Median : 0.012
	Range : 0.020- 0.132	Range : 0.005-0.069

Table 2.1 Acquisition and consumption of a piece of sugared cereal quantified for WT and Prrxl1-/- animals.
 Prrxl1-/



Figure 2.4 Consumption of a piece of sugared cereal as a function of time.

(A) A schematic of the experimental setup: (1) Mouse enclosure. (2) Remotely controlled robotic arm. (3) Clear acrylic platform for food placement. (4) Sugared treat. (5) Infrared illumination. (B) Example video frames during food acquisition. Numbers refer to the same components as in (A). Three frames capturing food acquisition behavior are shown, starting at the moment when the mouse first encounters the cereal at 5s after exploration bout initiation, and ending with the retrieval of the food treat for consumption in the safety of the enclosure at 6.6s. (C) Each light gray horizontal rectangle indicates a separate trial, with mouse number and trial number indicated on the far right. The vertical axis for each rectangle ranges between 0% and 100%, as indicated for the top plot. The 0% location is marked on the vertical axis for each trial separately. Horizontal grid lines across each rectangle indicate the 25%, 50%, and 75% levels. Data points are located every 20 seconds (dots). Within each trial, dark gray regions indicate times during which mice took breaks from eating. Plots in red show data for KO mice while plots in black show data for WT animals.

2.4.4 KO animals exhibit less consistent and less persistent licking behavior than

WT animals

When water was delivered through a reward spout, both WT and KO animals licked approximately 10-30 times for each reward dispensed. Examples of typical contact-detach (CD) rasters for a WT and KO mouse are shown in Fig. 5A. In this example, the WT mouse (mouse 4) generated 69, 100, and 122 drinking trials during its first three sessions, respectively. For three equivalent sessions, a KO mouse (mouse 11, red right panel) initiated 69, 67, and 89 trials. Given that the mice had equal opportunities for licking, these data suggest a reduced responsiveness to water in the KO mouse. Inspection of Fig. 5A also suggests a reduction in the persistence of such interactions in the KO mouse, as reflected in the reduced density of the tick marks in the raster. Finally, the raster suggests higher variability in the KO behavior and less trial-to-trial consistency: later trials in each session have a lower density of events than trials earlier in a session.

While the wildtype example in Fig. 5A (left, black) shows a possible learning effect, with the event rate (density of contacts) shifting earlier for later sessions, this observation was not consistent throughout the population of WT animals, and we do not quantify any across sessions learning effects.

Fig. 5B-C generalize and quantify these results over all mice. The data plotted in Fig. 5B show that individual mice varied greatly in the number of trials generated during each session. KO mice tended to

perform significantly fewer trials than WT (mean \pm std: 64 \pm 36 trials/session versus 107 \pm 71 trials/session; p = 0.012, two-sided t-test). Notably, four of the WT mice (mice 1, 6, 7, and 8) had one or more sessions in which they performed 150 trials or more, while none of the KO mice ever performed more than 145 trials per session.

Fig. 5C indicates that KO mice were also less consistent in their licking responses. The number of CDs in the first 10 trials of each session did not differ between KO and WT groups, suggesting a similar level of initial thirst. However, 5/8 KO mice generated fewer CDs in the last 10 trials of each session compared to the first 10 trials. Four of those five animals exhibited a ~67% reduction. In contrast, only two of the eight WT animals showed a reduction in the number of CDs in the last 10 trials compared to the first 10 trials. Moreover, that reduction was less severe (only ~50% of the starting trials). Taken together, results in Fig. 3B-C suggest a systemic reduction in responsiveness to water in KO animals, replicating the results of deafferentation studies.

An alternative explanation for the data of Fig. 5C is that KO mice could have increased their licking rate mid-session and then fatigued earlier, thus generating fewer total trials as well as fewer CDs at the end of the session. However, when we compare the entire distribution of CDs per trial for each animal in Fig. 5D, the two populations overlap. Moreover, the mean animal CDs per trial differ in a direction opposite to that which would be predicted from a higher mid-session licking response in KO animals (mean \pm std: 23.2 \pm 9.9 CD/trials for KO versus 29.4 \pm 5.8 CDs/trial for WT; p > 0.17, two-sided t-test), with 3/8 KO mice showing a smaller mean CD/trial from any of the WT animals.



Figure 2.5 Knockout animals are less persistent and less consistent in their drinking behavior. Comparison of number of trials performed per experimental session, and number of CDs per trial for WT and KO mutant mice. (A) Typical CD raster plots WT (mouse 4, left) and KO (mouse 11, right). Each tick represents either a contact or a detach from the lick sensor. Both mice participated in three experimental sessions; sessions are divided by cyan horizontal lines. (B) WT (mice 1-8, black) tended to perform more trials than KO (mice 9-16, red). Means for both cohorts are shown as black horizontal lines, with standard deviations indicated by semi-transparent gray and red rectangles, respectively. (C) KO mice were less consistent in licking during a trial than the WT mice. Mouse numbers and colors as in (B). Licking activity for five of the eight KO mice falls well below the diagonal, while WT mice cluster close to the equality line. (D) This plot controls for the possibility that KO animals have a higher lick rate than WT and thus fatigue more quickly. KO and WT animals perform, on average, the same number of licks per trial (mean ± std: 23.2 ± 9.9 CD/trials for KO versus 29.4 ± 5.8 CDs/trial for WT; p > 0.17, two-sided t-test). Thus, the difference in the number of trials per session (B) and the decreased lick rate towards the end of the session (C) are not explained by a difference in effort spent per trial. Mouse numbers and colors as in (B).

2.4.5 Relation between eating and drinking behaviors

Because it is well-known that food and water intake are correlated (Possidente & Birnbaum, 1979), we

next show a comparison of the daily food consumption data and the number of lick trials (Fig. 2.6). Within a genotype, animals that performed many licking trials also tended to consume more daily food, and conversely, animals that tended to eat less daily also performed fewer lick trials. In addition, the ingestive data space suggests a functional division between the two genotypes, with Prrxl1^{-/-} occupying a distinct, but partially overlapping region with wildtype mice. With the previous findings suggesting a sensory driven ingestive deficit, we next examine the temporal profiles of the licking behavior time course.



Figure 2.6. A comparison of food consumption and the number of licking trials. Within a genotype, animals that performed more licking trials also ate more and animals that ate less tended to perform fewer licking trials. Two of the eight mutant animals (#13 and #14) display more severe food intake issues. Both groups occupy separate regions that partially overlap, suggesting two functionally distinct group in this projection of the ingestive behavior space.

2.4.6 WT and KO mice differ significantly in the time course of licking and ability

to modulate licking rate

Fig. 2.7 compares the time course of licking for WT and KO mice populations as reflected in histograms

generated from the raster plots (see *Methods*). WT mice (Fig. 2.7A, black/grey traces) exhibited a pronounced modulation of licking rate upon sensory contact. This change in the lick rate starts a few milliseconds after first contact, when water delivery occurs, and peaks 100-1000 msec after reward delivery. The population histogram for all KO mice (Fig. 2.7B) displays considerably more variability, with some trials showing a decrease in licking between 100-1000 msec, followed by its resumption near 1000 msec. The standard deviation of the CD histogram shown in Fig. 2.7B is particularly broad between 100-1000 msec, suggesting that after their initial contact with the water tube, KO mice are differentially delayed at initiating repetitive licking motions, and there is larger inter-trial or inter-animal variability in this consummatory time window. In addition, the variability appears bimodal and symmetric, so that the mean of the KO CD histogram is essentially flat. The inset to panel 2.7B overlays the mean liking rates for WT and KO animals, revealing one of the strongest differences in orosensation observed.

To more closely examine the bimodal variability across the KO mice, Fig. 2.7C shows the time course of licking behavior for each mouse in order to assess the difference and consistency in the amount of lick modulation between the two groups. All WT mice modulate their licking response, precisely and rapidly upon sensory contact. In contrast, only two out of the eight KO mice (animals 9 and 13) show modest modulation of their licking behavior (8/8 WT versus 2/8 KO; p = 0.007, Fisher's exact test). The modulation is significantly delayed, starting after 500ms and peaking around 1s after water reward onset.



Figure 2.7 Time course of licking in WT (black and gray) and KO (red and pink) mice.

(A) All wildtype mice showed a peak in licking behavior between 1-1000 msec after the water reward was dispensed. The black curve shows the mean of the CD histogram computed across all sessions and all days for all wildtype mice. Plus, and minus standard deviation around the mean is shaded gray. (B) $Prrx/1^{-/-}$ mice showed much more variable licking behavior. The red curve shows the mean of the CD histogram computed across all sessions and all days for all $Prrx/1^{-/-}$ mice, with plus and minus standard deviation around the mean shaded light red. The *inset* overlays the mean CD counts for WT and KO animals (C) All individual mice CD histograms with a bin size of 51ms. All y-axes go to 12 CD counts/bin unless labeled with an axis break, in which case the maximum y-value is labeled.

2.5 Discussion

In the present study we examine food and water intake and the temporal organization of eating and drinking movements in the PrrxI1^{-/-} mutant mouse. With appropriate husbandry (Monteiro et al., 2014), this mutant can initiate drinking, eat hard food, and live an extended life. This is an important consideration in view of its unique contribution as a model system for the study of such problems as pain, ingestive behaviors, and the origin and significance of somatotopic patterning in the mammalian somatosensory system.

2.5.1 Trigeminal central pathways and the control of feeding behavior in rodents

Deafferentation studies (e.g., (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983), reviewed in (Zeigler et al., 1985)) have clearly identified trigeminal afference as a key source of the peripheral feedback signals driving ingestive behavior in rodents. The data in the present study were obtained in a preparation quite different from deafferented rats, and also quite different from the *Prrx11*^{-/-} KO described in (Bakalar et al., 2015). In neither of these earlier studies could the animals generate the ingestive behaviors required to maintain themselves on hard food. In contrast, the present mice, through a combination of improved husbandry and outbreeding to the CD1 mouse strain, could generate well-organized ingestive behavior sequences. In this respect, they resemble recovered deafferented animals, who could sustain themselves on hard food (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983). The behavior of both the deafferented rats and the *Prrx11*^{-/-} mice reflects an adjustment to chronic afferent disruption, but on two different time scales: short-term, during recovery, for the deafferented rats; long-term, from birth, in the mutant. The *Prrx11*^{-/-} mutant thus allows the study of ingestive behavior in an animal whose ingestive motor sequences are present, but whose trigeminal central pathways are genetically perturbed throughout its life.

The present work shows that *Prrxl1^{-/-}* animals can perch from an enclosure and use their tactile senses in complete darkness to find and subsequently consume water from a water spout whose position in space was randomly varied over time. They could also lick this spout to initiate a water reward. They did not differ from WT in the amount of licking elicited by a water reward. Importantly, they were able to ingest hard food and were viable, though at significantly reduced body weights than WT mice. Where they most

resembled the deafferented rats or early mutant mice was in the reduced efficiency of their ingestive behavior. This was most dramatically shown in the increase in unsuccessful grasps and in the increased time taken to consume a given unit of food.

2.5.2 Trigeminal modulation of oromotor sequences operates across several timescales

Eating and drinking are guided by a continuous stream of sensory information. While olfaction and vision provide distance information for localizing nutrient sources, successful ingestion depends upon a continuous assessment of the texture, hardness, temperature, and other mechanosensory properties of a food which guide the initial grasping and subsequent intraoral manipulation of the food source. All these behaviors are mediated by the jaw motor system (which is intact in the mutant) so that their impairment suggests a break in the flow of orosensory, primarily trigeminal, mechanosensory afference which elicits and modulates licking, grasping, chewing, and intraoral manipulation behaviors. This disruption operates over multiple timescales.

On a reflex timescale, an earlier study (Zeigler, Semba, & Jacquin, 1984) showed (1) that the jaw opening elicited by perioral contact of the face with a food pellet or sipper tube in the normal rat was either abolished or significantly delayed in peri-orally deafferented rats; (2) that mechanical or electrical stimulation of the orofacial region elicited reflex activity in the motoneurons of the jaw-opener muscle; and, (3) that the most effective sites for eliciting activity in the jaw-openers appeared to cluster about the region of the upper lip and superior portions of the oral cavity. Indeed, for this region, mechanical displacement of less than 1 g with a Von Frey hair was often sufficient to elicit jaw motoneuron activity in these anesthetized preparations. These observations suggest that oral and perioral regions originate the afferent component of trigeminal sensorimotor circuitry that monitors the presence and location of food and water sources and that provides continuous, moment-to moment-feedback during normal licking, grasping and intraoral manipulation. Furthermore, input from the teeth also generates the bruxism which, in normal rodents, prevents the development of malocclusion---a defining phenotype of the *Prrxl1*^{-/-} mutant.

The role of trigeminal afference in modulating either the initiation of, or ongoing, ingestive behaviors

extends to longer chronic timescales in both "recovered" deafferented and *Prrxl1*-^{-/-} preparations. The reduction in weight and consumption rates reflects an adaptive adjustment to chronically reduced sensory input, and confirms the contribution of trigeminal afference in modulating responsiveness to food (Jacquin & Zeigler, 1983). These results link trigeminal orosensation to internal states of hunger and appetitive control (Zeigler, 1994); e.g., hedonic salience (Berridge & Kringelbach, 2008).

We emphasize that in the present study, analysis of the drinking experiments reveals a deficit in the fine control of orofacial motor activity, on the timescale of milliseconds. In contrast, analysis of the eating experiments is less conclusive. The deficits observed during eating could result from lack of interest in food or the fact that KO animals have smaller mouths. Regardless, the present work describes deficits observed at multiple spatiotemporal scales: from very fine modulation of motor circuits implicated by the drinking data, to potential changes in motivation and the consequences of altered body morphology.

The effects of reduced trigeminal afference on the modulation of ongoing oromotor behaviors is especially striking at intermediate timescales, on the order of 100's of ms. Indeed, the striking contrast between the precise and rapid modulation of licking rates observed in the wildtype animals and its delayed or complete absence in *Prrxl1^{-/-}* suggests a disrupted sensory-motor loop connecting trigeminal inputs to oromotor circuits. The timing of this behavior, which is delayed by hundreds of milliseconds in the mutant, suggests that in the mutants we are not dealing simply with the effects at a reflex level but with the involvement of higher order circuits. There is substantial top-down innervation of trigeminal sensory nuclei (M. F. Jacquin et al., 1990; Killackey et al., 1989; Smith et al., 2015; Wise & Jones, 1977), and this input modulates *in vivo* neural responses (Chakrabarti & Schwarz, 2018; Furuta et al., 2010). In addition, decorticate preparations have suggested a modulatory role for higher order structures in ingestive behaviors (Whishaw et al., 1981). The relative contributions of cortical vs brainstem structures to the trigeminal control of ingestive behaviors are important questions for future research in this mutant.

2.5.3 A hypothesized selective role for the lemniscal pathway modulating ongoing ingestive behavior

The impairments described in this report have two possible explanations. First, they could result solely from the overall reduced cell number in Vg, SpVi, and PrV, or from other cellular and biophysical deficits which may as yet be unidentified. The reduced cell number would in turn reduce signal fidelity in any or all these structures. Alternatively, the ingestive impairments could be a result of a selective disruption in trigeminal afference along the lemniscal pathway.

Support for this hypothesis comes from the study by Ding, et al (Ding et al., 2003) of the impact of PrrxI1 deletion on the lemniscal pathway. First, *PrrxI1* is not expressed in SpVi (Ding et al., 2003; Rebelo et al., 2007) or in lamina III or IV or SpVc, where barrelettes develop. It is expressed in PrV (where barrelettes are abolished with the gene deletion) and lamina I and II of SpVc (layers that don't include barrelettes). Correspondingly, barrelette patterning is normal in SpVic (the extralemniscal brainstem nucleus) and SpVc but absent in PrV (the lemniscal nucleus). Second, the absence of this patterning is associated with a reorganized axonal projection pattern at multiple stages along the lemniscal pathway. Not only do afferents to PrV fail to organize into clear whisker-specific clusters, but thalamic inputs to layer IV S1 cortex distribute uniformly instead of organizing into barrel-sized clusters as observed in WT animals (Ding et al., 2003). Lesion studies have shown that the origin of this sensory map disorganization throughout the lemniscal pathway must lie in PrV itself, and not in thalamus or cortex, where *PrrxI1* is not expressed (Killackey & Fleming, 1985).

Given the well-known feedback projections from S1 to PrV (Killackey et al., 1989; Smith et al., 2015; Wise & Jones, 1977), disorganization of these thalamocortical inputs seems likely to contribute to the behavioral disruptions at the intermediate timescale. Disordered sensory organization may cause temporally-jittered, or noisy, flow of trigeminal information leading to the impaired modulation of ingestive behavior. A selective role for the lemniscal pathway is also suggested by the observation that the ingestive impairments of the *Prrxl1^{- / -}* animals included not only problems with the oral grasping manipulation of food objects, but with their initial localization (Table 1), suggesting some disruption in

vibrissal sensory localization function. The extent to which altered circuit properties and temporal jitter affect the *Prrxl1^{-/-}* mutant will require electrophysiological studies comparing the response properties of SpVi and PrV neurons in wildtype and mutant animals.

Prrxl1 is also expressed in the geniculate ganglion (GG) (Rebelo et al., 2007). This sensory ganglion receives gustatory information from the anterior two-thirds of the tongue, as well as mechanosensory input from the outer ear (pinna). *Prrxl1* expression in the GG thus raises the possibility that gustatory afferents might be affected by its deletion. However, a recent transcriptomic study showed that the neurons in GG that express Prrxl1 are those that receive mechanosensory input from the pinna (Dvoryanchikov et al., 2017). This result rules out disruptions in lingual afference or gustation as the main mechanisms for the observed deficits.

This study cannot rule out the possibility that the observed ingestive deficits result from biophysical and circuitry anomalies that lie outside the lemniscal system. Nevertheless, it is clear that functional anatomy is most disrupted along the lemniscal pathway, hence our use of the term "lemniscal-biased." Notably, the deficits are not attributable to a specific loss of motor output. For example, during drinking behavior, WT and KO animals exhibit similar lick distributions, and they also lick at approximately the same rates when highly motivated (the first 10 trials of each day). During eating behavior, at least one animal, on one trial, was able to eat at the same rate as a WT animal. Thus, the gene ablation is an important partial functional knockout, allowing observation of graded behavioral responses. Our data are consistent with deafferentation studies which left motor nerves intact but globally abolished sensory input. Moreover, they are consistent with prior studies that have described sensory anatomical deficits in this mouse model (Chen et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2007). The extent to which finer motor output components may contribute to this model's ingestive deficits, can be the subject of future anatomical and physiological studies.

Recent findings on vibrissal tactile sensing have suggested that the lemniscal pathway may make a unique contribution to sensory coding in the trigeminal system. Yu Et al. (Yu et al., 2006) and Moore Et al. (Moore et al., 2015) showed that neurons in the trigeminal lemniscal, but not the paralemniscal pathway are "substantially modulated" by both touch and self-motion, a coding property which is likely to be critical

for whisker-mediated discrimination. Chakrabarti and Schwarz (Chakrabarti & Schwarz, 2018) recorded from both PrV and SpVi neurons to show that sensory gating during an active whisking task affects the lemniscal, but not the extralemniscal, processing stream, and that modulatory input comes from sensorimotor cortex.

In summary, our results indicate that the ordered assembly of trigeminal sensory information is critical for the rapid and precise modulation of motor circuits driving ingestive action sequences. This trigeminal modulation is observed at multiple timescales, from milliseconds, to minutes, to months, tightly linking somatosensation and ingestion, from moment-to-moment consummatory to long term appetitive control. Our data also suggest that the lemniscal component of the ascending trigeminal pathway makes a significant contribution to that process.

2.6 Supporting information



Supplementary Figure 2.S1 Licking contacts and detaches (CDs) shown for different smoothing windows.

An example of a raster plot of contacts and detaches (CDs) from one mouse during one session shown in top panel. Effect of smoothing the summed histogram from the raster data on the top panel shown for window sizes of 11, 51, 81, 101, 201, and 1001 ms in respectively labeled panels. Black traces: summed raster data in 1ms bins, same for all smoothed histograms and overlaid for comparison. Light gray traces: the temporally smoothed average. Based on these temporal averaged data, 51ms time window chosen as the window size that preserves the temporal profile and averages out the intertrial noise. The trials are aligned on first contact, so the large value at zero is related to the number of trials.

Chapter 3 : Whisking-head coordination in naturalistic volumetric behaviors and behavioral interrogation of trigeminal sensory disorganization in the lemniscal pathway

3.1 Introduction

This chapter describes a novel behavioral setup and methodology for recording volumetric haptic exploratory behaviors that probe whisking-head coordination and haptic environment interactions in freely moving mice. We have collected a large dataset of naturalistic whisking and exploratory behaviors recorded in both wildtype and Prrxl1^{-/-} mouse models (see Chapter 2 for detailed description of this model). At the time of the writing of this thesis, analyses for this dataset are still ongoing and results will appear in future publications. Here, I present the motivation for the work in the introduction, followed by methodology, describe the dataset and analyses that can exploit this dataset, preliminary results of whisking kinematics, and conclude with discussion on importance of obtaining these unbiased, untrained datasets as a means for investigating cross-modal and active sensing behaviors.

The functional neural organization of rodent whisker somatosensory ascending streams is characterized by two hallmark features: parallelization and somatotopy (Fig 3.1). The primary sensory neurons of the system reside in the trigeminal ganglion (Zucker & Welker, 1969) and bifurcate to send parallelized input simultaneously to all trigeminal sensory brainstem nuclei (Clarke & Bowsher, 1962; Hayashi, 1980; Torvik, 1956), intermixing and even combining multiple mechanoreceptor types (Sakurai et al., 2013).

This common input gives rise to at least three named parallel ascending steams: 1) Lemniscal pathway originating in the principle trigeminal nucleus (PrV), which relays through the dorsomedial portion of the ventral posteromedial thalamus (VPMdI) to terminate in layer IV of primary somatosensory cortex (S1); 2) Paralemniscal pathway originating in spinal trigeminal nucleus interporlaris, rostral subdivision (SpVir), which relays through the posteromedial complex of the thalamus (PoM) to secondary somatosensory cortex (S2), vibrissal motor cortex (wM1), and layer Va of S1; 3) Extralemniscal pathway originating in the SpVi caudal subdivision (SpVic), which relays through VPM ventrolateral region (VPMvI) to S2 and layer Vb of S1 (El-Boustani et al., 2020; Pierret et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2006).

The second feature, somatotopic anatomy, where nearby neural areas receive information from nearby whiskers, organizes sensory information topographically into cylindrically shaped neural clusters, termed barrels in somatosensory cortex (Woolsey & Van der Loos, 1970), barreloids in thalamus (Van Der Loos, 1976) and barrelettes (Ma & Woolsey, 1984) in trigeminal brainstem nuclei. This topography is observed via cytochrome oxidase staining and other labeling methods throughout the lemniscal pathway and in the extralemniscal brainstem nucleus, but not in the paralemniscal nucleus.

While topographic sensory organization in other modalities, such as retinotopy in vision (Dräger, 1975; Tusa et al., 1978), has been well studied and functional roles like ocular dominance (Hubel & Wiesel, 1977; Kremkow et al., 2016; LeVay et al., 1975; Najafian et al., 2019) and visual stimulus orientation columns (Bonhoeffer & Grinvald, 1991; Cossell et al., 2015; Hubel & Wiesel, 1963; Kremkow et al., 2016; Ohki et al., 2006) have been found in neural representations, the exact function of somotatopic maps of the ascending trigeminal parallel pathways remains a mystery. Moreover, it has not yet been established whether these maps have unique behavioral relevance in different pathways, and whether disruption of sensory organization along a somatosensory stream causes specific behavioral deficits.

Similar to sightless humans haptically exploring surface contours and changes in curvature (Lederman & Klatzky, 1987; Tramper & Flanders, 2013), freely moving rodents performing whisker localization tasks integrate over both temporally related and spatially related sensory inputs (Horev et al., 2011). Progressive entanglement of the movement signals with the afferent and re-afferent whisker sensory streams converges a motor-sensory-motor process into the perception of object location required to solve a localization task. The recently characterized contact-free asynchronous and asymmetric bilateral movement of the whisker arrays (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Towal & Hartmann, 2006; Towal et al., 2012) functionally resembles human bimanual haptic tracking (Rosenbaum et al., 2006). In addition, haptic exploration tasks have shown that rats modulate the contact duration with an object overtime, display modification of whisking patterns termed touch-induced pumps (Deutsch et al., 2012), vary array spread by significantly decreasing it during unexpected surface exploration (Grant et al., 2009) and are able to maintain whisking velocity under windy conditions in an object localization task (Saraf-Sinik et al., 2015).

This exquisite control of whiskers in rodents is coordinated with head movements (Towal & Hartmann, 2006), modulated by sensory input (Grant et al., 2009; Mitchinson et al., 2007), and is under modification by environment context (Arkley et al., 2014). These studies in planar environments in freely moving rats are supported by classical conditioning experiments in head-fixed rats which have shown ability of rats to learn to vary basic kinematic parameters of whisking, such as amplitude and frequency in a stimulus-dependent manner (Bermejo et al., 1996; Gao et al., 2003), strongly suggesting voluntary control of this active sensing behavior.

However, there is a lack of data and studies that can characterize complete three-dimensional, more naturalistic, head-movement and whisking behaviors. These ethologically important experiments are desirable given that rodent whiskers protrude from the mystacial pad forming a three-dimensional space and this embedding creates a dynamic search volume around the face of the animal (Huet & Hartmann, 2014). Whiskers are preferentially used over vision in a platform jumping task when the platform is at a different vertical placement (Schiffman et al., 1970). Rats make frequent and extensive head pitching movements and head movement and orientation dictates eye movements to maintain an overhead binocular field (Wallace et al., 2013), leaving the whiskers as the sole rapid proximal detectors of immediate space underneath and beside their heads during volumetric searches. The significance of head pitch and head-whisker coordination in the climbing and burrowing of multilayered environments during active tactile exploration and habitat navigation of rodents (Finkelstein et al., 2016) is an important open question.

In addition, findings in freely moving rats have not yet been investigated or replicated in the mouse model, partially due to the difficulty in tracking mouse whisking behavior. There is significant differences between rats and mice in the whisking kinematic variables, with mice whisking more than twice the frequency of rats (Jin et al., 2004). With recent advances in mouse large scale neural recordings and psychophysics experiments in head-fixed animals that have shown surface, shape, localization and object orientation discriminations (Brown et al., 2021; Hires et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Rodgers et al., 2021), there is a

need to replicate freely moving rat findings, and compare behavior between both head-fixed and freely moving conditions as well as between species and perceptual models driving behavior.

With the help of recent advances in machine learning and deep neural networks enabled body parts and pose estimations (DeepLabCut, (Mathis et al., 2018)), we aim to track and characterize freely moving behaviors of mice performing a series of naturalistic, self-initiated tasks embedded in three-dimensions. These freely moving behaviors answer questions about behavioral strategies and head-whisker coordination during haptic volumetric search. Paradigms described include voluntary, naturalistic, self-initiated object detection, object localization, gap crossing, wall and vertical entrance localization, and shape habituation/dishabituation. Comparison between wildtype and Prrxl1^{-/-} lemniscal sensory disorganization mouse models in this dataset will attribute behaviorally relevant functions to sensory topography along the lemniscal pathway and put bounds on time parameters for behavior which can aid in modeling underlying neural circuits topology and computations.


Figure 3.1 Ascending parallel somatosensory pathways.

Feed-forward simplified pathways of the vibrissae-barrel neuraxis. 3 labeled pathways are shown, colored separately. 2 of the 3 ascending pathways, lemniscal and extralemniscal display topography as evidenced by somatotopic arrangement in respectively labeled nuclei. In the Prrx1^{-/-} mouse model, somatotopy is abolished throughout the lemniscal pathway. Heavy top-down innervation of all pathways exists from sensorimotor cortex into brainstem trigeminal sensory complex (red arrow). Whisker follicle and example spike train upon touch is illustrated as the start of the afferent signal.

3.2 Methods

All methods were approved in advance by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of Northwestern University.

3.2.1 Animals

Subjects were adult wild-type (WT) and mutant Prrxl1^{-/-}(KO) mice based on the CD1 strain. Both female and male mice were used (WT 3 female, 5 male; KO 5 female, 3 male). Range of ages, in months, for both groups was similar (WT 2.3-7.6 starting, 13.6-22.6 ending; KO 4.6-7.6 starting, 12.9-21.1 ending). The Prrxl1^{-/-} mice, also known as the DRG11 line in the literature (Ding et al., 2003; Jacquin et al., 2008), were generated in the Feinstein lab at Hunter College (Bakalar et al., 2015).

Eight WT and eight KO mice were transferred to Northwestern University from Hunter College to participate in experiments on both drinking and feeding behaviors. Mice were at least nine weeks old at the time of transfer to Northwestern and 3-20 months old during data collection. Transferred animals were housed in a reverse light cycle room, 10hr dark:14hr light, with their dark cycle starting after 8am CST. Mice from same litter were co-housed (paired) in a cage for social enrichment.

For details on the Prrxl1 knockout line, see Chapter 2 methods.

3.2.2 Experimental setup

The behavioral paradigms were designed to encourage mice to search in a volumetric space and interact with objects placed in that space. The experimental setup, depicted in Fig 3.2, consisted of: 1) a rectangular transparent acrylic elevated (2ft) enclosure (8"L×2"W×4"H) with single entrance/exit point; 2)

2 high-speed 300 frames per second monochromatic cameras (Dalsa Genie HM640) fitted with zoom lenses; 3) an array of custom built high-power infrared LEDs (IR, >750 nm) placed in flexible gooseneck mounts which provided backlit illumination; 4) a robotic arm controllable in real time by the experimenters (Dobot Magician, DOBOT); 5) A series of interactive objects including custom built acrylic platforms, hypodermic tube poles, or 3D printed shapes mounted to the robotic arm end effector; 6) custom built beam break circuits that triggered entry/exit of an animal at the edge of the enclosure and 7) a microcontroller (Arduino Mega2560) that ran the paradigm's state machine, triggered cameras, detected beam breaks and powered the IR sources.



Figure 3.2 Experimental setup. Components and layout.

1. Enclosure with one open entry/exit; 2. 300 fps cameras; 3. custom-built IR (>750nm) array for backlit illumination; 4) a robotic arm placing interactive components in the volumetric space; 5. example custom-built jumping platform placed on the robotic arm; 6. Beam-break circuits that triggered entry/exit of an animal; 7. master Microcontroller running the behavioral paradigms statemachine.

The acrylic enclosure was immobilized onto an elevated platform of about 2 feet from the surface of a

tabletop. It provided a housing where the mice could choose to retreat for safety or breaks. Each trial was

voluntarily initiated by the mouse by extending their head out of the enclosure. No explicit cues were provided, but movement of the robotic arm could have constituted a cue and initiated an exploratory bout. When the mouse head extended beyond the enclosure entrance, a beam break was triggered and a video capturing TTL trigger relayed to the high-speed cameras.

The cameras were placed so that they provided a top-down and left-view of the volume of space where the mouse could perch and explore in contact-free air or interact with proximal environment features such as an edge of a platform or a vertical pole (Fig 3.3). Video acquisition was synchronized via TTL pulses sent simultaneously to both cameras by the microcontroller and conditioned on the triggering of the beam break positioned at the entrance of the enclosure.

Manual starting of video acquisition was initiated by the experimenters for trials where the mice were on the platform, outside the enclosure, and jumping back into the enclosure. Manual confirmation of synchronous capture was done prior to experiments initiation by triggering an LED and observing the simultaneous capturing of its onset and offset on both views.



Figure 3.3 Stereo vision capturing of volumetric haptic behavior.

Both left view and top-down camera views are shown. A vertical pole stimulus is also present in the frame, controlled by the robotic arm. Schematic shown as inset on the left panel. Whiskers are visible in both views. The mouse body is perched, extended forward, front paws grasping the edge of the enclosure, and the head is pitched down.

Video data was acquired using a commercial frame grabber and recording system (Streampix, NorPix). The software was setup to acquire any incoming frames and since frames were triggered externally by the Arduino microcontroller, no communication was needed between the Arduino and Streampix software. Instead, the experimenters enabled recording manually for each trial by using the record function of Streampix, following which any triggered frame was simply recorded on file. Experimenters checked that number of frames matched between the two views during recording sessions. Each trial generated a video file consisting of an epoch of time starting with the mouse extending their head out of the enclosure and ending when they retreated voluntarily back into the enclosure. These trials typically lasted from a few to dozens of seconds.

The captured volumetric space was backlit illuminated using an array of 3 high-powered IR LEDs for each view, custom assembled with heatsinks, goosenecks for easy placement and optimization of illuminating space, and powered with a current driver (BuckPuck 3023-D-N-1000, Luxdrive) gated by the Arduino microcontroller. Diffusion filters (BH photography) were placed in front of the high-power IR LEDs, with several grain and pattern sizes stacked to manually produce as much of a uniform backlit background as possible. Since the mice had a white coat and translucent white whiskers, backlighting was necessary to obtain enough contrast. This also constrained the number of cameras that could be used, as only two orthogonal illumination planes could be created that did not interfere with each other.

Experimenters were located outside the behavioral test room and remotely controlled the robotic arm and acquisition of the cameras. They monitored the mouse behavior through a low frame rate, 30fps, night vision camera. The experimental room was fully darkened by using black tape and fabric and manually confirmed by the experimenters dark adapting in the room for about 15 minutes and confirming no light leaks or sources.

3.2.3 Behavioral paradigms

At the start of the experiment a mouse was placed inside the acrylic enclosure either manually or placed on the robotic arm platform and encouraged to perform a gap crossing and jumping into the enclosure themselves by placing the platform near the enclosure. The enclosure provided a means for the mice to retreat to a 'safe' space. As a result, all mice resolved to a stereotypical behavior where they would perch out of the enclosure, explore the space by whisking, sniffing and head movements in all three dimensions and quickly retreat to the safety of the enclosure.

All the paradigms described below made use of this stereotypic behavior. That is, all data captured naturalistic haptic volumetric exploratory behavior, that was neither cued nor instrumentally trained. As all trials were self-initiated by the animals, the number of trials per animal varied across days and across animals. We limited sessions to a maximum duration of one hour and ended them early if the mice were not willing to explore in a period of 10-15 minutes.

During each session a mouse performed one of the following described paradigms, which was defined by the haptic environment created by the end effector placed on the robotic arm.

3.2.3.1 Contact-free air whisking

For this behavior paradigm the trials consisted of epochs of time when the mice perched out of the enclosure and whisked in free air. No contacts occurred with environment features. These trials were randomly intermingled between the other paradigms described below and designed to capture the kinematics of head and whisking in contact-free settings. Mice were typically motivated to perch out and whisk in space as they expected to detect and explore environmental features. During these trials the robotic arm was retracted, and its end effector positioned at least 2 feet away from the mice and at the edge or out of the field of view of both cameras.

3.2.3.2 Vertical pole localization

A vertical hypodermic cylindrical miniature tube (Fig 3.3) was affixed to the end effector of the robotic arm or below and extending beyond the edge of an acrylic horizontal platform, also affixed to the end effector. The tube's height was up to 5cm long.

As mice-self initiated an exploratory trial, they were free to contact the pole and either whisk against it or if proximal enough try to grab it with their paws. The location of the pole was manually shuffled by the

experimenter every few trials to cover both sides and a range of heights in the volume of haptic exploration space.

3.2.3.3 Horizontal pole or horizontal edge localization

Horizontal features in the environment were provided for mice to localize, orient, or haptically interact. Either a pole or a horizontal platform edge was positioned in front of the enclosure. The pole (same dimensions as in 3.2.3.2) was affixed to the end effector or the acrylic platform and oriented horizontally. The length of the protruding pole was up to 10 cm.

As mice-self initiated an exploratory trial, they could contact the pole with either their whiskers or if proximal enough try to grab it with their paws. The location of the pole was manually shuffled by the experimenter every few trials to cover both sides and a range of heights.

During trials that included the platform, mice were free to jump on it, performing a gap crossing following initial localization. When the pole was affixed to the horizontal platform, it was sometimes used as a lever to aid in gap crossing.

3.2.3.4 Platform jumping and gap crossing

A rectangular acrylic platform (Fig 3.2, feature #5) was affixed to the end effector of the robotic arm and positioned so that it created a gap from the entrance of the enclosure. The gap size and height offset from the enclosure floor was changed between trials and the platform placed at different positions in order to increase spatial arrangement variability and decrease predictability for position, orientation and gap size. Mice perched from the enclosure, and upon localization of the platform edge with their whiskers they were free to extend their body and perform a gap crossing or platform jump.

Subsequently, this behavior was mirrored on the return trip. Because the platform was affixed to the robotic arm and positioned in an opened air space, mice only spent a few seconds on it and immediately started to try to get back to the safety of the enclosure from which they just jumped onto the platform. The animal, now on the platform, needed to orient itself in the other direction and detect walls and/or floor of the enclosure and perform a jump back into its space. Varying the height of the platform between trials,

encouraged the animals to pitch their heads up and down and sense environmental features such as enclosure walls, aperture and location of the horizontal floor surface. All platform jump trials, included a jump back into the enclosure trial, effectively doubling the trials and behavior.

3.2.3.5 Aperture detection and vertical space localization

A portion of the platform jumping trials (3.2.3.4) were effectively reconfigured as aperture detection and vertical space localization trials. In these trials, the aperture space back into the enclosure was blocked by the vertical pole affixed to the platform. When the mouse jumped to the platform from the enclosure, the experimenter moved forward the platform via the robotic arm and used the vertical pole affixed to its end to block the aperture of the enclosure. This divided the space of the entrance into a smaller and larger opening. Mice were able to sense this division after whisking against it, adjust their head orientation, and extend their bodies towards the openings which afforded entrance back into the enclosure.

All trials that included a platform jump, also included a jump back into the enclosure and it is on this back jumping trials that the aperture detection behavior was performed.

3.2.3.6 Shape habituation

A custom-made four-pronged holder was used to place 3D printed shapes on its prongs. The setup was affixed to the end effector of the robotic arm and positioned such that animals could not readily jump onto it and had to extend significantly out of the enclosure to whisk against the shapes.

Each shape was either a hemisphere or a rectangular prism with a square face of the same dimension as the diameter of the hemisphere. One provided a gradient of depth and smooth surface, the other provided a flat surface and sharp edges to whisk against.

Each trial consisted of either the same shape replicated on all four positions, or three of the shapes same and one of the shapes different. This shape habituation task required the mouse to perch from the enclosure and whisk against any or all the shapes. No rewards or cues were provided, and animals were free to self-initiate each exploratory trial.

3.2.3.7 Localization and orienting towards a water reward

The data from these trials comes from the licking experiments descripted in Chapter 2. These trials are similar to horizontal pole detection trials 3.2.3.3, but they include a reward. As described in methods in Chapter 2, animals were water deprived and maintained at a regimen of 1ml/diem.

Each trial consisted of a mouse perching out of the enclosure and detecting and subsequently orienting its head towards the licking spout. Upon spout detection, animals performed a series of licking events. Immediately after the first lick was detected one drop of water was delivered. Animals could stay near the licking spout, wait an intertrial interval of at least 5s and start a second rewarded trial, or they were free to withdraw into the enclosure and after some time start another exploration and water consumption trial.

In this chapter we focus on the localization and orienting aspect of this behavior, not on the licking and water consumption aspect. This paradigm differs from all the other paradigms as it includes an explicit goal and reward. Localizations and orienting trials are in the context of a reward seeking, goal-oriented behavior.

3.2.4 Head and whisker kinematics processing

We have been developing tracking code to tackle this large collection of naturalistic behaviors. A recent artificial neural-net based tracking tool, DeepLabCut (Mathis et al. 2018), is being used to automate the process of extracting whisking parameters on a frame-by-frame base. The workflow involves manual labeling of a small set of frames (~200) for features of relevance and training the neural net to generalize the image segmentation and labeling process in other frames of the same camera view.

We have focused on a small subset of facial features (eyes, nose, and midpoint between eyes) from which we plan to compute head orientation and velocity parameters. Rostral and caudal whiskers are also labeled in a separately trained network, from which we compute the average angle and spread of each array (Fig 3.4). The average angle of each whisker array is independently tracked and the whisking signal temporally smoothed, with filter parameters being optimized.



Figure 3.4 Automatic tracking of facial features and whisking kinematics.

Labeling of facial (**a**, **b**) and whisker features (**c**) is shown, with each colored dot an individually segmented feature with DeepLabCut. **d**) Extracted whisking time course during 500ms of whisking. The two different colored lines represent the mean whisking position in degrees relative to the animal's sagittal midline, computed separately for the two whisker arrays. This is an example of synchronous contact-free whisking. Whisking signal computed only from the top-down view.

3.3 Preliminary results from tracking methodology

We have collected video data in 8 Prrxl1^{-/-} and 8 WT mice. The immediate goal is to use the distance between either the nose or estimated whisker array volume (Huet & Hartmann, 2014) and a haptic object of interest. Head velocity profiles are planned to be used in inferring contact epochs, with head velocity expected to display sharp changes upon haptic interactions, as shown in rat freely moving studies (Arkley et al., 2014; Carvell & Simons, 1990; Mitchinson et al., 2007; Von Heimendahl et al., 2007). Orienting and localization behavioral performance in all the paradigms tested, will compare wildtype and mutant

animals. This includes success rates in jumping platform paradigms, successful head turns in the vicinity of a haptic feature, and distance from head to the jumping platform.

By using stereovision and performing a camera calibration step with the aid of a checkerboard, information from two views can be 3D merged for each frame in which it is possible to identify the same feature in both camera views (Fig 3.5). We plan to use interpolation for frames where features are not detected, within some behaviorally relevant window (e.g. 10ms for whisking, longer for head movements). Extracting information from two views reduces error from depth of field uncertainty that would be present if only one view was used. It also allows quantification of head kinematics in 3D and accurate contact location time more and estimations. In addition, this dataset allows to quantify whisking behavior as a function of head pitch, which no study known to me has previously studied.





The path of an animal's head perching out an elevated enclosure is estimated from the tip of the nose automatically extracted from video frames. Two 2D views are compared in the bottom panel with the full 3D path after stereovision merging. Considerable pitching of the head is observed from the left view, with the 3D path showing head orientations embedded in 3D space and complex turns that include both yaw and pitch. Data colored by progression through the trial.

Preliminary analysis comparing Prrxl1^{-/-} and WT mice whisking from top-down videos in contact-free air indicates that whisking kinematics in the mutant remain largely intact (Fig 3.6). The distribution of both genotypes show the same spread and peak at the same frequency. This small sample of data was computed from two individual mice (one from each group) so no statistics are shown. The wild type animal happened to do a longer session and more whisks are analyzed. Extending this result to a small

sample from multiple mice is the next step. This preliminary data, if held true when multiple animals are analyzed, suggests that deletion of the Prrxl1 gene and disorganization of the leminscal ascending sensory stream does not impact the primary features of whisking behavior in contact-less free air. We also quantified the amplitude distributions for this dataset. However, due to uncertainty of estimating amplitudes when animals are pitching the head, we cannot yet say that the distributions are the same.



Figure 3.6 Contact-free whisking kinematics appear to be largely intact in Prrxl1-/- mice.

A. Individual array midpoint location is computed for each array (solid line, relative to sagittal midline axis) and shown in separate color. **B**. A sample time course of whisking signal for a WT(top) and Prrxl1^{-/-} animal (bottom) shows no qualitative differences. **C-D** Both frequency and amplitude distributions are similar between mutant and control animal. The WT animal had a longer session with more whisking bouts occurring.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Untethering behavior: The need for naturalistic freely moving experiments in mice

In order to better model the motor system and action space, we need to capture natural behaviors in sufficient detail and over sufficient variability which encompasses the underlying distributions of kinematic variables employed by the organism when not perturbed and not restricted. Overcoming this challenge is especially paramount for the rapid and dynamic active sensing rodent whisking behaviors, which occur in concert with body and head movements.

Head-fixed rat behavioral experiments have uncovered not only the ability of animals to modulate key whisking parameters, but also use of fundamentally different strategies that depend on task parameters. Simple object detection and learning a detection task correlates with number of whisks emitted, whereas harder tasks of shape and texture discrimination display a more focused strategy, with animals increasing frequency of whisking and palpating at lower amplitudes repeatedly against the object (Carvell & Simons, 1995; Harvey et al., 2001). Poor task performers differ in the temporal whisking patterns from good performers (Carvell & Simons, 1995). Classical conditioning studies show ability of head-fixed rats to learn to vary basic kinematic frequency and amplitude parameters of whisking in a stimulus-dependent manner (Bermejo et al., 1996; Gao et al., 2003), strongly suggesting voluntary control of this active sensing behavior.

Task and context-dependency of frequency, angular spread, and the resting/starting protraction angle of whiskers in rats (Carvell & Simons, 1990; Grant et al., 2009; Sachdev et al., 2003; Sellien et al., 2005) show that adaptations of the sensory array itself while engaged in the behavior, if sufficiently characterized, can be used to answer questions of whether animals are using them to optimize object contact and localization. Such characterization and modeling would provide support for the evolutionary adaptation of whisking muscles and movement repertoires.

This modulation of whisking parameters is also shown in freely moving rats. Switching modes from exploratory whisking with large amplitudes and slower frequency to more foveal whisking of small amplitude at protracted angles and larger frequencies is matched by differential muscle activations recorded by EMG (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003). The loss of sensory feedback via nerve transaction had no effect on the muscle phasic activations over the full frequency range, suggesting a top-down control and ruling out a simple scheme of multiple reflex arcs.

In addition, neural correlates of complex haptic environments with texture, in primary somatosensory cortex are diverse (Von Heimendahl et al., 2007), with a preference for stimuli with higher statistical features (rougher vs. smoother texture). This correlates with response choice of the animal, switching to firing rates higher for smoother stimuli in incorrect trials. Yet, there is ambiguity in single and population neural responses, with units firing for both conditions and in periods when not in contact, suggesting other sources of input, like cortico-cortical feedback signals or signals related to motion of whiskers or head. Prior anesthetized studies have shown bilateral input at the stage of primary somatosensory cortex, with neurons in layer 5 modulated by ipsilateral stimulation, with this influence being subthreshold and disappearing after inactivation of contralateral S1 (Shuler et al., 2001). This input could be influenced by well-known M1 projections to S1, coordinating bilateral whisker sampling.

Different sampling strategies are employed under different behavioral conditions on trained discrimination experiments. On a gap crossing and texture discrimination task, blindfolded rats move their whiskers to discriminate and lower amplitudes and increase contact with a textured surface, with some whiskers continuously bent in the process (Carvell & Simons, 1990). When a gap is placed vertically creating an aperture, placement of the head and array is sufficient to discriminate with the whiskers but does not require movement of whiskers themselves as confirmed with facial nerve lesioning. Trimming all the whiskers drops discriminability to chance, and this effect is graded with the performance depended on number of intact whiskers (Krupa et al., 2001), demonstrating the necessity of multiple whiskers for at least some laboratory tasks and suggesting other cues in play like head positioning or orientation.

Freely moving rats show, in addition to whisker movements, multimodal sampling strategies with rapid increases in sniffing rate, periods of significant head movements and periods of head rest, in addition to active movements of the nose (Welker, 1964). Modification of the haptic environment and its affective association elicits modification of exploratory behavior. One trial with 3 mild foot shocks is sufficient to condition a rat to avoid arms of a 'Y' maze that contain vertically oriented wall slats as the conditioned stimulus, with conditioned response disappearing when changing to no difference between conditioned and unconditioned stimuli, and whiskers required for the conditioned response (Polley et al., 2005). Behavioral strategy changes, within a task, is shown in blind rats running down a maze to obtain reward. Modification of environment context to include unexpected obstacles result in rats changing sampling strategy, with reduction of running speeds protraction of whiskers forward while running in 'look-ahead' fashion (Arkley et al., 2014). A change in head pitch (lift) is observed in sighted rats as animals learn the same task, with animals maintaining a higher pitch head orientation as they start to run faster with an increase in task familiarity.

Coordination of whisking with head movements is shown in asymmetric modulation of whisking in exploratory and goal-oriented behaviors (Towal & Hartmann, 2006). This asymmetric control of whisking can happen during object detection and in the same whisk cycle as the initial contact (Mitchinson et al., 2007). Whisker protraction ipsilateral to the side of contact with an object is depressed, while the contralateral side tends to protract at higher amplitude. These studies suggest that whisker and head movements are actively controlled to increase the likelihood of environmental contacts (Grant et al., 2009).

The ethology of whisker and body/head coordination has been shown in different species. The Etruscan shrew localizes and captures quickly moving crickets with the use of its whiskers and head movements, and shape of the cricket alone is sufficient in driving predatory attacks, whereas vision and olfaction do not elicit a behavior (Anjum et al., 2006). Similarly, rats do not necessitate vision for predatory behaviors that require localization, identification, and coordination with the oral motor programs (Gregoire & Smith, 1975).

All the above findings in freely moving rats have yet to be replicated in the mouse model, currently the most advanced in terms of genetic access, large scale optical and electrophysiological recordings, and opto- and chemo-genetic perturbations of neural circuits. Recent head-fixed mouse experiments have shown surface, shape, localization and object orientation discriminations (Brown et al., 2021; Hires et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2020; Rodgers et al., 2021).

Naturalistic experiments that allow the animal to use its own sampling strategies and which do not restrict degrees of movement freedom would further inform how to model the behavior so that underlying computations can be hypothesized and tested against the neural data. This is especially important for the dynamic active sensing whisking behaviors, where an animal can scan locations and decide which contains a stimulus within a whisking cycle (Mehta et al., 2007).

3.4.2 Tracking whiskers: advances in methods and feasibility for full array experiments

Capturing the details of whisker movements has been a challenge that still has no good generalizable solutions for freely moving, naturalistic behaviors. Whisker arrays can move at high velocities in cycles of 5-15Hz in contact-free air and adapt to smaller amplitudes with significantly higher frequencies (15-25Hz) upon contacting an object of interest (Berg & Kleinfeld, 2003; Carvell & Simons, 1995; Harvey et al., 2001). Textures and frictions can generate slips on the whisker tips (Arabzadeh et al., 2005; Neimark et al., 2003; Ritt et al., 2008; Wolfe et al., 2008), with high-frequency vibration events present during natural whisking even in contact-free air (Wolfe et al., 2008).

There is no good single angle to view and disambiguate individual whiskers in a whisker pad as rows and columns overlap each other in a video frame. A high-speed camera placed on a fixed orientation and capturing a specific projection of the rodent head and whiskers, immediately runs into ambiguous configurations of the 35 individual whiskers on each mystical pad. This problem is made harder in a freely moving setup, as the animal rotates its head on all axes - pitch, yaw and roll. As an example, if a top-down camera view observes a mouse head oriented in the horizontal plane, columns of whiskers are observed and rows of whiskers are occluded, with individual whiskers in a column aligned and partially

occluding each other. When the animal pitches their head down, all columns of whiskers start to overlap each other, with the new projection of whiskers on the camera now displaying a separation by rows. As the animal actively whisks, more complexities are added. Rotation or resizing of the whisker pad has been reported (Haidarliu et al., 2010; Knutsen et al., 2008; Towal et al., 2011).

Any attempt to accurately model the movement of the array or individual whiskers, in freely moving animals, requires a well-estimated orientation of the head. Only then can models of whisking (Knutsen et al., 2008; Zweifel et al., 2021) and whisker arrays (Belli et al., 2018; Belli et al., 2017) be superimposed on the rodent's head and provide the crucial kinematic parameters of angles (amplitude), velocities, and ideally spread of the array, from which further higher-order features such as whisking frequencies can be accurately estimated. To obtain the orientation of the head in a freely moving naturalistic experiment, at least two synchronized cameras are needed.

It is then not surprising that restrained preparations are used to further the capabilities of tracking whisking behavior, with the aim of real-time feedback experiments made possible. Single whisker trajectory tracking has been possible with opto-electronic methods that are very fast and can be used in theory for online real-time processing (Bermejo et al., 1998; Chakrabarti & Schwarz, 2018; Hentschke et al., 2006; Wolfe et al., 2008). However, it is the flexibility, accuracy and full whisker description made possible with high-speed video capturing that can enable full characterization kinematics along the whisker length and ultimately estimate the 3D mechanics at the whisker base (Hires et al., 2016; Huet & Hartmann, 2016; Knutsen et al., 2008; Yang & Hartmann, 2016). Knowledge of whisker shape and its kinematic variables is a necessary input for all models that estimate moments and forces that mechanosensory receptors ought to be experiencing. With ability of mice to move whiskers individually (Dörfl, 1985; Mehta et al., 2007; Simony et al., 2010), tracking of individual whiskers is desirable.

Multiple algorithms exist for single whisker tracking from high-speed, high-fidelity videos. Image processing and machine vision can be used to identify and link locally linearized line segments representing individual whiskers, with tools that require minimal supervision such as the Whisk program (Clack et al., 2012) available. These tools work well in a fixed frame head-fixed setup and have been

used by multiple laboratories, including ours. A higher signal-to-noise image processing pipeline algorithm, WhiskEras, has improved on Whisk (Betting et al., 2020) and aims to extract individual whiskers from untrimmed whisker arrays. While promising, this pipeline has yet to be tested in other laboratories and is under active development. Most importantly, it is optimized for head-fixed, contact-free whisking with a static background that currently does not allow objects and movements of objects in the field of view.

A separate impressive effort that makes use of fitting 3D Bezier curves to the basal section of each target whisker has recently demonstrated tracking of multiple whiskers in a head-fixed setup and capturing full three-dimensional kinematic variables, including whisker 3D shape and orientation (Petersen et al., 2020). This setup involves stereo-vision capture of two views via two high-speed cameras, a necessity for any three-dimensional characterization of whisker kinematics. Alternatively, careful geometric positioning of mirrors that project secondary image planes, followed by finding corresponding points in both views can be used to extract three-dimensional shape (Kim et al., 2020).

While awake, behaving, head-fixed paradigms make it feasible to track whisker kinematics in fine detail, at least for a row or a few whiskers, these experiments miss the important vestibular contribution of the head movements and restrict the animal's own degrees of movement freedom. The restrictions imposed by head-fixation invariably modify the sampling strategies that animals can use compared to the unrestrained, freely moving condition. Moreover, horizontal plane characterization, ubiquitous in head-fixed experiments, only measures one of the 3 angles that define whisker array orientation, while it is well known that whisker movement contains a roll component about its longitudinal axis creating significant torsional components (Knutsen et al., 2008; Knutsen et al., 2005). The same problem holds true for head movements captured by one camera in top-down videography in freely moving setups. Roll and pitch of the head modifies the apparent whisker angles recorded by video capture, and head turns have been shown to modify whisking behavior itself (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Towal & Hartmann, 2006). Only by describing the behavior in terms of all the kinematic variables can shed light on these relationships.

Mice whisk considerably faster than rats (20Hz in mice vs. 8.4Hz in rats), but at similar mean amplitudes for arrays in contact-free whisking. The fast-whisking behavior of these rodents is due to type 2B fibers, which provide high maximum contraction velocity and are less fatigue resistant (Jin et al., 2004). This fast motor output necessitates high-temporal resolution for capturing of the behavior. At least 100 frames per second (fps) are needed for mice whisking amplitude extraction, with sampling at 50fps severely dampening estimation of amplitudes and phase errors smaller than 5 degrees only possible at >250fps (Perkon et al., 2011).

Unsupervised tracking of both head and full whisker array in freely moving animals has been attempted and image processing pipeline and algorithms described and published as the Vibrissae and Snout Analyzer (VISA) in (Perkon et al., 2011). A GUI tool that makes use of it has been built (BIOTACT Whisker Tracking Tool (BWTT)). This is the only study to date known to attempt image segmentation of an intact full array, together with head kinematics descriptors. This effort unfortunately has been largely abandoned and not taken up by many laboratories. On our hands, the algorithm was optimized only for top-down videos, needed frequent user input to recalibrate parameters, and its whisker segmentation output relies on a Hough transform approach which approximates a user-defined basal portion of a whisker as a shaft and ignores natural whisker curvature. Nevertheless, it is an example that shows the feasibility of tracking intact arrays and head motions of an animal. This can be the first in a series of processing steps that combine with other techniques which better characterize a whisker from multiple camera angles. Optimizations for image processing, parallelization of computations and GPU enabled workflows can push the algorithms towards real-time tracking as demonstrated for the VISA algorithm (Ma et al., 2017).

Other unsupervised methods of tracking multiple whiskers in freely moving rodents exist. Anisotropy tracing of full whisker shapes has been demonstrated, with some invariance to image resolution, sampling rate and contrast. This is one of the most promising methods and used to track individual whisker kinematics and automatic contact detection in a gap crossing task (Voigts et al., 2008). However, only a few whiskers were trackable at a time as this vector fields approach cannot be easily extrapolated

to occlusions and overlap of whiskers. Methods that make use of temporal information, like hidden Markov models and spline fitting have been successfully used to interpolate between frames where information is missing (Clack et al., 2012; Voigts et al., 2008).

For the dataset described in this chapter, it is decided to employ an artifical deep neural network-based approach, DeepLabCut, described in (Mathis et al., 2018). This solution, while not generalizable, has a practical workflow that makes it possible to track both body parts and whisker features. Only about 100-200 manually labeled featured are needed to train a network at acceptable feature identification performance. One caveat of these artificial neural based solutions is that they require training for each view and each object/feature set separately. In addition, it is not clear what image spatial features the network trains on as it iterates over training steps. Validation requires a user to randomly sift through evaluated frames and videos.

Nevertheless, this approach is rapidly progressing, pushed forward by large image datasets and more advance network architectures that promise automatic image segmentation and accurate kinematics estimation of moving features. Combined with multi-camera high-speed behavioral acquisitions and threedimensional merging of features from multiple views, full array whisker tracking, and head and body kinematics will be possible in the not-too-distant future for the common laboratory.

Chapter 4 : Discussion

4.1 Modeling behavior and capturing kinematics in all three dimensions

Behavior is complex. It occurs over time as sequential movements are daisy chained from activation of muscle synergies. In order to map the functions between an organism's actions and neural space, we need to better model behavior. The behavior investigated in the laboratory it is thus desired to be complex enough and span sufficient range so that the extracted kinematic variables cover the variance of natural movement chains. Some species, like aquatic and flying animals perform volumetric navigation. Even for terrestrial animals, like rodents, body movements are embedded in a three-dimensional (3D) space. As rodent navigate and explore proximal space with their vibrissae, for example while burrowing or climbing, their head onto which the whisker arrays are constrained, rotates in all three principal components: yaw, roll and pitch. Studying the natural complexities of movement and correlating models of it with neural representations can aid in uncovering general principles of sensorimotor loops.

Much of the research in Neuroscience has focused in describing and uncovering transformations from stimulus space to neural space. However, even for the most studied modality, vision, its high dimensional space makes it hard to narrow down higher-order features, like object shape, in neuronal space (Yamane et al., 2008). Even when a neuron's output is characterized as a function of simpler stimulus features, its selectivity or the selectivity of a population of similar neurons to any higher-order features can only be done with abstract modeling (Kouh & Poggio, 2008). The entirety of rodent whisker sensor and action space, receiving input from a small discrete set of facial follicles which are actuated by a small set of muscles, provides a lower dimensional representation for trying to characterize sensorimotor behaviors in terms of neuronal ensembles. Overcoming the challenge of modeling the action space is especially paramount for the rapid and dynamic active sensing rodent whisking behaviors, which occur in concert with body and head movements.

Neural head direction (HD) representation (Raudies et al., 2015; Taube et al., 1990) has been one of the main findings for representations from both idiothetic (self-motion) and allothetic (external landmarks and

movement) cues, and relationship of self with the environment. HD cells fire as a function of the animal's head direction and exist in multiple brain areas (Taube, 2007). This representation complements allocentric information neural correlates; place cells (Ludvig et al., 2004; O'Keefe & Dostrovsky, 1971) code specific environment-context locations; grid cells (Hafting et al., 2005) form a tessellated hexagonal lattice of environment space; and border cells (Solstad et al., 2008) represent environment boundaries such as walls. Interestingly, they seem to not only represent but also predict future head-orientation (Meer et al., 2007), especially unexpected passive rotations induced in the laboratory (Bassett et al., 2005). Brain areas and cell types that code joint distributions of these and other spatial parameters like angular velocity have been reported (Bassett & Taube, 2001; Cacucci et al., 2004; Sargolini et al., 2006).

Head direction system has been described mainly in planar environment experiments and are thought to primarily encode directional heading in two dimensional (2D) horizontal planes, with some modulation by complex rotations in multiple axes (Shinder & Taube, 2019). This view has been challenged by modeling the data for 3D representational models where HD cells integrate information along all three rotational axes (Laurens & Angelaki, 2019). But this is also rebutted (Taube & Shinder, 2020) and there is no current consensus on the 3D representational capacities in rodents for HD cells. Regardless, this does not preclude 3D representations in other cell types or integrating multiple representations, especially given that neurons representing head pitch are reported (Stackman & Taube, 1998). 3D representations in inherently volumetric behaviors, such as flying in bats, are well established (Finkelstein et al., 2015).

Not only the head, but individual facial features move in 3D. This includes the whisker system. Rodent have muscles that allow their noses to rotate about two planes (Deschenes et al., 2015; Kumikova et al., 2017). This allows mice to synchronize three-dimensional kinematic rhythms with sniffing during olfactory search (Findley et al., 2021). The tongue too is controllable on multiple axes (Cortopassi & Muhl, 1990; Kier & Smith, 2008), and licking behavior includes fast and precise corrective submovements of the tongue that are cortex-dependent (Bollu et al., 2021). Similarly, whiskers move in 3D with significant torsion component around main whisker axis (Knutsen et al., 2008; Knutsen et al., 2005) and the whole array can modify it's spread during surface exploration (Grant et al., 2009). Active modification of the

volume of space, for which the array has access (Huet & Hartmann, 2014), can be used as a proxy to study sampling strategies and better model the entire afferent input of a whisking cycle.

Capturing a dataset of 3D freely moving behaviors is only the first step. Extracting the kinematics of whiskers and body parts and characterizing the behavior is the second step that can then feed models of behavior for more rigorous hypotheses testing. Recent advances in automatic image feature segmentation, which make use of very large pre-trained imaging datasets and deep artificial convolutional neural network architectures (Mathis et al., 2018), make the body part feature extraction feasible. These tools have been extended to multiple behaviors, 3D capabilities, and toolboxes of modules are actively being built and made available to the community (Arac et al., 2019). This is the approach we undertook for extracting the kinematics of movement from the volumetric haptic exploratory behaviors we have recorded.

Identification, classification and granularity thresholding of meaningful behavioral descriptors is a challenging problem. Machine vision techniques and data that includes depth descriptors (i.e. 3D) has been used to automatically segment structure in freely moving mouse behaviors (Wiltschko et al., 2015). In these sparse, feature-limited environments, mouse pose dynamics can be predicted from principal modules of behavioral descriptors and their transitions. This autoregressive hidden Markov model workflow can be used in principle for any dataset, including those obtained in more feature-rich volumetric searching behaviors. Behavioral syllables autoextracted can then be curated from expert users in semi-automatic fashion. The set of these syllables were shown to be able to classify phenotypes of different mouse genotypes (Wiltschko et al., 2015).

The true and multi-spatiotemporal scale of behaviors would still be very difficult to extract from such models, which impose bias based on the Bayesian nonparametric approach at specific timescales. The data fed to the models would bias the outcome. That is, how the data is captured (e.g. how many kinematic features) and its quantity would both shift the model results towards either specific behavioral syllables or discovery of larger sets of syllables as data size increases, making cross-strain and cross-species comparisons harder. Imposing some hierarchical modeling and constraints, in iterative fashion,

might resolve some of these issues, and such approaches have been shown to work in large datasets (Allard et al., 2012; Vogelstein et al., 2014).

Even when enough data in freely moving animals and modeling of it is available, if the task acquisition imposes a bias, and the trained task is repetitive, and restricts the movement patterns, the behavioral statistics and function of whisking behaviors concluded from them can be misleading. Brecht et al. (Brecht et al., 1997) was one of the first to show shape recognition in freely moving rats and crucially provided a morphological and likely functional distinction between macro- and microvibrissae. Based on a cookie shape search task, they hypothesized that macrovibrissae in rodents were only used for localization, while microvibrissae were only used for shape discrimination. However, their setup involved a matrix of square cups, with an odd triangle cup, placed down on the ground and whose size afforded easier search by the microvibrissae. They concluded that macrovibrissae were not needed for shape discrimination and the strategy of sampling was serial search, with no head movements needed while sampling. However, all these parameters were already pre-imposed by the task design. By varying tasks and parameters, ideally in non-instrumental paradigms and volumetric environments that do not restrict degrees of movement freedom, we can ask the animals to employ their preferred, optimal strategy. This is the approach we undertook in chapter 3.

4.2 Parallelization of sensory streams: What vs. Where vs. When?

As sensory evidence gradually accumulates, perceptible features start to form and separate. Experiments of perceptual mechanisms, for example accumulation of sensory evidence, were typically done in primates and involved tasks where sensory variables and acquisition time were dictated by the experimenters (Gold & Shadlen, 2007; Romo & Salinas, 2001). However, rodents too can weight sensory evidence (Kepecs et al., 2008), recognize separate visual views as belonging to the same object (Zoccolan et al., 2009), and likely construct generalized rules for solving a task (Murphy et al., 2008). Few natural condition experiments, for example in shrew whisking behavior for prey capture (Anjum et al., 2006), have strongly suggested that whisking sensory variables can be selected to aid specific motor strategies (Munz et al., 2010). Given the parallel pathways of ascending whisker somatosensory streams,

the question then arises of what each pathway conveys and how each stream aids perceptual tasks and behavior in general.

Similar to the separation into distinct dorsal and ventral streams in vision (Goodale & Milner, 1992; Schneider, 1969) and their suggested simplified roles of a respective 'where' and 'what' pathway ('where' dorsal stream providing visual input for action and 'what' ventral stream providing visual input for perception of visual objects), a similar scheme has been suggested for somatosensory functional streams (Diamond et al., 2008).

Rodents seek out tactile information by whisking and upon contact palpating against objects (Carvell & Simons, 1990; Hill et al., 2008; Von Heimendahl et al., 2007). The location and identification of the object is then simultaneously transferred by that interaction. Behaviors that support localization function include platform jumping through a gap (Carvell & Simons, 1990; Hutson & Masterton, 1986; Schiffman et al., 1970), aperture width determination (Krupa et al., 2001), and vertical pole localization for both bilateral (Knutsen et al., 2006; Saraf-Sinik et al., 2015) and unilateral comparisons (Hires et al., 2015; Mehta et al., 2007). Object identification and discriminative behaviors include texture (Carvell & Simons, 1990; Guić-Robles et al., 1989; Prigg et al., 2002; Von Heimendahl et al., 2007), shape (Brecht et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2020; Rodgers et al., 2021), and object orientation discrimination (Brown et al., 2021).

As early as the trigeminal ganglion (Vg), three 'behaviorally' different types of neurons exist: those that are active when whisking, those that are active only when touch occurs (whether phasic or sustained activity), and those that are active for both cases (Bush et al., 2016; Bush et al., 2021; Campagner et al., 2016; Szwed et al., 2006). Touch responsive neurons tile the space of stimulus orientation and firing rate adaptive properties. Models with full 3D mechanical input variables are better predictors of neural activity (Bush et al., 2021).

While Diamond et al. (Diamond et al., 2008) refer to parallel streams beyond primary somatosensory cortex S1, an analogy with the visual streams beyond primary visual cortex V1, there is no current evidence for distinct cortical processing streams of localization and identification functions for touch. Rather, there is evidence for mixing of signals as early as Vg via the whisking/touch responsive neurons.

Recently, identified Merkel receptor cell-associated neurons in Vg were shown to be the ones responsive for coding both touch and phase of whisker protraction in awake, head-fixed, behaving mice (Severson et al., 2017). Re-afferent input together with touch ex-afferent input represented along the same neural stream is a convenient coding scheme for localization and identification of tactile features relative to snout. The more complex higher-order features such as shape and curvature, would require integration across multiple whiskers and receptor types.

A separation of sensory streams can rather happen subcortically. Lemniscal, paralemniscal and extralemniscal pathways have some unique properties. First, there is the cytoarchitectonic differences, with lemniscal pathway displaying topographic arrangement of sensory input into barrel-like structures all the way to S1 (Ma & Woolsey, 1984; Van Der Loos, 1976; Woolsey & Van der Loos, 1970). Extralemniscal also displays barrelettes in brainstem, but paralemniscal pathway does not. Barrelette second order neurons tend to have dendritic trees confined within one barrelette (Veinante & Deschênes, 1999). Second, the receptive fields and neural responses of the pathways differ in the respective brainstem nuclei. In SpVir, which lacks barrelettes, neurons display multi-whisker receptive fields and are organized in row-wise elliptical shapes (Jacquin et al., 1989). Responses in the extralemniscal nucleus are primarily phasic to touch (Yu et al., 2006). In the lemniscal nucleus, PrV, both touch and whisking cells are present and neurons respond to one whisker, and to a weaker extend adjacent whiskers (Moore et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2006). Third, projection patterns differ between the pathways. PrV output neurons come from both barrelette and inter-barrelette populations (Veinante & Deschênes, 1999). While SpVir projection neurons are mainly multi-whisker responsive. Single whisker-responsive SpVic neurons, instead, are GABAergic and project to PrV (Furuta et al., 2008). Taken together, these suggest functional streams, representing some possibly redundant features, and which are hierarchical (SpVic to PrV, but not the other way around). The lemniscal pathway sits at the top of the functional hierarchy.

In S1, every stream has opportunity to intermix and be incorporated in sensorimotor circuits with S2 and M1 signals innervating multiple layers across a barrel column with ample cross-layer connectivity. All the signals available for discrimination are present: what, where or even when. Neurons in the extralemniscal

pathway can provide the phasic touch reference signals for comparison to start of motion, or previous palpating touch during epochs of active sensing. So can whisker/touch neurons.

Goodale and Milner themselves concede that the distinction into functionally separate streams in vision was overemphasized (Milner & Goodale, 2008). Both pathways do in fact connect to each other. But, they stress that their original distinction was aimed at stimulating study of functionally distinct output systems, rather than properties of visual input. That is, they relied on lesion and electrophysiological studies for proposing behaviorally relevant functional roles. Both streams can and should receive both spatial and structural information of objects. Visual object invariant categorization requires knowledge of object relationships and where in space the objects are. Conversely, action towards a visual object requires identification of the object itself. It is what happens with both spatial and structural information and how the information is hierarchically transformed that separates the pathways or rather the networks they subserve.

A similar view can be taken for the somatosensory parallel pathways. Testing functionally distinct output of the lemniscal stream is one of the aims of future analyses using the data collected and presented in Chapter 3. Behavioral categorization of the lemniscal stream, whose topographic arrangement is selectively disrupted in PrrxI1-/- model, will allow to make hypotheses on which behaviors require an intact sensory spatial organization along the lemniscal pathway.

Chapter 5 References

- Allard, W. K., Chen, G. L., & Maggioni, M. (2012). Multi-scale geometric methods for data sets II: Geometric Multi-Resolution Analysis. *Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis*, 32(3), 435-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acha.2011.08.001</u>
- Alloway, K. D., Zhang, M. L., & Chakrabarti, S. (2004). Septal columns in rodent barrel cortex: Functional circuits for modulating whisking behavior. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 480(3), 299-309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20339</u>
- Altshuler, D. L., & Srinivasan, M. V. (2018). Comparison of Visually Guided Flight in Insects and Birds. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *12*, Article 157. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00157</u>
- Anjum, F., Turni, H., Mulder, P. G. H., van der Burg, J., & Brecht, M. (2006). Tactile guidance of prey capture in Etruscan shrews. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(44), 16544-16549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0605573103</u>
- Arabzadeh, E., Zorzin, E., & Diamond, M. E. (2005). Neuronal encoding of texture in the whisker sensory pathway. *Plos Biology*, 3(1), 155-165, Article e17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030017</u>
- Arac, A., Zhao, P., Dobkin, B. H., Carmichael, S. T., & Golshani, P. (2019). DeepBehavior: A Deep Learning Toolbox for Automated Analysis of Animal and Human Behavior Imaging Data [Methods]. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *13*(20). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2019.00020</u>
- Arevian, A. C., Kapoor, V., & Urban, N. N. (2008). Activity-dependent gating of lateral inhibition in the mouse olfactory bulb. *Nature Neuroscience*, *11*(1), 80-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn2030</u>
- Arkley, K., Grant, R. A., Mitchinson, B., & Prescott, T. J. (2014). Strategy Change in Vibrissal Active Sensing during Rat Locomotion. *Current Biology*, 24(13), 1507-1512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.05.036</u>
- Aronoff, R., Matyas, F., Mateo, C., Ciron, C., Schneider, B., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2010). Long-range connectivity of mouse primary somatosensory barrel cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(12), 2221-2233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07264.x</u>
- Asari, H., & Meister, M. (2012). Divergence of visual channels in the inner retina. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(11), 1581-1589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3241</u>
- Bakalar, D., Tamaiev, J., Zeigler, H. P., & Feinstein, P. (2015). Abolition of lemniscal barrellette patterning in Prrxl1 knockout mice: Effects upon ingestive behavior. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 32(4), 236-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/08990220.2015.1086327</u>
- Bale, M. R., Ince, R. A. A., Santagata, G., & Petersen, R. S. (2015). Efficient population coding of naturalistic whisker motion in the ventro-posterior medial thalamus based on precise spike timing. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 9, Article 50. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2015.00050</u>
- Bargmann, C. I., & Horvitz, H. R. (1991). Chemosensory neurons with overlapping functions direct chemotaxis to multiple chemicals in C. elegans. *Neuron*, 7(5), 729-742. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(91)90276-6
- Bassett, J. P., & Taube, J. S. (2001). Neural correlates for angular head velocity in the rat dorsal tegmental nucleus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(15), 5740-5751. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.21-15-05740.2001

- Bassett, J. P., Zugaro, M. B., Muir, G. M., Golob, E. J., Muller, R. U., & Taube, J. S. (2005). Passive Movements of the Head Do Not Abolish Anticipatory Firing Properties of Head Direction Cells. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 93(3), 1304-1316. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00490.2004
- Belford, G. R., & Killackey, H. P. (1979). Vibrissae representation in subcortical trigeminal centers of the neonatal rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *183*(2), 305-321. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901830207
- Belli, H. M., Bresee, C. S., Graff, M. M., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2018). Quantifying the three-dimensional facial morphology of the laboratory rat with a focus on the vibrissae. *Plos One*, 13(4), Article e0194981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194981</u>
- Belli, H. M., Yang, A. E. T., Bresee, C. S., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2017). Variations in vibrissal geometry across the rat mystacial pad: base diameter, medulla, and taper. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *117*(4), 1807-1820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00054.2016</u>
- Bennett, A. F. (1991). The evolution of activity capacity. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *160*(1), 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.160.1.1</u>
- Berg, R. W., & Kleinfeld, D. (2003). Rhythmic whisking by rat: Retraction as well as protraction of the vibrissae is under active muscular control. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(1), 104-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00600.2002</u>
- Bermejo, R., Friedman, W., & Zeigler, H. P. (2005). Topography of whisking II: Interaction of whisker and pad. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 22(3), 213-220. https://doi.org/10.1080/08990220500262505
- Bermejo, R., Harvey, M., Gao, P., & Zeigler, H. P. (1996). Conditioned whisking in the rat. *Somatosensory* and Motor Research, 13(3-4), 225-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/08990229609052578</u>
- Bermejo, R., Houben, D., & Zeigler, H. P. (1998). Optoelectronic monitoring of individual whisker movements in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 83(2), 89-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0270(98)00050-8</u>
- Berridge, K. C., & Kringelbach, M. L. (2008). Affective neuroscience of pleasure: reward in humans and animals. *Psychopharmacology*, *199*(3), 457-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-008-1099-6</u>
- Betting, J., Romano, V., Al-Ars, Z., Bosman, L. W. J., Strydis, C., & De Zeeuw, C. I. (2020). WhiskEras: A New Algorithm for Accurate Whisker Tracking. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 14, Article 588445. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.588445</u>
- Birdwell, J. A., Solomon, J. H., Thajchayapong, M., Taylor, M. A., Cheely, M., Towal, R. B., Conradt, J., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2007). Biomechanical models for radial distance determination by the rat vibrissal system. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *98*(4), 2439-2455. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00707.2006
- Boada, M. D. (2013). Relationship between electrophysiological signature and defined sensory modality of trigeminal ganglion neurons in vivo. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *109*(3), 749-757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00693.2012</u>
- Bollu, T., Ito, B. S., Whitehead, S. C., Kardon, B., Redd, J., Liu, M. H., & Goldberg, J. H. (2021). Cortexdependent corrections as the tongue reaches for and misses targets. *Nature*, 594(7861), 82-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03561-9</u>
- Bonhoeffer, T., & Grinvald, A. (1991). Iso-orientation domains in cat visual cortex are arranged in pinwheel-like patterns. *Nature*, *353*(6343), 429-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/353429a0</u>

- Bosman, L., Houweling, A., Owens, C., Tanke, N., Shevchouk, O., Rahmati, N., Teunissen, W., Ju, C., Gong, W., Koekkoek, S., & De Zeeuw, C. (2011). Anatomical Pathways Involved in Generating and Sensing Rhythmic Whisker Movements [Review]. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 5(53). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2011.00053
- Brecht, M., Preilowski, B., & Merzenich, M. M. (1997). Functional architecture of the mystacial vibrissae. Behavioural Brain Research, 84(1-2), 81-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(97)83328-1</u>
- Brown, J., Oldenburg, I. A., Telian, G. I., Griffin, S., Voges, M., Jain, V., & Adesnik, H. (2021). Spatial integration during active tactile sensation drives orientation perception. *Neuron*, *109*(10), 1707-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.03.020</u>
- Buck, L., & Axel, R. (1991). A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: A molecular basis for odor recognition. *Cell*, *65*(1), 175-187. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90418-X</u>
- Bush, N. E., Schroeder, C. L., Hobbs, J. A., Yang, A. E. T., Huet, L. A., Solla, S. A., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2016). Decoupling kinematics and mechanics reveals coding properties of trigeminal ganglion neurons in the rat vibrissal system. *Elife*, *5*, Article e13969. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13969</u>
- Bush, N. E., Solla, S. A., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2021). Continuous, multidimensional coding of 3D complex tactile stimuli by primary sensory neurons of the vibrissal system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *118*(32), Article e2020194118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2020194118
- Cacucci, F., Lever, C., Wills, T. J., Burgess, N., & O'Keefe, J. (2004). Theta-modulated place-by-direction cells in the hippocampal formation in the rat. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(38), 8265-8277. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2635-04.2004
- Campagner, D., Evans, M. H., Bale, M. R., Erskine, A., & Petersen, R. S. (2016). Prediction of primary somatosensory neuron activity during active tactile exploration. *Elife*, *5*, Article e10696. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.10696</u>
- Carr, C., & Konishi, M. (1990). A circuit for detection of interaural time differences in the brain stem of the barn owl. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(10), 3227-3246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.10-10-03227.1990</u>
- Carvell, G., & Simons, D. (1990). Biometric analyses of vibrissal tactile discrimination in the rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(8), 2638-2648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.10-08-02638.1990</u>
- Carvell, G. E., & Simons, D. J. (1987). Thalamic and corticocortical connections of the second somatic sensory area of the mouse. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 265(3), 409-427. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902650309
- Carvell, G. E., & Simons, D. J. (1995). Task- and Subject-Related Differences in Sensorimotor Behavior during Active Touch. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 12(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3109/08990229509063138
- Chakrabarti, S., & Schwarz, C. (2018). Cortical modulation of sensory flow during active touch in the rat whisker system. *Nature Communications*, *9*, Article 3907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06200-6</u>
- Chakrabarti, S., Zhang, M. L., & Alloway, K. D. (2008). MI neuronal responses to peripheral whisker stimulation: Relationship to neuronal activity in SI barrels and septa. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 100(1), 50-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90327.2008</u>

- Chakraibarti, S., & Alloway, K. D. (2006). Differential origin of projections from SI barrel cortex to the whisker representations in SII and MI. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *498*(5), 624-636. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21052
- Chen, Z. F., Rebelo, S., White, F., Malmberg, A. B., Baba, H., Lima, D., Woolf, C. J., Basbaum, A. I., & Anderson, D. J. (2001). The paired homeodomain protein DRG11 is required for the projection of cutaneous sensory afferent fibers to the dorsal spinal cord. *Neuron*, *31*(1), 59-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00341-5
- Chernova, O. F. (2006). Evolutionary aspects of hair polymorphism. *Biology Bulletin*, 33(1), 43-52. https://doi.org/10.1134/s1062359006010067
- Cheung, J. A., Maire, P., Kim, J., Lee, K., Flynn, G., & Hires, S. A. (2020). Independent representations of self-motion and object location in barrel cortex output. *Plos Biology*, *18*(11), Article e3000882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000882</u>
- Chiel, H. J., Ting, L. H., Ekeberg, O., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2009). The Brain in Its Body: Motor Control and Sensing in a Biomechanical Context. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(41), 12807-12814. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3338-09.2009
- Clack, N. G., O'Connor, D. H., Huber, D., Petreanu, L., Hires, A., Peron, S., Svoboda, K., & Myers, E. W. (2012). Automated Tracking of Whiskers in Videos of Head Fixed Rodents. *Plos Computational Biology*, 8(7), Article e1002591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002591</u>
- Clarke, W. B., & Bowsher, D. (1962). Terminal distribution of primary afferent trigeminal fibers in the rat. *Experimental Neurology*, 6(5), 372-383. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(62)90019-5</u>
- Cohen, J. D., Hirata, A., & Castro-Alamancos, M. A. (2008). Vibrissa Sensation in Superior Colliculus: Wide-Field Sensitivity and State-Dependent Cortical Feedback. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(44), 11205-11220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2999-08.2008</u>
- Cortopassi, D., & Muhl, Z. F. (1990). Videofluorographic analysis of tongue movement in the rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus). *Journal of Morphology*, 204(2), 139-146. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1052040203
- Cossell, L., Iacaruso, M. F., Muir, D. R., Houlton, R., Sader, E. N., Ko, H., Hofer, S. B., & Mrsic-Flogel, T. D. (2015). Functional organization of excitatory synaptic strength in primary visual cortex. *Nature*, 518(7539), 399-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14182</u>
- Crochet, S., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2006). Correlating whisker behavior with membrane potential in barrel cortex of awake mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, *9*(5), 608-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1690</u>
- Demb, J. B., & Singer, J. H. (2015). Functional Circuitry of the Retina. In J. A. Movshon & B. A. Wandell (Eds.), *Annual Review of Vision Science, Vol 1* (Vol. 1, pp. 263-289). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-vision-082114-035334
- Deschenes, M., Haidarliu, S., Demers, M., Moore, J., Kleinfeld, D., & Ahissar, E. (2015). Muscles Involved in Naris Dilation and Nose Motion in Rat. *Anatomical Record-Advances in Integrative Anatomy* and Evolutionary Biology, 298(3), 546-553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.23053</u>
- Deschenes, M., Timofeeva, E., Lavallee, P., & Dufresne, C. (2005). The vibrissal system as a model of thalamic operations. In V. A. Casagrande, R. W. Guillery, & S. M. Sherman (Eds.), *Cortical Function: A View from the Thalamus* (Vol. 149, pp. 31-40). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0079-6123(05)49003-2</u>

- Deutsch, D., Pietr, M., Knutsen, P. M., Ahissar, E., & Schneidman, E. (2012). Fast Feedback in Active Sensing: Touch-Induced Changes to Whisker-Object Interaction. *Plos One*, 7(9), Article e44272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044272</u>
- Diamond, M. E., von Heimendahl, M., Knutsen, P. M., Kleinfeld, D., & Ahissar, E. (2008). 'Where' and 'what' in the whisker sensorimotor system. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*(8), 601-612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2411</u>
- Ding, Y. Q., Yin, J., Xu, H. M., Jacquin, M. F., & Chen, Z. F. (2003). Formation of whisker-related principal sensory nucleus-based lemniscal pathway requires a paired homeodomain transcription factor, Drg11. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(19), 7246-7254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-19-07246.2003</u>
- Dörfl, J. (1985). The innervation of the mystacial region of the white mouse: A topographical study. *Journal of anatomy*, 142, 173-184. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17103584</u>

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1166371/

- Dräger, U. C. (1975). Receptive fields of single cells and topography in mouse visual cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *160*(3), 269-289. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901600302</u>
- Duan, X., Krishnaswamy, A., De la Huerta, I., & Sanes, J. R. (2014). Type II Cadherins Guide Assembly of a Direction-Selective Retinal Circuit. *Cell*, *158*(4), 793-807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.047</u>
- Durham, D., & Woolsey, T. A. (1984). Effects of neonatal whisker lesions on mouse central trigeminal pathways. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 223(3), 424-447. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902230308
- Dvoryanchikov, G., Hernandez, D., Roebber, J. K., Hill, D. L., Roper, S. D., & Chaudhari, N. (2017). Transcriptomes and neurotransmitter profiles of classes of gustatory and somatosensory neurons in the geniculate ganglion. *Nature Communications*, *8*, Article 760. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01095-1
- Ebara, S., Kumamoto, K., Matsuura, T., Mazurkiewicz, J. E., & Rice, F. L. (2002). Similarities and differences in the innervation of mystacial vibrissal follicle–sinus complexes in the rat and cat: A confocal microscopic study. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *449*(2), 103-119. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.10277
- Ebbesen, C. L., Doron, G., Lenschow, C., & Brecht, M. (2017). Vibrissa motor cortex activity suppresses contralateral whisking behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *20*(1), 82-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4437</u>
- El-Boustani, S., Sermet, B. S., Foustoukos, G., Oram, T. B., Yizhar, O., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2020). Anatomically and functionally distinct thalamocortical inputs to primary and secondary mouse whisker somatosensory cortices. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17087-7</u>
- Enroth-Cugell, C., & Robson, J. G. (1966). The contrast sensitivity of retinal ganglion cells of the cat. *The Journal of Physiology*, 187(3), 517-552. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1966.sp008107
- Erzurumlu, R. S., Bates, C. A., & Killackey, H. P. (1980). Differential organization of thalamic projection cells in the brain stem trigeminal complex of the rat. *Brain Research*, *198*(2), 427-433. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90756-8</u>
- Erzurumlu, R. S., Murakami, Y., & Rijli, F. M. (2010). Mapping the face in the somatosensory brainstem. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(4), 252-263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2804</u>

- Fabre-Thorpe, M., Richard, G., & Thorpe, S. J. (1998). Rapid categorization of natural images by rhesus monkeys. *Neuroreport*, 9(2), 303-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199801260-00023</u>
- Fabri, M., & Burton, H. (1991). Ipsilateral cortical connections of primary somatic sensory cortex in rats. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *311*(3), 405-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903110310</u>
- Ferezou, I., Haiss, F., Gentet, L. J., Aronoff, R., Weber, B., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2007). Spatiotemporal dynamics of cortical sensorimotor integration in behaving mice. *Neuron*, 56(5), 907-923. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.10.007</u>
- Fettiplace, R., & Fuchs, P. A. (1999). Mechanisms of hair cell tuning. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 61, 809-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.61.1.809</u>
- Findley, T. M., Wyrick, D. G., Cramer, J. L., Brown, M. A., Holcomb, B., Attey, R., Yeh, D., Monasevitch, E., Nouboussi, N., Cullen, I., Songco, J. O., King, J. F., Ahmadian, Y., & Smear, M. C. (2021). Sniff-synchronized, gradient-guided olfactory search by freely moving mice. *Elife*, 10, Article e58523. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.58523</u>
- Finkelstein, A., Derdikman, D., Rubin, A., Foerster, J. N., Las, L., & Ulanovsky, N. (2015). Threedimensional head-direction coding in the bat brain. *Nature*, 517(7533), 159-U165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14031</u>
- Finkelstein, A., Las, L., & Ulanovsky, N. (2016). 3-D Maps and Compasses in the Brain. In S. E. Hyman (Ed.), Annual Review of Neuroscience, Vol 39 (Vol. 39, pp. 171-196). <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-070815-013831</u>
- Fisher, Y. E., Silies, M., & Clandinin, T. R. (2015). Orientation Selectivity Sharpens Motion Detection in Drosophila. *Neuron*, *88*(2), 390-402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.033</u>
- Fujioka, E., Aihara, I., Sumiya, M., Aihara, K., & Hiryu, S. (2016). Echolocating bats use future-target information for optimal foraging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(17), 4848-4852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1515091113</u>
- Furuta, T., Bush, N. E., Yang, A. E. T., Ebara, S., Miyazaki, N., Murata, K., Hirai, D., Shibata, K., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2020). The Cellular and Mechanical Basis for Response Characteristics of Identified Primary Afferents in the Rat Vibrissal System. *Current Biology*, 30(5), 815-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.12.068</u>
- Furuta, T., Kaneko, T., & Deschenes, M. (2009). Septal Neurons in Barrel Cortex Derive Their Receptive Field Input from the Lemniscal Pathway. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(13), 4089-4095. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5393-08.2009</u>
- Furuta, T., Timofeeva, E., Nakamura, K., Okamoto-Furuta, K., Togo, M., Kaneko, T., & Deschênes, M. (2008). Inhibitory Gating of Vibrissal Inputs in the Brainstem. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(8), 1789-1797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4627-07.2008</u>
- Furuta, T., Urbain, N., Kaneko, T., & Deschenes, M. (2010). Corticofugal Control of Vibrissa-Sensitive Neurons in the Interpolaris Nucleus of the Trigeminal Complex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(5), 1832-1838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4274-09.2010</u>
- Gao, P., Ploog, B. O., & Zeigler, H. P. (2003). Whisking as a "voluntary" response: operant control of whisking parameters and effects of whisker denervation. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 20(3-4), 179-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08990220310001623031-411</u>
- Gibson, J. M., & Welker, W. I. (1983a). Quantitative Studies of Stimulus Coding in First-Order Vibrissa Afferents of Rats. 1. Receptive Field Properties and Threshold Distributions. *Somatosensory Research*, 1(1), 51-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/07367228309144540</u>

- Gibson, J. M., & Welker, W. I. (1983b). Quantitative Studies of Stimulus Coding in First-Order Vibrissa Afferents of Rats. 2. Adaptation and Coding of Stimulus Parameters. *Somatosensory Research*, *1*(2), 95-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/07367228309144543</u>
- Gold, J. I., & Shadlen, M. N. (2007). The Neural Basis of Decision Making. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30(1), 535-574. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.113038
- Goodale, M. A., & Milner, A. D. (1992). Separate visual pathways for perception and action. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *15*(1), 20-25. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(92)90344-8</u>
- Grant, G. (1993). Projection patterns of primary sensory neurons studied by transganglionic methods: Somatotopy and target-related organization. *Brain Research Bulletin*, *30*(3), 199-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(93)90245-7</u>
- Grant, R. A., Mitchinson, B., Fox, C. W., & Prescott, T. J. (2009). Active Touch Sensing in the Rat: Anticipatory and Regulatory Control of Whisker Movements During Surface Exploration. *Journal* of Neurophysiology, 101(2), 862-874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90783.2008</u>
- Gregoire, S. E., & Smith, D. E. (1975). Mouse-killing in the rat: Effects of sensory deficits on attack behaviour and stereotyped biting. *Animal Behaviour*, 23, 186-191. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(75)90064-0
- Grothe, B., Pecka, M., & McAlpine, D. (2010). Mechanisms of Sound Localization in Mammals. *Physiological Reviews*, *90*(3), 983-1012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00026.2009</u>
- Grunert, U., & Martin, P. R. (2020). Cell types and cell circuits in human and non-human primate retina. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 78, Article 100844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2020.100844
- Guić-Robles, E., Valdivieso, C., & Guajardo, G. (1989). Rats can learn a roughness discrimination using only their vibrissal system. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *31*(3), 285-289. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(89)90011-9
- Hafting, T., Fyhn, M., Molden, S., Moser, M. B., & Moser, E. I. (2005). Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. *Nature*, *436*(7052), 801-806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03721</u>
- Haidarliu, S., Simony, E., Golomb, D., & Ahissar, E. (2010). Muscle Architecture in the Mystacial Pad of the Rat. Anatomical Record-Advances in Integrative Anatomy and Evolutionary Biology, 293(7), 1192-1206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.21156</u>
- Haldane, J. (1929). The origin of life. Ration Ann 148: 3–10. In.
- Hartmann, M. J. (2001). Active sensing capabilities of the rat whisker system. *Autonomous Robots*, *11*(3), 249-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1012439023425</u>
- Harvey, M. A., Bermejo, R., & Zeigler, H. P. (2001). Discriminative whisking in the head-fixed rat: optoelectronic monitoring during tactile detection and discrimination tasks. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 18(3), 211-222. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000170907600004
- Hayashi, H. (1980). Distributions of vibrissae afferent fiber collaterals in the trigeminal nuclei as revealed by intra-axonal injection of horseradish peroxidase. *Brain Research*, 183(2), 442-446. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(80)90478-3</u>
- Hayden, B. Y., Pearson, J. M., & Platt, M. L. (2011). Neuronal basis of sequential foraging decisions in a patchy environment. *Nature Neuroscience*, *14*(7), 933-U165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2856</u>
- He, J., & Deem, M. W. (2010). Hierarchical evolution of animal body plans. *Developmental Biology*, 337(1), 157-161. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.09.038</u>

- Hentschke, H., Haiss, F., & Schwarz, C. (2006). Central signals rapidly switch tactile processing in rat barrel cortex during whisker movements. *Cerebral Cortex*, 16(8), 1142-1156. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhj056
- Hill, D. N., Bermejo, R., Zeigler, H. P., & Kleinfeld, D. (2008). Biomechanics of the vibrissa motor plant in rat: Rhythmic whisking consists of triphasic neuromuscular activity. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(13), 3438-3455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5008-07.2008</u>
- Hilliard, M. A., Bargmann, C. I., & Bazzicalupo, P. (2002). C-elegans responds to chemical repellents by integrating sensory inputs from the head and the tail. *Current Biology*, 12(9), 730-734, Article Pii s0960-9822(02)00813-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(02)00813-8</u>
- Hires, S. A., Gutnisky, D. A., Yu, J. N., O'Connor, D. H., & Svoboda, K. (2015). Low-noise encoding of active touch by layer 4 in the somatosensory cortex. *Elife*, 4, Article e06619. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.06619</u>
- Hires, S. A., Schuyler, A., Sy, J., Huang, V., Wyche, I., Wang, X. Y., & Golomb, D. (2016). Beyond cones: an improved model of whisker bending based on measured mechanics and tapering. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 116(2), 812-824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00511.2015</u>
- Hobbs, J. A., Towal, R. B., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2016). Spatiotemporal Patterns of Contact Across the Rat Vibrissal Array During Exploratory Behavior. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9, Article 356. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00356</u>
- Hong, Y. K., Lacefield, C. O., Rodgers, C. C., & Bruno, R. M. (2018). Sensation, movement and learning in the absence of barrel cortex. *Nature*, 561(7724), 542-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0527-y</u>
- Horev, G., Saig, A., Knutsen, P. M., Pietr, M., Yu, C. X., & Ahissar, E. (2011). Motor-sensory convergence in object localization: a comparative study in rats and humans. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal* Society *B-Biological* Sciences, 366(1581), 3070-3076. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0157
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1963). Shape and arrangement of columns in cat's striate cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 165(3), 559-568. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1963.sp007079
- Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1977). Ferrier lecture Functional architecture of macaque monkey visual cortex. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences*, 198(1130), 1-59. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rspb.1977.0085</u>
- Huet, L. A., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2014). The search space of the rat during whisking behavior. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(18), 3365-3376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.105338</u>
- Huet, L. A., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2016). Simulations of a Vibrissa Slipping along a Straight Edge and an Analysis of Frictional Effects during Whisking. *Ieee Transactions on Haptics*, 9(2), 158-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/toh.2016.2522432</u>
- Hutson, K. A., & Masterton, R. B. (1986). The sensory contribution of a single vibrissa's cortical barrel. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 56(4), 1196-1223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1986.56.4.1196</u>
- Isett, B. R., & Feldman, D. E. (2020). Cortical Coding of Whisking Phase during Surface Whisking. *Current Biology*, 30(16), 3065-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.05.064</u>
- Jacoby, J., & Schwartz, G. W. (2017). Three Small-Receptive-Field Ganglion Cells in the Mouse Retina Are Distinctly Tuned to Size, Speed, and Object Motion. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(3), 610-625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2804-16.2017</u>

- Jacquin, M. F., Arends, J. J. A., Renehan, W. E., Waite, P. M. E., & Shortland, P. J. (2015). Whiskerrelated circuitry in the trigeminal nucleus principalis: Topographic precision. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 32(1), 8-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/08990220.2014.937414</u>
- Jacquin, M. F., Arends, J. J. A., Xiang, C. X., Shapiro, L. A., Ribak, C. E., & Chen, Z. F. (2008). In DRG11 knock-out mice, trigeminal cell death is extensive and does not account for failed brainstem patterning. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(14), 3577-3585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4203-07.2008</u>
- Jacquin, M. F., Barcia, M., & Rhoades, R. W. (1989). Structure-function relationships in rat brainstem subnucleus interpolaris: IV. Projection neurons. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 282(1), 45-62. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902820105</u>
- Jacquin, M. F., Chiaia, N. L., Haring, J. H., & Rhoades, R. W. (1990). Intersubnuclear Connections within the Rat Trigeminal Brainstem Complex. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 7(4), 399-420. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/08990229009144716</u>
- Jacquin, M. F., Wiegand, M. R., & Renehan, W. E. (1990). Structure-function relationships in rat brain stem subnucleus interpolaris. VIII. Cortical inputs. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 64(1), 3-27. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1990.64.1.3
- Jacquin, M. F., & Zeigler, H. P. (1983). Trigeminal orosensation and ingestive behavior in the rat. *Behav Neurosci*, 97(1), 62-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0735-7044.97.1.62</u>
- Jensen, K., & Killackey, H. (1987). Terminal arbors of axons projecting to the somatosensory cortex of the adult rat. I. The normal morphology of specific thalamocortical afferents. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 7(11), 3529-3543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.07-11-03529.1987</u>
- Jin, T. E., Witzemann, V., & Brecht, M. (2004). Fiber types of the intrinsic whisker muscle and whisking behavior. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(13), 3386-3393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5151-03.2004</u>
- Johnson, K. O. (2001). The roles and functions of cutaneous mechanoreceptors. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *11*(4), 455-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-4388(00)00234-8</u>
- Kaas, J. H. (1997). Topographic maps are fundamental to sensory processing. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 44(2), 107-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0361-9230(97)00094-4</u>
- Kepecs, A., Uchida, N., Zariwala, H. A., & Mainen, Z. F. (2008). Neural correlates, computation and behavioural impact of decision confidence. *Nature*, 455(7210), 227-U255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07200</u>
- Kerr, F. W. L., & Lysak, W. R. (1964). Somatotopic Organization of Trigeminal-Ganglion Neurones. *Archives of Neurology*, *11*(6), 593-602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1964.00460240025003</u>
- Keynes, R. J., & Stern, C. D. (1984). Segmentation in the vertebrate nervous system. *Nature*, *310*(5980), 786-789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/310786a0</u>
- Khatri, V., Bermejo, R., Brumberg, J. C., Keller, A., & Zeigler, H. P. (2009). Whisking in Air: Encoding of Kinematics by Trigeminal Ganglion Neurons in Awake Rats. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101(4), 1836-1846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90655.2008</u>
- Kier, W. M., & Smith, K. K. (2008). Tongues, tentacles and trunks: the biomechanics of movement in muscular-hydrostats. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 83(4), 307-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1985.tb01178.x</u>

- Killackey, H. P., & Fleming, K. (1985). The role of the principal sensory nucleus in central trigeminal pattern formation. *Developmental Brain Research*, 22(1), 141-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(85)90077-X</u>
- Killackey, H. P., Koralek, K.-A., Chiaia, N. L., & Rhoades, R. W. (1989). Laminar and areal differences in the origin of the subcortical projection neurons of the rat somatosensory cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 282(3), 428-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902820309</u>
- Kim, J., Erskine, A., Cheung, J. A., & Hires, S. A. (2020). Behavioral and Neural Bases of Tactile Shape Discrimination Learning in Head-Fixed Mice. Neuron, 108(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2020.09.012</u>
- Kim, U., & Ebner, F. F. (1999). Barrels and septa: Separate circuits in rat barrel field cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 408(4), 489-505. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000080076400004
- Kinnischtzke, A. K., Simons, D. J., & Fanselow, E. E. (2014). Motor Cortex Broadly Engages Excitatory and Inhibitory Neurons in Somatosensory Barrel Cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(8), 2237-2248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht085</u>
- Kleinfeld, D., Ahissar, E., & Diamond, M. E. (2006). Active sensation: insights from the rodent vibrissa sensorimotor system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 16(4), 435-444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2006.06.009</u>
- Kleinfeld, D., Deschenes, M., Wang, F., & Moore, J. D. (2014). More than a rhythm of life: breathing as a binder of orofacial sensation. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(5), 647-651. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3693
- Knudsen, E. I., & Konishi, M. (1979). Mechanisms of sound localization in the barn owl (Tyto alba). *Journal of comparative physiology*, *133*(1), 13-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00663106</u>
- Knutsen, P. M., Biess, A., & Ahissar, E. (2008). Vibrissal kinematics in 3D: Tight coupling of azimuth, elevation, and torsion across different whisking modes. *Neuron*, 59(1), 35-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.05.013</u>
- Knutsen, P. M., Derdikman, D., & Ahissar, E. (2005). Tracking whisker and head movements in unrestrained behaving rodents. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 93(4), 2294-2301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00718.2004</u>
- Knutsen, P. M., Pietr, M., & Ahissar, E. (2006). Haptic object localization in the vibrissal system: Behavior and performance. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(33), 8451-8464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1516-06.2006</u>
- Ko, H. K., Poletti, M., & Rucci, M. (2010). Microsaccades precisely relocate gaze in a high visual acuity task. *Nature Neuroscience*, *13*(12), 1549-U1142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2663</u>
- Konishi, M. (1973). How the Owl Tracks Its Prey: Experiments with trained barn owls reveal how their acute sense of hearing enables them to catch prey in the dark. *American Scientist*, 61(4), 414-424. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/27843880</u>
- Kouh, M., & Poggio, T. (2008). A canonical neural circuit for cortical nonlinear operations. *Neural Computation*, 20(6), 1427-1451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/neco.2008.02-07-466</u>
- Kremkow, J., Jin, J. Z., Wang, Y. S., & Alonso, J. M. (2016). Principles underlying sensory map topography in primary visual cortex. *Nature*, *533*(7601), 52-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17936</u>
- Krogh's principle for a new era. (2003). *Nature Genetics*, 34(4), 345-346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0803-345</u>
- Krogh, A. (1929). The progress of physiology. *Science*, 70, 200-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.70.1809.200</u>
- Krubitzer, L. (2007). The magnificent compromise: Cortical field evolution in mammals. *Neuron*, *56*(2), 201-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.10.002</u>
- Krupa, D. J., Matell, M. S., Brisben, A. J., Oliveira, L. M., & Nicolelis, M. A. L. (2001). Behavioral properties of the trigeminal somatosensory system in rats performing whisker-dependent tactile discriminations. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(15), 5752-5763. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000170108900041
- Kumikova, A., Moore, J. D., Liao, S. M., Deschenes, M., & Kleinfeld, D. (2017). Coordination of Orofacial Motor Actions into Exploratory Behavior by Rat. *Current Biology*, 27(5), 688-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.01.013</u>
- Land, M. F. (1973). Head Movement of Flies during Visually Guided Flight. *Nature*, 243(5405), 299-300. https://doi.org/10.1038/243299a0
- Laurens, J., & Angelaki, D. E. (2019). A model-based reassessment of the three-dimensional tuning of head direction cells in rats. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *122*(3), 1274-1287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00136.2019</u>
- Lederman, S. J., & Klatzky, R. L. (1987). Hand movements: A window into haptic object recognition. *Cognitive Psychology*, *19*(3), 342-368. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(87)90008-9</u>
- Lefort, S., Tomm, C., Sarria, J. C. F., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2009). The Excitatory Neuronal Network of the C2 Barrel Column in Mouse Primary Somatosensory Cortex. *Neuron*, *61*(2), 301-316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.12.020
- Leiser, S. C., & Moxon, K. A. (2007). Responses of trigeminal ganglion neurons during natural whisking behaviors in the awake rat. *Neuron*, *53*(1), 117-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.036</u>
- LeVay, S., Hubel, D. H., & Wiesel, T. N. (1975). The pattern of ocular dominance columns in macaque visual cortex revealed by a reduced silver stain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 159(4), 559-575. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901590408</u>
- Li, Y. Q., Takada, M., Kaneko, T., & Mizuno, N. (1997). Distribution of GABAergic and glycinergic premotor neurons projecting to the facial and hypoglossal nuclei in the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 378(2), 283-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19970210)378:2</u><283::Aid-cne10>3.0.Co;2-t
- Lichtenstein, S. H., Carvell, G. E., & Simons, D. J. (1990). Responses of Rat Trigeminal Ganglion Neurons to Movements of Vibrissae in Different Directions. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 7(1), 47-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/08990229009144697</u>
- Liddell, E. G. T., & Sherrington, C. S. (1924). Reflexes in response to stretch (myotatic reflexes). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character, 96(675), 212-242. https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rspb.1924.0023
- Liu, A. N., Papale, A. E., Hengenius, J., Patel, K., Ermentrout, B., & Urban, N. N. (2020). Mouse Navigation Strategies for Odor Source Localization. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *14*, Article 218. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00218</u>
- Long, J. A., & Gordon, M. S. (2004). The greatest step in vertebrate history: A paleobiological review of the fish-tetrapod transition. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 77(5), 700-719. https://doi.org/10.1086/425183

- Lu, J., Zhu, M., Long, J. A., Zhao, W. J., Senden, T. J., Jia, L. T., & Qiao, T. (2012). The earliest known stem-tetrapod from the Lower Devonian of China. *Nature Communications*, *3*, Article 1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2170</u>
- Ludvig, N., Tang, H. M., Gohil, B. C., & Botero, J. M. (2004). Detecting location-specific neuronal firing rate increases in the hippocampus of freely-moving monkeys. *Brain Research*, *1014*(1-2), 97-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2004.03.071
- Ma, P. M., & Woolsey, T. A. (1984). Cytoarchitectonic correlates of the vibrissae in the medullary trigeminal complex of the mouse. *Brain Research*, *306*(1), 374-379. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(84)90390-1</u>
- Ma, Y., Geethakumari, P. R., Smaragdos, G., Lindeman, S., Romano, V., Negrello, M., Sourdis, I., Bosman, L. W. J., Zeeuw, C. I. D., Al-Ars, Z., & Strydis, C. (2017, 17-20 July 2017). Towards realtime whisker tracking in rodents for studying sensorimotor disorders. 2017 International Conference on Embedded Computer Systems: Architectures, Modeling, and Simulation (SAMOS),
- Maclver, M. A., Schmitz, L., Mugan, U., Murphey, T. D., & Mobley, C. D. (2017). Massive increase in visual range preceded the origin of terrestrial vertebrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 114(12), E2375-E2384. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1615563114
- Mathis, A., Mamidanna, P., Cury, K. M., Abe, T., Murthy, V. N., Mathis, M. W., & Bethge, M. (2018). DeepLabCut: markerless pose estimation of user-defined body parts with deep learning. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(9), 1281-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0209-v</u>
- Matthews, D. W., Deschenes, M., Furuta, T., Moore, J. D., Wang, F., Karten, H. J., & Kleinfeld, D. (2015). Feedback in the Brainstem: An Excitatory Disynaptic Pathway for Control of Whisking. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 523(6), 921-942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23724</u>
- Matyas, F., Sreenivasan, V., Marbach, F., Wacongne, C., Barsy, B., Mateo, C., Aronoff, R., & Petersen, C. C. H. (2010). Motor Control by Sensory Cortex. *Science*, 330(6008), 1240-1243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1195797</u>
- McGlone, F., & Reilly, D. (2010). The cutaneous sensory system. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(2), 148-159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.08.004</u>
- Meer, M. A. A. v. d., Knierim, J. J., Yoganarasimha, D., Wood, E. R., & Rossum, M. C. W. v. (2007). Anticipation in the Rodent Head Direction System Can Be Explained by an Interaction of Head Movements and Vestibular Firing Properties. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *98*(4), 1883-1897. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00233.2007</u>
- Mehta, S. B., Whitmer, D., Figueroa, R., Williams, B. A., & Kleinfeld, D. (2007). Active spatial perception in the vibrissa scanning sensorimotor system. *Plos Biology*, 5(2), 309-322, Article e15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050015</u>
- Meyer, A., Schloissnig, S., Franchini, P., Du, K., Woltering, J. M., Irisarri, I., Wong, W. Y., Nowoshilow, S., Kneitz, S., Kawaguchi, A., Fabrizius, A., Xiong, P. W., Dechaud, C., Spaink, H. P., Volff, J. N., Simakov, O., Burmester, T., Tanaka, E. M., & Schartl, M. (2021). Giant lungfish genome elucidates the conquest of land by vertebrates. *Nature*, *590*(7845). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03198-8</u>
- Meyer, H. S., Egger, R., Guest, J. M., Foerster, R., Reissl, S., & Oberlaender, M. (2013). Cellular organization of cortical barrel columns is whisker-specific. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 110(47), 19113-19118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1312691110</u>

- Milner, A. D., & Goodale, M. A. (2008). Two visual systems re-viewed. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(3), 774-785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.10.005
- Minnery, B. S., Bruno, R. M., & Simons, D. J. (2003). Response transformation and receptive-field synthesis in the lemniscal trigeminothalamic circuit. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 90(3), 1556-1570. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00111.2003
- Mitchinson, B., Grant, R. A., Arkley, K., Rankov, V., Perkon, I., & Prescott, T. J. (2011). Active vibrissal sensing in rodents and marsupials. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 366(1581), 3037-3048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0156</u>
- Mitchinson, B., Martin, C. J., Grant, R. A., & Prescott, T. J. (2007). Feedback control in active sensing: rat exploratory whisking is modulated by environmental contact. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 274(1613), 1035-1041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.0347</u>
- Mombaerts, P. (2004). Odorant receptor gene choice in olfactory sensory neurons: the one receptor-one neuron hypothesis revisited. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 14(1), 31-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2004.01.014
- Mombaerts, P., Wang, F., Dulac, C., Chao, S. K., Nemes, A., Mendelsohn, M., Edmondson, J., & Axel, R. (1996). Visualizing an olfactory sensory map. *Cell*, *87*(4), 675-686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81387-2</u>
- Monteiro, C., Cardoso-Cruz, H., Matos, M., Dourado, M., Lima, D., & Galhardo, V. (2016). Increased fronto-hippocampal connectivity in the Prrxl1 knockout mouse model of congenital hypoalgesia. *Pain*, 157(9), 2045-2056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000611</u>
- Monteiro, C., Dourado, M., Matos, M., Duarte, I., Lamas, S., Galhardo, V., & Lima, D. (2014). Critical care and survival of fragile animals: The case of Prrxl1 knockout mice. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 158, 86-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.06.007</u>
- Moore, J. D., Deschenes, M., Furuta, T., Huber, D., Smear, M. C., Demers, M., & Kleinfeld, D. (2013). Hierarchy of orofacial rhythms revealed through whisking and breathing. *Nature*, *497*(7448), 205-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12076</u>
- Moore, J. D., Lindsay, N. M., Deschenes, M., & Kleinfeld, D. (2015). Vibrissa Self-Motion and Touch Are Reliably Encoded along the Same Somatosensory Pathway from Brainstem through Thalamus. *Plos Biology*, 13(9), Article e1002253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002253</u>
- Muchlinski, M. N. (2010). A comparative analysis of vibrissa count and infraorbital foramen area in primates and other mammals. *Journal of Human Evolution*, *58*(6), 447-473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2010.01.012</u>
- Mugan, U., & Maclver, M. A. (2020). Spatial planning with long visual range benefits escape from visual predators in complex naturalistic environments. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 3057. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16102-1
- Munz, M., Brecht, M., & Wolfe, J. (2010). Active touch during shrew prey capture. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *4*, Article 191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2010.00191</u>
- Murphy, R. A., Mondragon, E., & Murphy, V. A. (2008). Rule learning by rats. *Science*, *319*(5871), 1849-1851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151564</u>
- Nagayama, S., Homma, R., & Imamura, F. (2014). Neuronal organization of olfactory bulb circuits. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 8, Article 98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00098</u>

- Najafian, S., Jin, J. Z., & Alonso, J. M. (2019). Diversity of Ocular Dominance Patterns in Visual Cortex Originates from Variations in Local Cortical Retinotopy. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(46), 9145-9163. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1151-19.2019
- Neimark, M. A., Andermann, M. L., Hopfield, J. J., & Moore, C. I. (2003). Vibrissa resonance as a transduction mechanism for tactile encoding. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(16), 6499-6509. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000184323900013
- Nelson, M. E., & MacIver, M. A. (2006). Sensory acquisition in active sensing systems. Journal of Comparative Physiology a-Neuroethology Sensory Neural and Behavioral Physiology, 192(6), 573-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00359-006-0099-4</u>
- O'Keefe, J., & Dostrovsky, J. (1971). The hippocampus as a spatial map: Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. *Brain Research*, *34*, 171-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(71)90358-1</u>
- Ohki, K., Chung, S. Y., Kara, P., Hubener, M., Bonhoeffer, T., & Reid, R. C. (2006). Highly ordered arrangement of single neurons in orientation pinwheels. *Nature*, 442(7105), 925-928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05019</u>
- Orban, G. A., Lagae, L., Verri, A., Raiguel, S., Xiao, D., Maes, H., & Torre, V. (1992). First-order analysis of optical flow in monkey brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(7), 2595-2599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.7.2595</u>
- Orger, M. B., Kampff, A. R., Severi, K. E., Bollmann, J. H., & Engert, F. (2008). Control of visually guided behavior by distinct populations of spinal projection neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, *11*(3), 327-333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn2048</u>
- Pammer, L., O'Connor, D. H., Hires, S. A., Clack, N. G., Huber, D., Myers, E. W., & Svoboda, K. (2013). The Mechanical Variables Underlying Object Localization along the Axis of the Whisker. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 33(16), 6726-6741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4316-12.2013</u>
- Patrizi, G., & Munger, B. L. (1966). The ultrastructure and innervation of rat vibrissae. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 126(3), 423-435. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901260305</u>
- Paulk, A., Millard, S. S., & van Swinderen, B. (2013). Vision in Drosophila: Seeing the World Through a Model's Eyes. In M. R. Berenbaum (Ed.), *Annual Review of Entomology, Vol 58* (Vol. 58, pp. 313-332). <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153715</u>
- Penfield, W., & Boldrey, E. (1937). Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. *Brain*, *60*(4), 389-443.
- Pereira, T. D., Shaevitz, J. W., & Murthy, M. (2020). Quantifying behavior to understand the brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, 23(12), 1537-1549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-00734-z</u>
- Perkon, I., Kosir, A., Itskov, P. M., Tasic, J., & Diamond, M. E. (2011). Unsupervised quantification of whisking and head movement in freely moving rodents. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 105(4), 1950-1962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00764.2010</u>
- Petersen, C. C. H. (2019). Sensorimotor processing in the rodent barrel cortex. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 20(9), 533-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0200-y</u>
- Petersen, R. S., Rodriguez, A. C., Evans, M. H., Campagner, D., & Loft, M. S. E. (2020). A system for tracking whisker kinematics and whisker shape in three dimensions. *Plos Computational Biology*, *16*(1), Article e1007402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007402.r001</u>; 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007402.r001; 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007402.r002; 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007402.r003; 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007402.r004

- Pierret, T., Lavallee, P., & Deschenes, M. (2000). Parallel streams for the relay of vibrissal information through thalamic barreloids. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(19), 7455-7462. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-19-07455.2000
- Poggio, T., & Reichardt, W. (1976). Visual control of orientation behaviour in the fly: Part II. Towards the underlying neural interactions. *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics*, *9*(3), 377-438. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583500002535
- Polley, D. B., Rickert, J. L., & Frostig, R. D. (2005). Whisker-based discrimination of object orientation determined with a rapid training paradigm. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 83(2), 134-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2004.10.005</u>
- Porter, J., Craven, B., Khan, R. M., Chang, S. J., Kang, I., Judkewitz, B., Volpe, J., Settles, G., & Sobel, N. (2007). Mechanisms of scent-tracking in humans. *Nature Neuroscience*, 10(1), 27-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1819</u>
- Porter, L. L., & White, E. L. (1983). Afferent and efferent pathways of the vibrissal region of primary motor cortex in the mouse. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 214(3), 279-289. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902140306
- Possidente, B., & Birnbaum, S. (1979). Circadian rhythms for food and water consumption in the mouse, Mus musculus. *Physiology & Behavior*, 22(4), 657-660. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(79)90226-9
- Prescott, T. J., Diamond, M. E., & Wing, A. M. (2011). Active touch sensing Introduction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 366(1581), 2989-2995. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0167
- Prigg, T., Goldreich, D., Carvell, G. E., & Simons, D. J. (2002). Texture discrimination and unit recordings in the rat whisker/barrel system. *Physiology & Behavior*, 77(4), 671-675. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(02)00917-4
- Ramon y Cajal, S., & Azoulay, L. (1955). Histologie du système nerveux de l'homme et des vertébrés. In *Histologie du Système Nerveux de l'Homme et des Vertébrés* (pp. 2v-2v).
- Raudies, F., Brandon, M. P., Chapman, G. W., & Hasselmo, M. E. (2015). Head direction is coded more strongly than movement direction in a population of entorhinal neurons. *Brain Research*, 1621, 355-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.053</u>
- Rebelo, S., Reguenga, C., Osorio, L., Pereira, C., Lopes, C., & Lima, D. (2007). DRG11 immunohistochemical expression during embryonic development in the mouse. *Developmental Dynamics*, 236(9), 2653-2660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.21271</u>
- Rice, F. L., Kinnman, E., Aldskogius, H., Johansson, O., & Arvidsson, J. (1993). The innervation of the mystacial pad of the rat as revealed by PGP 9.5 immunofluorescence. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 337(3), 366-385. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903370303</u>
- Rice, F. L., Mance, A., & Munger, B. L. (1986). A comparative light microscopic analysis of the sensory innervation of the mystacial pad. I. Innervation of vibrissal follicle-sinus complexes. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 252(2), 154-174. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902520203</u>
- Ritt, J. T., Andermann, M. L., & Moore, C. I. (2008). Embodied information processing: Vibrissa mechanics and texture features shape micromotions in actively sensing rats. *Neuron*, 57(4), 599-613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.12.024</u>
- Rodgers, C. C., Nogueira, R., Pil, B. C., Greeman, E. A., Park, J. M., Hong, Y. K., Fusi, S., & Bruno, R. M. (2021). Sensorimotor strategies and neuronal representations for shape discrimination. *Neuron*, 109(14), 2308-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.05.019</u>

- Rogers, B., & Koenderink, J. (1986). Monocular aniseikonia: a motion parallax analogue of the disparityinduced effect. *Nature*, 322(6074), 62-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/322062a0</u>
- Romo, R., & Salinas, E. (2001). Touch and go: Decision-making mechanisms in somatosensation. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 24, 107-137. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.107
- Rosenbaum, D. A., Dawson, A. M., & Challis, J. H. (2006). Haptic tracking permits bimanual independence. *Journal of Experimental Psychology-Human Perception and Performance*, 32(5), 1266-1275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.32.5.1266</u>
- Roska, B., & Werblin, F. (2001). Vertical interactions across ten parallel, stacked representations in the mammalian retina. *Nature*, *410*(6828), 583-587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35069068</u>
- Rucci, M., Iovin, R., Poletti, M., & Santini, F. (2007). Miniature eye movements enhance fine spatial detail. *Nature*, 447(7146), 851-854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05866</u>
- Sachdev, R. N. S., Berg, R. W., Champney, G., Kleinfeld, D., & Ebner, F. F. (2003). Unilateral vibrissa contact: changes in amplitude but not timing of rhythmic whisking. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 20(2), 163-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08990220311000405208</u>
- Sakurai, K., Akiyama, M., Cai, B., Scott, A., Han, B. X., Takatoh, J., Sigrist, M., Arber, S., & Wang, F. (2013). The Organization of Submodality-Specific Touch Afferent Inputs in the Vibrissa Column. *Cell Reports*, 5(1), 87-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.08.051</u>
- Saraf-Sinik, I., Assa, E., & Ahissar, E. (2015). Motion Makes Sense: An Adaptive Motor-Sensory Strategy Underlies the Perception of Object Location in Rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(23), 8777-8789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4149-14.2015</u>
- Sargolini, F., Fyhn, M., Hafting, T., McNaughton, B. L., Witter, M. P., Moser, M. B., & Moser, E. I. (2006). Conjunctive representation of position, direction, and velocity in entorhinal cortex. *Science*, 312(5774), 758-762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1125572</u>
- Sarko, D. K., Rice, F. L., & Reep, R. L. (2011). *Mammalian tactile hair: divergence from a limited distribution* (Vol. 1225). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.05979.x
- Schiffman, H. R., Lore, R., Passafiume, J., & Neeb, R. (1970). Role of vibrissae for depth perception in the rat (Rattus norvegicus). *Animal Behaviour*, *18*, 290-292. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(70)80040-9
- Schneider, G. E. (1969). Two Visual Systems. *Science*, *163*(3870), 895-902. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.163.3870.895</u>
- Schroeder, C. E., Wilson, D. A., Radman, T., Scharfman, H., & Lakatos, P. (2010). Dynamics of Active Sensing and perceptual selection. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 20(2), 172-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2010.02.010</u>
- Schroeder, J. B., & Ritt, J. T. (2016). Selection of head and whisker coordination strategies during goaloriented active touch. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *115*(4), 1797-1809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00465.2015</u>
- Schwartz, G. W., Okawa, H., Dunn, F. A., Morgan, J. L., Kerschensteiner, D., Wong, R. O., & Rieke, F. (2012). The spatial structure of a nonlinear receptive field. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(11), 1572-1580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3225</u>
- Segawa, K., Ujike, H., Okajima, K., & Saida, S. (2012). Perception of heading speed from radial flow depends on visual field. *Optical Review*, *19*(4), 268-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10043-012-0041-7</u>

- Sellien, H., Eshenroder, D. S., & Ebner, F. F. (2005). Comparison of bilateral whisker movement in freely exploring and head-fixed adult rats. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 22(3), 97-114. https://doi.org/10.1080/08990220400015375
- Severson, K. S., Xu, D., Van de Loo, M., Bai, L., Ginty, D. D., & O'Connor, D. H. (2017). Active Touch and Self-Motion Encoding by Merkel Cell-Associated Afferents. *Neuron*, *94*(3), 666-+. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.03.045</u>
- Shinder, M. E., & Taube, J. S. (2019). Three-dimensional tuning of head direction cells in rats. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 121(1), 4-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00880.2017</u>
- Shoykhet, M., Doherty, D., & Simons, D. J. (2000). Coding of deflection velocity and amplitude by whisker primary afferent neurons: implications for higher level processing. *Somatosensory and Motor Research*, 17(2), 171-180. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000087615300006
- Shuler, M. G., Krupa, D. J., & Nicolelis, M. A. L. (2001). Bilateral integration of whisker information in the primary somatosensory cortex of rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(14), 5251-5261. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.21-14-05251.2001
- Simony, E., Bagdasarian, K., Herfst, L., Brecht, M., Ahissar, E., & Golomb, D. (2010). Temporal and Spatial Characteristics of Vibrissa Responses to Motor Commands. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(26), 8935-8952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0172-10.2010</u>
- Smith, J. B., Watson, G. D. R., Alloway, K. D., Schwarz, C., & Chakrabarti, S. (2015). Corticofugal projection patterns of whisker sensorimotor cortex to the sensory trigeminal nuclei. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 9, Article 53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2015.00053</u>
- Sofroniew, N. J., Cohen, J. D., Lee, A. K., & Svoboda, K. (2014). Natural Whisker-Guided Behavior by Head-Fixed Mice in Tactile Virtual Reality. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(29), 9537-9550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0712-14.2014</u>
- Solstad, T., Boccara, C. N., Kropff, E., Moser, M. B., & Moser, E. I. (2008). Representation of Geometric Borders in the Entorhinal Cortex. *Science*, *322*(5909), 1865-1868. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1166466
- Soucy, E. R., Albeanu, D. F., Fantana, A. L., Murthy, V. N., & Meister, M. (2009). Precision and diversity in an odor map on the olfactory bulb. *Nature Neuroscience*, *12*(2), 210-220. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2262
- Stackman, R. W., & Taube, J. S. (1998). Firing properties of rat lateral mammillary single units: Head direction, head pitch, and angular head velocity. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(21), 9020-9037. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000076616600045
- Stephens, D. W. B. J. S. Y. R. C. (2007). Foraging : behavior and ecology. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10271869
- Szwed, M., Bagdasarian, K., Blumenfeld, B., Barak, O., Derdikman, D., & Ahissar, E. (2006). Responses of trigeminal ganglion neurons to the radial distance of contact during active vibrissal touch. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 95(2), 791-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00571.2005</u>
- Taube, J., Muller, R., & Ranck, J. (1990). Head-direction cells recorded from the postsubiculum in freely moving rats. I. Description and quantitative analysis. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *10*(2), 420-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.10-02-00420.1990</u>
- Taube, J. S. (2007). The head direction signal: Origins and sensory-motor integration. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *30*, 181-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112854</u>

- Taube, J. S., & Shinder, M. E. (2020). On the absence or presence of 3D tuned head direction cells in rats: a review and rebuttal. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *123*(5), 1808-1827. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00475.2019
- Thesen, A., Steen, J. B., & Doving, K. B. (1993). Behaviour of dogs during olfactory tracking. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *180*(1), 247-251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.180.1.247</u>
- Thompson, D., & Fedak, M. A. (2001). How long should a dive last? A simple model of foraging decisions by breath-hold divers in a patchy environment. *Animal Behaviour*, *61*(2), 287-296. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2000.1539
- Thorpe, S., Fize, D., & Marlot, C. (1996). Speed of processing in the human visual system. *Nature*, 381(6582), 520-522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/381520a0</u>
- Timofeeva, E., Dufresne, C., Sik, A., Zhang, Z. W., & Deschenes, M. (2005). Cholinergic modulation of vibrissal receptive fields in trigeminal nuclei. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(40), 9135-9143. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3073-05.2005
- Timofeeva, E., Lavallee, P., Arsenault, D., & Deschenes, M. (2004). Synthesis of multiwhisker-receptive fields in subcortical stations of the vibrissa system. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 91(4), 1510-1515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01109.2003</u>
- Timofeeva, E., Merette, C., Emond, C., Lavallee, P., & Deschenes, M. (2003). A map of angular tuning preference in thalamic barreloids. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(33), 10717-10723. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000186680700028
- Tirard, S. (2010). Origin of Life and Definition of Life, from Buffon to Oparin. *Origins of Life and Evolution of Biospheres*, 40(2), 215-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11084-010-9202-5</u>
- Tirard, S. (2017). J. B. S. Haldane and the origin of life. *Journal of Genetics*, 96(5), 735-739. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-017-0831-6
- Tolman, E. C. (1948). Cognitive maps in rats and men. *Psychological Review*, 55(4), 189-208. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0061626
- Torvik, A. (1956). Afferent connections to the sensory trigeminal nuclei, the nucleus of the solitary tract and adjacent structures. An experimental study in the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *106*(1), 51-141. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901060104</u>
- Towal, R. B., & Hartmann, M. J. (2006). Right-left asymmetries in the whisking behavior of rats anticipate head movements. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(34), 8838-8846. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0581-06.2006
- Towal, R. B., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2008). Variability in Velocity Profiles During Free-Air Whisking Behavior of Unrestrained Rats. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 100(2), 740-752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01295.2007</u>
- Towal, R. B., Quist, B. W., Gopal, V., Solomon, J. H., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2011). The Morphology of the Rat Vibrissal Array: A Model for Quantifying Spatiotemporal Patterns of Whisker-Object Contact. *Plos Computational Biology*, 7(4), Article e1001120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1001120</u>
- Towal, R. B., Quist, B. W., Solomon, J. H., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2012). Active sensing: head and vibrissal velocity during exploratory behaviors of the rat. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000301510700014
- Tramper, J. J., & Flanders, M. (2013). Predictive mechanisms in the control of contour following. *Experimental Brain Research*, 227(4), 535-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-013-3529-x</u>

- Troemel, E. R. (1999). Chemosensory signaling in C-elegans. *Bioessays*, *21*(12), 1011-1020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1521-1878(199912)22:1</u><1011::Aid-bies5>3.0.Co;2-v
- Tusa, R. J., Palmer, L. A., & Rosenquist, A. C. (1978). The retinotopic organization of area 17 (striate cortex) in the cat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 177(2), 213-235. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901770204
- Van Der Loos, H. (1976). Barreloids in mouse somatosensory thalamus. *Neuroscience Letters*, 2(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(76)90036-7
- Veinante, P., & Deschênes, M. (1999). Single- and Multi-Whisker Channels in the Ascending Projections from the Principal Trigeminal Nucleus in the Rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(12), 5085-5095. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.19-12-05085.1999</u>
- Vincent, S. B. (1912). The function of the vibrissae in the behavior of the white rat Holt]. /z-wcorg/. Cambridge [Mass.
- Vogelstein, J. T., Park, Y., Ohyama, T., Kerr, R. A., Truman, J. W., Priebe, C. E., & Zlatic, M. (2014). Discovery of Brainwide Neural-Behavioral Maps via Multiscale Unsupervised Structure Learning. *Science*, 344(6182), 386-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1250298</u>
- Voigts, J., Sakmann, B., & Celikel, T. (2008). Unsupervised whisker tracking in unrestrained behaving animals. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *100*(1), 504-515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00012.2008</u>
- Von Heimendahl, M., Itskov, P. M., Arabzadeh, E., & Diamond, M. E. (2007). Neuronal activity in rat barrel cortex underlying texture discrimination. *Plos Biology*, 5(11), 2696-2708, Article e305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050305</u>
- Waite, P. M. E., & Jacquin, M. F. (1992). Dual innervation of the rat vibrissa: Responses of trigeminal ganglion cells projecting through deep or superficial nerves. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 322(2), 233-245. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903220209</u>
- Wallace, D. J., Greenberg, D. S., Sawinski, J., Rulla, S., Notaro, G., & Kerr, J. N. D. (2013). Rats maintain an overhead binocular field at the expense of constant fusion. *Nature*, 498(7452), 65-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12153</u>
- Wallach, A., Deutsch, D., Oram, T. B., & Ahissar, E. (2020). Predictive whisker kinematics reveal contextdependent sensorimotor strategies. Plos 18(5), Article e3000571. Biology, 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r001; https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571; 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r002; 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r003; 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r004; 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r005; 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000571.r006
- Wang, C. Z., Shi, M., Yang, L. L., Yang, R. Q., Luo, Z. G., Jacquin, M. F., Chen, Z. F., & Ding, Y. Q. (2007). Development of the mesencephalic trigeminal nucleus requires a paired homeodomain transcription factor, Drg11. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 35(2), 368-376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2007.03.011
- Warren, W. H., Morris, M. W., & Kalish, M. (1988). Perception of translational heading from optical flow. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 14(4), 646-660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.14.4.646</u>
- Wassle, H., Puller, C., Muller, F., & Haverkamp, S. (2009). Cone Contacts, Mosaics, and Territories of Bipolar Cells in the Mouse Retina. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(1), 106-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4442-08.2009</u>

- Welker, E., Hoogland, P. V., & Van der Loos, H. (1988). Organization of feedback and feedforward projections of the barrel cortex: a PHA-L study in the mouse. *Experimental Brain Research*, 73(2), 411-435. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00248234
- Welker, W. I. (1964). Analysis of Sniffing of the Albino Rat 1). *Behaviour*, 22(3-4), 223-244. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1163/156853964X00030
- Whishaw, I. Q., Schallert, T., & Kolb, B. (1981). An analysis of feeding and sensorimotor abilities of rats after decortication [Article]. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, 95(1), 85-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0077760</u>
- White, E. L., & DeAmicis, R. A. (1977). Afferent and efferent projections of the region in mouse sml cortex which contains the posteromedial barrel subfield. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 175(4), 455-481. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901750405</u>
- Wiegert, J. S., Mahn, M., Prigge, M., Printz, Y., & Yizhar, O. (2017). Silencing Neurons: Tools, Applications, and Experimental Constraints. *Neuron*, *95*(3), 504-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.06.050</u>
- Wiltschko, A. B., Johnson, M. J., Iurilli, G., Peterson, R. E., Katon, J. M., Pashkovski, S. L., Abraira, V. E., Adams, R. P., & Datta, S. R. (2015). Mapping Sub-Second Structure in Mouse Behavior. *Neuron*, 88(6), 1121-1135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.031</u>
- Wise, S. P., & Jones, E. G. (1977). Cells of origin and terminal distribution of descending projections of the rat somatic sensory cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 175(2), 129-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901750202</u>
- Wolfe, J., Hill, D. N., Pahlavan, S., Drew, P. J., Kleinfeld, D., & Feldman, D. E. (2008). Texture coding in the rat whisker system: Slip-stick versus differential resonance. *Plos Biology*, 6(8), 1661-1677, Article e215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060215</u>
- Wolos, A., Roszak, R., Zadlo-Dobrowolska, A., Beker, W., Mikulak-Klucznik, B., Spolnik, G., Dygas, M., Szymkuc, S., & Grzybowski, B. A. (2020). Synthetic connectivity, emergence, and selfregeneration in the network of prebiotic chemistry. *Science*, *369*(6511), 1584-+, Article eaaw1955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw1955</u>
- Woolsey, T. A., & Van der Loos, H. (1970). The structural organization of layer IV in the somatosensory region (S I) of mouse cerebral cortex: The description of a cortical field composed of discrete cytoarchitectonic units. Brain Research, 17(2), 205-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(70)90079-X
- Woolsey, T. A., Welker, C., & Schwartz, R. H. (1975). Comparative anatomical studies of the Sml face cortex with special reference to the occurrence of "barrels" in layer IV. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 164(1), 79-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901640107</u>
- Xiang, C. X., Zhang, K. H., Yin, J., Arends, J. J. A., Erzurumlu, R. S., Jacquin, M. F., & Chen, Z. F. (2010). The transcription factor, Lmx1b, is necessary for the development of the principal trigeminal nucleus-based lemniscal pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 44(4), 394-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2010.05.005</u>
- Yamane, Y., Carlson, E. T., Bowman, K. C., Wang, Z. H., & Connor, C. E. (2008). A neural code for threedimensional object shape in macaque inferotemporal cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, *11*(11), 1352-1360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2202</u>
- Yang, A. E. T., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2016). Whisking Kinematics Enables Object Localization in Head-Centered Coordinates Based on Tactile Information from a Single Vibrissa. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 10, Article 145. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2016.00145</u>

- Yoo, S. B. M., Tu, J. C., Piantadosi, S. T., & Hayden, B. Y. (2020). The neural basis of predictive pursuit. Nature Neuroscience, 23(2), 252-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0561-6</u>
- Yu, C. X., Derdikman, D., Haidarliu, S., & Ahissar, E. (2006). Parallel thalamic pathways for whisking and touch signals in the rat. *Plos Biology*, 4(5), 819-825, Article e124. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040124
- Zeigler, H. P. (1994). Brainstem orosensorimotor mechanisms and the neural control of ingestive behaviour. *Appetite: neural and behavioural bases. New York: Oxford University Press. p*, 54-85. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198547877.003.0003
- Zeigler, H. P., Jacquin, M. F., & Miller, M. G. (1985). Trigeminal orosensation and ingestive behavior in the rat. *Prog. Psychobiol. Physiol. Psychol.*, *11*, 63-196.
- Zeigler, H. P., Semba, K., Egger, M. D., & Jacquin, M. F. (1984). TRIGEMINAL SENSORIMOTOR MECHANISMS AND EATING IN THE RAT. *Brain Research*, *308*(1), 149-154. <Go to ISI>://WOS:A1984TG79300018
- Zeigler, H. P., Semba, K., & Jacquin, M. F. (1984). Trigeminal reflexes and ingestive behavior in the rat [Article]. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *98*(6), 1023-1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.98.6.1023</u>
- Zhang, X. M., & Firestein, S. (2002). The olfactory receptor gene superfamily of the mouse. *Nature Neuroscience*, *5*(2), 124-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn800</u>
- Zoccolan, D., Oertelt, N., DiCarlo, J. J., & Cox, D. D. (2009). A rodent model for the study of invariant visual object recognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(21), 8748-8753. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811583106
- Zucker, E., & Welker, W. I. (1969). Coding of somatic sensory input by vibrissae neurons in the rat's trigeminal ganglion. *Brain Research*, *12*(1), 138-156. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(69)90061-4</u>
- Zweifel, N. O., Bush, N. E., Abraham, I., Murphey, T. D., & Hartmann, M. J. Z. (2021). A dynamical model for generating synthetic data to quantify active tactile sensing behavior in the rat. *Proceedings of the* National Academy of Sciences, 118(27), e2011905118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2011905118